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Forward-Looking Statements

For purposes of this Annual Report, the terms “@racwe,” “us” and “our” refer to Oracle Corporath and its
consolidated subsidiaries. In addition to histdrisBormation, this Annual Report on Form 10-K caims forward-looking
statements that involve risks and uncertaintiesdbald cause our actual results to differ matiridactors that might cau
or contribute to such differences include, butrastlimited to, those discussed in Item 1A. Risktbes. When used in this
report, the words “expects,” “anticipates,” “inteytiplans,” “believes,” “seeks,” “estimates” anidlar expressions are
generally intended to identify forward-looking statents. You should not place undue reliance oretfersvard-looking
statements, which reflect our opinions only ashefdate of this Annual Report. We undertake nogahibn to publicly
release any revisions to the forward-looking statets after the date of this document. You shoutdfally review the risk
factors described in other documents we file frametto time with the U.S. Securities and Exchangen@ission, includin
the Quarterly Reports on Form 10tQbe filed by us in our 2009 fiscal year, whicimgidrom June 1, 2008 to May 31, 20

PART |
Item 1. Business
General

We are the world’s largest enterprise software camgpWe develop, manufacture, market, distribute service database
and middleware software as well as applicationssre designed to help our customers manage andtheir business
operations.

Our goal is to offer customers scalable, reliabégure and integrated software solutions that ingtmansactional
efficiencies, adapt to an organization’s uniquedsesnd allow better ways to access and manageriafam at a lower total
cost of ownership. We seek to be an industry leadeach of the specific product categories in Wwhie compete and to
expand into new and emerging markets.

We believe our internal or organic growth and amntid innovation with respect to our core databasggleware and
applications technologies provide the foundatianofiar long-term strategic plan. In fiscal 2008, weested $2.7 billion on
research and development to enhance our existirtfplm of products and services and to develop pesducts, features
and services.

An active acquisition program is another importalement of our corporate strategy. Over the last fiscal years, we have
invested billions of dollars, including $9.4 bilfian fiscal 2008, to acquire a number of compleragntompanies, produc
services and technologies such as BEA Systemsinifiscal 2008, Hyperion Solutions Corporatiorfistal 2007, Siebel
Systems, Inc. in fiscal 2006 and PeopleSoft, Indisical 2005. We believe our acquisition programqpports our long-term
strategic direction, strengthens our competitivsitan, expands our customer base, provides greasde to accelerate
innovation, grows our revenues and earnings, atr@ases stockholder value. We expect to continaedaire companies,
products, services and technologies.

Oracle Corporation was incorporated in 2005 aslasre corporation and is the successor to op@&satoiginally begun
in June 1977.

Software and Services

We are organized into two businesses, softwaresandces, which are further divided into five ofigrg segments. Our
software business is comprised of two operatingneggs: (1) new software licenses and (2) softwiaemée updates and
product support. Our services business is compo$éduree operating segments: (1) consulting, (2)B@mand and

(3) education. Our software and services businesggssented 80% and 20% of our total revenuegectisely, in both
fiscal 2008 and 2006, and 79% and 21% of our tetanues, respectively, in fiscal 2007. See NotefI3otes to
Consolidated Financial Statements for additionfarimation related to our operating segments.
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Software Busines:

New Software License

New software licenses include the licensing of base and middleware software, which consists ofl@f@atabases ar
Oracle Fusion Middleware, as well as applicatiasféngare. Our technology and business solutiondased on an internet
model comprised of interconnected databases, apiplicservers, as well as mobile devices. Thisigecture enables users
to access business data and applications througdbdrowser interface, while providing customessitost efficient and
cost effective method of managing business infoionaand applications.

In an internet model, database servers manageratetpthe underlying business information, whipglécation servers run
the business applications that automate a myridisihess functions. We have focused on conceptsasiglobal single
instance application deployment that involve fevigh quality databases of important business mé&ion. Our
architecture provides high quality business infdioraand can be adapted to the specific needsyoinalustry or
application. Oracle technology operates on botblsiserver and clustered server configurationsckvhie refer to as “grid”
software, and supports a choice of operating systaotuding Linux, Windows and UNIX.

New software license revenues include fees eamo@a granting customers licenses to use our softywaréucts an
exclude revenues derived from software license t@sdand product support. The standard end usevaefiicense
agreement for our products provides for an infeal to use the product in perpetuity based on amar number of
processors, named users or other metrics. We alsodther types of software license agreementsatest by the number
of employees or the license term. New softwarenBeerevenues represented 34%, 33% and 34% ofeetiues in fiscal
2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

Database and Middleware Software

Our database and middleware software providestaetfextive, high-performance platform for runniagd managing
business applications for mid-size businessesange lglobal enterprises. With an increasing fogusriierprises on
reducing their total cost of information technoldgy) infrastructure, our software is designed ¢cc@nmodate demanding,
non-stop business environments, using clustemmvotbst servers and storage that can incremersigdle as required. The
ability to assign computing resources as requineglffies our customerstomputing capacity, planning and procuremet
order to support all of their business applicatioffith an Oracle grid infrastructure, our customeas lower their
investment in IT hardware, reduce their risk ofrifrastructure downtime and more easily cope wittiden increases in
demand on their IT environments during high traffesiods. New software license revenues from dambad middleware
products represented 68%, 71% and 73% of our néwase license revenues in fiscal 2008, 2007 ar@b26espectively.

Database:

As the world’s most popular database, Oracle Dagleaables the secure storage, retrieval and matiguuof all forms of
data, including business application and analytats, and unstructured data in the form of XMLdfjleffice documents,
images, video and spatial data. Designed for ensergrid computing, the Oracle Database is aviglabfour editions:
Express Edition, Standard Edition One, Standartidtdand Enterprise Edition. All editions are buifing the same
underlying code, which means that our databasevaodtcan easily scale from small, single processorers to clusters of
multi-processor servers.

Options to Oracle Database Enterprise Edition eadlable to meet specific requirements in the adgserformance and
scalability, high availability, data security anohepliance, data warehousing, unstructured datgratien and systems
management. Examples of these options include:

» Oracle Real Application Clusters, which consolidadesingle, scalable and fault tolerant databasdgishared across
interconnected clusters of serve

» Oracle Partitioning, which breaks down large tratisa processing and business intelligence datatades into
smaller segments for faster query performance asttemanagement of data throughout its lifecy




Table of Contents

» Oracle Warehouse Builder Enterprise and Data Qualgtions, which help customers design, build anputate data
warehouses with reliable, quality information frenvariety of legacy repositories; a

» Oracle In-Memory Database Cache, a new optionitinatoves application performance by caching oristpr
performance critical parts of Oracle Database értfain memory of the application ti

In addition to the four editions of Oracle Datahd3eacle also offers a selection of specialize@liases:

» Oracle TimesTen In-Memory Database, which is a mgroptimized relational database that delivers lownay anc
high throughput for applications requiring I-time performance

» Oracle Berkeley DB, which is a family of open s@jrembeddable, non-relational databases that atlewslopers to
incorporate a fast, scalable and reliable databagie within their applications; al

» Oracle Database Lite, which is a comprehensiveisoltior developing, deploying and managing apiares for
mobile and embedded environments. It consistssofial footprint relational database that runs omyrdevices and
platforms, a mobile server that synchronizes datewéen the mobile devices and Oracle Databasenabde
application development tool

We also offer products that are complementary todatabase product offerings, including Oracle Entee Manager and
Oracle Audit Vault.

Enterprise Manager

Oracle Enterprise Manager is designed to deliverdkown applications and software infrastructure aggament. Our
customers use Oracle Enterprise Manager to moaitdmmanage their applications and underlying sofhirgrastructure,
including both Oracle and non-Oracle infrastructumaeducts. Oracle Enterprise Manager can be usathtage packaged
applications, such as Siebel, PeopleSoft, Oraddiginess Suite or custom applications including/i8erOriented
Architecture applications. In addition to manag@cle software infrastructure products including Oracle Database a
Oracle Fusion Middleware, Oracle Enterprise Manadgy supports our recently acquired BEA Web L&gcver
middleware product and other third-party infrastaue products.

Oracle Enterprise Manager is designed to monitoficelevels and performance, automate tasks, neacaigfiguration
information, and provide change management in ieghivay across groups of computers or grids. @ré&tlterprise
Manager’s provisioning automates the discovergkireg and scheduling of software patches and alldwesdministrators
to apply patches without taking their system dowditionally, IT administrators can manage systéram anywhere
through an HTML browser or through wireless PDAs.

Audit Vault

Oracle Audit Vault reduces the cost and compleaftgompliance reporting and of detection of unatitteal activities by
automating the collection and consolidation of gurise audit data. Oracle Database provides otieeofnost advanced
auditing capabilities of any database managemesteisy With Audit Vault, security and database adstiators can
manage audit policies across their enterprise atahzatically collect audit data into a centralizeanper resistant
repository. This secure repository is built on @gacscalable architecture to allow retention aggragation of terabytes of
audit data for analysis and reporting. Audit Vartalyzes audit data in real-time based upon engergdefined policies,
issues alerts for unauthorized activities, and joles/built-in reports for demonstrating the IT cofg required to comply
with internal control assessments, including priovis of the U.S. Sarbanes-Oxley Act and other pgateacy and protection
regulations.

Middleware

Oracle Fusion Middleware is a broad product farttilgt forms a reliable and scalable foundation oitivbustomers can
build, deploy and integrate business applicatiotsautomate their business processes. Oracle FiBditieware includes:
» Oracle Application Serve
» Oracle Business Intelligence Sui
» Oracle Identity and Access Management Si
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» Oracle Enterprise Content Management Si

» Oracle WebCente

» Oracle JDeveloper and Oracle Ser-Oriented Architecture Suite; al
» Oracle Data Integration Suit

Oracle Fusion Middleware is designed to protectamasrs’ IT investments and work with both Oracle aon-Oracle
database, middleware and applications productsigfird@s “hot-pluggable” architecture (which enaltestomers to easily
install and use Oracle Fusion Middleware produdtiinvtheir existing IT environments) and adhereteendustry
standards such as J2EE and Business Process Bxelcatiguage (BPEL).

By using Oracle Fusion Middleware, our customecsdase their capacity to adapt to business chaagéetly, reduce their
risks related to security and compliance, incresss productivity and drive better business denisi&pecifically, Oracle
Fusion Middleware enables customers to easily ratecheterogeneous business applications, autdraieess processes,
simplify security and compliance, manage lifecya@ésocuments and get actionable, targeted businedbigence, while
continuing to utilize their existing IT systems.dddition, Oracle Fusion Middleware supports mistigevelopment
languages and tools, which allows developers thlauid deploy web services, web sites, portalsveetatbased
applications. Oracle’s Fusion Middleware is usedupport Oracle applications, as well as otherrpritee applications and
independent software vendors that build their oust@m applications.

On April 29, 2008, we acquired BEA, a leading pderiof enterprise application and service infratrie software
solutions. Our acquisition of BEA further strengtled our leading technology in certain product awaéisin Oracle Fusion
Middleware such as Java application server (Welt8girver), transaction processing (Tuxedo), partdl Enterprise 2.0
capabilities, Service-Oriented Architecture, IT govance and business process management. Ouridacqu§BEA also
increased the number of Java developers buildipticgtions for our middleware products. AdditioyalBEA's business is
complementary to other product areas within Or&csion Middleware such as identity managementnessi intelligence
and enterprise content management.

Application Server

The foundation of Oracle Fusion Middleware is Oga&pplication Server. Designed for grid computi@gacle Application
Server incorporates clustering and caching teclyyplhich increases application reliability, perfance, security and
scalability. Oracle Application Server also proddecomplete integration platform that is desigtoesimplify and
accelerate business, application and data integratiojects. Our recent acquisition of BEA enabig$o provide our
customers with additional open-standards Java-begglitation infrastructure products such as Welit &grver and
scalable messaging and transaction processingptafiroducts such as Tuxedo.

Business Intelligence

Oracle Business Intelligence (BI) provides visiilnto how customers’ businesses are performirghaetps them plan and
model to improve that performance. Bl is a pordaf technology and applications that providesrdaegrated end-to-end
system called Enterprise Performance ManagememilEfat unites our Bl foundation and data warehoggiroducts with
our Bl and EPM applications (described further bglto offer our customers an enterprise-wide bugsrietelligence
platform.

Our BI foundation products include Oracle Bl Sitaterprise Edition Plus, Oracle Bl Standard Editiame, Hyperion
Essbase and Oracle BI Publisher. Our Bl foundatirmaucts deliver customers a comprehensive satsifibss intelligence
tools, including interactive dashboards, ad hoayaed analysis, proactive detection and alertgaaced reporting and
publishing, real-time predictive intelligence, miebanalytics and desktop gadgets.

Our data warehousing products enable the extradtimmsformation and loading of quality data ineartbr that data to be
accurately searched and analyzed.
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Identity and Access Management Suite

The Oracle Identity and Access Management suiteesidleasier for our customers to manage multipés identities,
provision users in multiple enterprise applicatiansl systems and manage access privileges fomeestpemployees and
partners. Our customers use Oracle Identity aneggsdlanagement Suite to secure their informatiom fpotential threats.
In addition, our customers also use Oracle Ideatitly Access Management Suite to increase compliamets, while
lowering the total cost of their compliance efforts

Enterprise Content Management Suite

Unstructured information, which is data that is easily readable or has not been stored so thahibe used efficiently,
makes up a large portion of all the informatioride® in most businesses and public sector enti@zacle Enterprise
Content Management Suite provides a comprehensivef sapabilities to create, capture, publishrslaad collaborate on,
archive, retain, manage business process flowsraméage information access rights to documents #red anstructured
content file types. Oracle Enterprise Content Managnt Suite supports an extensive set of docunmehin@age formats.
Our Web Content Management product’s capabilities anable customers to use external facing webagestrategic
marketing assets and rapid communications channels.

WebCenter

Oracle WebCenter enables personalized, task-odem applications and portal sites to be rapi@lyedoped and
deployed, all with single sign-on access and sgcuiur customers can assemble portal sites usigg pegions or portlets,
which are reusable interface components that peogatess to web-based resources such as appl&gdiiminess
intelligence reports, syndicated content feedsartgourced software services. Oracle WebCenteriatdades integrated
Enterprise 2.0 capabilities, which enable custorteersork together in teams via the internet andtatipe on “collective
intelligence” within their enterprise and with theartners and customers.

JDeveloper

Oracle JDeveloper is an integrated software devedop environment designed to facilitate rapid depeient of Java
applications, portlets, web services, process nsaaiedl Rich Internet Applications (RIA) such as Rlaad AJAX, among
others. Oracle JDeveloper provides a comprehedsiva development environment for modeling, buildaepugging and
testing enterprise-class J2EE applications andseelices. It is also integrated with the Oracle Wggpion Development
Framework, which provides a framework for buildiggplications, including a set of components thabéndevelopers to
build RIA based on Java user interface standardslaploy the applications to take advantage of moBe&A technologies.

Service-Oriented Architecture Suite

Service-Oriented Architecture (SOA) is an inforroattechnology strategy which allows users to iriegfwith Internet-
based portals and composite applications, whidhrim interface with several enterprise applicatiddsacle SOA Suite is a
complete set of service infrastructure componemtsifeating, deploying, and managing SOAs, inclgddracle
JDeveloper, Oracle BPEL Process Manager, Oracle Séelices Manager, Oracle Business Rules, OradéBss Activity
Monitoring, and Oracle Enterprise Service Bus. @&OA Suite enables services to be created, mdragkorchestrated
into composite applications and reconfigurable hess$ processes, reducing development time andawstscreasing
flexibility and response time. Oracle SOA Suitéhiet-pluggable”, enabling customers to easily egtand evolve their
architectures instead of replacing existing investts.

Data Integration Suite

Through Oracle Data Integration Suite, we offertfsésoreed and unified data integration technoledfeat enable
customers to build, deploy and manage enterprisséss data. Our Data Integration foundation allemterprise data
architects to unify, manage, replicate, migrate disttibute data into enterprise applications arghestrated business
processes. With our open and “hot-pluggable” datisgration components, organizations can contiaue t
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use and evolve their IT infrastructure insteadepliacing it. The Data Integration Suite can extoath from one system and
load it into another (such as a data warehousejtardrapidly transform the data into a new fornitalso includes
technology to address data quality and data pmgfili

Applications Software

Our applications software strategy is designeddoigde customers with complete, integrated and gudutions for industr
business process automation, supported by a rattastjards-based technology platform. Centralabdtrategy is our
commitment to offer customers that purchase so#iaense updates and product support contradisiaeas to when
they wish to upgrade to the next generation optfoelucts they own. Until our customers reach adiecito upgrade to the
next generation of the products they own, we ptdtesir investments in their applications by offigrithem the ability to
purchase software license updates and product guppracts for their existing products. New teglogies such as Oracle
Fusion Middleware, Oracle Business Intelligenceesw@nd Oracle WebCenter are designed to help mastoextend the
benefits of their IT investments in our applicagpto reduce their investment risk, and to supihait evolution to the next
generation of enterprise software that best fitsr theeds.

Our applications software products combine busifigsstionality with innovative technologies suchrake-based analytic:
secure search, identity management, self-servidevankflow to deliver adaptive industry procesdassiness intelligence
and insights, and optimal end-user productivityr @pplications software products enable efficieahagement of all core
business functions, including:

» Customer relationship management (CF

» Enterprise performance management (El

» Enterprise resource planning (EF

» Product lifecycle management (PLM), &

* Industry-specific applications
Our applications software products are offerechtegrated suites or available on a component basisall are built on
open architectures that are designed for flexiblgfiguration and open, multi-vendor integration.r@pplications are

available in multiple languages, and support adbraage of location specific requirements, enabliogpanies to support
both global and local business practices and legplirements.

Oracle Application Integration Architecture providan open, standards-based framework for creatiagtable, cross-
application business processes. For customersrigakiquickly deploy integrations between Oraclpligations, Oracle
Application Integration Architecture also offerscgaged integrations, allowing for rapid implemeiatatof mission-critical
business applications.

Customer Relationship Management (CRM)

We offer a complete set of CRM applications thahatge all of the business processes and associatens that touch a
customer, including:

* Billing and delivery;
 Sales solutions that provide a single repositoryctstomer and supply chain information; «

» Service solutions that increase customer satisfadty providing visibility into customer billing drorder
information.

Enterprise Performance Management (EPM)

We offer a full spectrum of EPM applications the¢ apen, industry-specific analytic applicationshwiapabilities such as
interactive dashboarding and embedded analyticifumality for delivering insight across the entéspr Our business
analytics solution is tailored to 20 industriesjigg customers the ability to monitor, analyze actiupon business
intelligence while providing end-to-end visibilitgto a customer’s operations and financial perfarcea With our
acquisition of Hyperion in fiscal 2007, we addedngbementary products to our business
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intelligence offerings, including a leading openegprise planning system, financial consolidatiooducts, and a
multi-source OLAP server. Our acquisition of Hypericombined with our Bl analytics, Bl foundatiordashata
warehousing products enable us to offer our custeae integrated, end-to-end EPM system that gpansing,
consolidation, operational analytic applicationssibess intelligence tools, reporting and dategiration, all on a
unified business intelligence platform.

Enterprise Resource Planning (ERP)

Companies use our ERP applications to automaténsegrate a variety of their key global businesscpsses,
including: manufacturing, order entry, accountereable and payable, general ledger, purchasingheasing,
transportation and human resources. Our ERP afiplisacombine business functionality with innovativ
technologies such as workflow and self-serviceiappbns in order to enable companies to lowerctha of their
business operations by providing their customengpkers and employees with self-service intermeeas to both
transaction processing and critical business inédion. Our ERP applications are available in midtianguages
and currencies, enabling companies to supportdlotial and local business practices and legal reménts.

Product Lifecycle Management (PLM)

With our acquisition of Agile Software Corporationthe first quarter of fiscal 2008, we added PLdftware
solutions. Our PLM solutions manage the producvuation and introduction process in a variety afustries,
including high technology, life sciences, industmieanufacturing and consumer packaged goods. Olt §dlutions
help customers make better product portfolio denisi collaborate across design and supply chatngray
accelerate new product introduction and manage bkange.

Industry Applications

Our applications can be tailored to offer custonzevariety of industry-specific solutions. As atparour strategy,
we strive to ensure that our applications portfalifliresses the major industry-influenced technotbgienges of
customers in key industries. With our acquisitibib@bel, we gained expertise in the vertical merke which
Siebel offered industry solutions. We have alscaexied our offerings in a number of other key indestwe view
as strategic to our future growth:

Retail, with our acquisitions of Retek, Inc., Ptbfigic, Inc. and several other compani
« Banking and financial services, with our acquisitaf i-flex solutions limited

« Communications, with our acquisitions of Portalt@@afre, Inc. and MetaSolv, Inc.; a

« Utilities, with our acquisition of Lodestar Corpticm and SPL WorldGroup, In

These acquired industry applications are in addlitioindustry applications we developed for heattiences,
insurance, manufacturing, education, professiosalices and the public sector.

We are currently building Oracle Fusion Applicaspmwhich are being designed to unify best-of-bussne
capabilities from all Oracle applications in a cdete suite. We believe this suite of applicationt deliver a
superior ownership experience through improved ilisgladaptive business process automation, bailitisiness
intelligence and industry-specific capabilities.

New software license revenues from applicationsasok represented 32%, 29% and 27% of new softlicese
revenues in fiscal 2008, 2007 and 2006, respewgtivel

Software License Updates and Product Supg

We seek to protect and enhance our customers’rdumeestments in Oracle technology and applicatioyn
offering lifetime support, product enhancements apglrades. Software license updates provide cussowith
rights to unspecified software product upgradesraathtenance releases and patches released dueiberin of the
support period. Product support includes internettalephone access to technical support perséoogakd in our
global support centers, as well as internet admetechnical content. Software license updatespgoduct
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support are generally priced as a percentage afahesoftware license fees. Substantially all af austomers purchase
software license updates and product support wienacquire new software licenses. In additionstariially all of our
customers renew their software license updatepeoalict support contracts annually. We also offexal® Unbreakable
Linux Support, which provides enterprise level supfor the Linux operating system and, in fisc@08, we introduced

support for Oracle VM server virtualization softwar

Our software license updates and product suppeeniees represented 46% of total revenues in fXa@8, 2007 and 2006.

Services Busines

Consulting

Oracle Consulting assists our customers in suagissieploying our applications and technology proi@. Our consulting
services include business strategy and analyssndss process optimization; product implementatohancements, and
upgrades; and ongoing managed services. Theseasghelp our customers achieve measurable busemdts, manage
their total cost of ownership and reduce their depient risk.

Oracle Consulting deploys professionals globallijzing our blended delivery capabilities, includinise of onsite
consultants and personnel from our global delicenyters and applications solutions centers to égeeeconomies of scale
for our customers. Consulting revenues represetiés 16% and 15% of total revenues in fiscal 2Q08,7 and 2006,
respectively.

On Demand

On Demand includes Oracle On Demand, CRM On DeraaddAdvanced Customer Services. Oracle On Demanddes
multi-featured software and hardware managemedtp@aintenance services for customers that depley the internet our
database, middleware and applications softwareetel either at our data center facilities, atdgdartner data centers or
at customer facilities. CRM On Demand is a sereifering that provides our customers with our CRdftware
functionality delivered via a hosted, web-basedtsoh that we manage. Advanced Customer Servicesists of solution
support centers, business critical assistancentemhaccount management, expert services, cordigur and performance
analysis, personalized support and annual oneaitenical services. On Demand revenues represetfieaf Btal revenues
in fiscal 2008, 2007 and 2006.

Education

We provide training to customers, partners and eygas as a part of our mission of acceleratingtioption of our
technology around the world. We currently offerubands of courses covering all of our product aftgs. Our training is
provided primarily through public and private ingttorded classroom events, but is also made availabteitih a variety o
online courses and self paced media training onRCIMAs. In addition, we also offer a certificatiorogram certifying
database administrators, developers and implenser@eacle University also offers user adoption isersydesigned to
provide comprehensive training services to helgarners get the most out of their investment in @:a®ur acquisition of
BEA further enhanced our educational offerings iddteware. Education revenues represented 2% alf tetenues in
fiscal 2008, 2007 and 2006.

Marketing and Sales
Sales Distribution Channel:

We directly market and sell our products and sess/grimarily through our subsidiary sales and sererganizations. In tt
United States our sales and service employeesageglbn our headquarters and in field offices thhomut the United State
Outside the United States, our international suéss license and support our products in theal@ountries as well as
within other foreign countries where we do not epethrough a direct sales subsidiary.

We also market our products worldwide through iedirchannels. The companies that comprise ourdadahannel
network are members of the Oracle PartnerNetwdnk. Qracle PartnerNetwork is a global program that
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manages our business relationships with a largadsbased network of companies, including indepetnsigitware
vendors, system integrators and resellers whoetelinovative solutions and services based upompmducts. By offering
our partners’ access to our premier products, agunad information, technical services, marketimgl #ales support, the
Oracle PartnerNetwork program extends our marlatirdy providing our partners with the resourcey theed to be
successful in delivering solutions to customerdaglly.

International Markets

We sell our products and provide services glob&iyr geographic coverage allows us to draw on lessiand technical
expertise from a global workforce, provides stapiid our operations and revenue streams to offsegraphy-specific
economic trends and offers us an opportunity te tdvantage of new markets for our products. A samrof our domesti
and international revenues and long-lived assetstiforth in Note 13 of Notes to Consolidated Riial Statements.

Seasonality and Cyclicalit

Our quarterly results reflect distinct seasonatithe sale of our products and services, as aamnges are typically highest
in our fourth fiscal quarter and lowest in our fifiscal quarter. General economic conditions &laee an impact on our
business and financial results. The markets in fwhie sell our products and services have, at tiegsrienced weak
economic conditions that have negatively affect@édrevenues. See “Selected Quarterly Financial'Datiiem 7 of this
Annual Report for a more complete description ef skasonality and cyclicality of our revenues amqukases.

Customers

Our customer base consists of a significant nurobbusinesses of many sizes and industries, govamhagencies,
educational institutions and resellers. No singistemer accounted for 10% or more of revenuesaafi2008, 2007 or
2006.

Competition

The enterprise software industry is highly fragneenintensely competitive and evolving rapidly. @npete in various
segments of this industry including, but not lindite:

» database softwar

» middleware (including application server, businiasslligence, application integration, content mgemment, portal
server and identity managemer

+ collaboration;

» development tools

» enterprise application

+ software as a servic

* hosted and On Demand solutio

» operating system:

* virtualization software; an

 consulting/systems integratic
Total cost of ownership, performance, scalabifiyctionality, ease of use, open standards-comgdigproduct reliability,
Service-Oriented Architecture, security and quadityechnical support are key competitive factoreach of the areas in
which we compete. Our customers are also demaneisgcomplexity and lower cost in the implementatspurcing,

integration and ongoing maintenance of their emisesoftware, which has led increasingly to owdpict offerings
(database, middleware and applications) being \deagea “stack” of software designed to work togethe
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Our product sales (and the relative strength ofpsaducts versus our competitopbducts) are also affected by the bro:
“platform” competition between industry standarda]@J2EE) by Sun Microsystems, Inc. (Sun Microsysieand
Microsoft Corporation’s .NET programming environneand by operating system competition among Maftéss
Windows Server, Unix (Sun Microsystem’s Solariswiet Packard Company’s (HP)-UX and InternationakiBess
Machines Corporation’s (IBM)-AlX) and Linux. Openigce alternatives to commercial software are iagmacting the
competitive environment. These products are tylyicdfered free of charge and are readily availabler the internet.
Finally, software-as-a-service (SaaS) offeringsiome to alter the competitive landscape.

The following lists of competitors are necessanigomplete due to the nature of the enterprisenswét industry. The
competitive landscape is constantly evolving andiemerge, expand, are acquired and otherwise ehang

In the sale of database software, scalabilityabglity, availability and security are key compiett differentiators for us.
Our competitors include IBM, Microsoft, Sybase,.I"¢CR Corporatiors Teradata division, SAS Institute, Inc., Inforrae
Corporation, and the open source databases siMRSRL (recently acquired by Sun Microsystems) andtgreSQL,
among others. Our ability to continually innovatal alifferentiate our database product offeringsedrabled us to maintain
our leading position in database software overcoanpetitors.

In the sale of middleware products, our offeringdude application server, business intelligenpgliaation integration,
business process management, Service-Orientedtéctlrie, collaboration and content managementapamd identity
management software. Our ability to offer a fulige of rich functionality in a standarased, open architecture has be
key competitive differentiator. Our competitorslimde IBM, Microsoft, SAP AG, Sun Microsystems, Pregs Software,
Fujitsu Software Corporation, Hitachi Software Evagring Co., Ltd., open source vendors such asHaednc. (JBoss),
Apache Geronimo, and Netezza Corporation, as \seleaeral other competitors in each element opaokaged functions
such as TIBCO Software, Inc., Software AG, Savvlag,, Microstrategy, Inc., CA, Inc., Informatiddovell, Inc.,
Lombardi Software, Inc. and Pegasystems, Inc., gnatimers. Our middleware solutions have experiemapitl growth in
recent years relative to our competitors.

In the sale of collaboration and content manageperducts, we compete with Microsoft, IBM (Dominafes/FileNet),
EMC Corporation (Documentum), Open Text Corporatlaterwoven, Inc., HP (Tower Software) and Vigeett
Corporation, among others.

In the sale of development tools, ease of usedatds-compliance and the level of abstraction faated code generation)
are key competitive differentiators. We competdrgfdBM (WebSphere Studio), Microsoft (VisualStadiET), Sun
Microsystems (Sun Studio), Sybase (PowerBuilded)@thers, including Eclipse Foundation, Inc. (Esfip an open source
vendor. The success of our development tools setjaelated to the relative popularity of our fiatn (database and
middleware) compared to our competitors as wethadarger competition between Java and MicrosdRET.

The sale of applications software, in particularghanging rapidly due to the development and gepdmt of Service-
Oriented Architectures and web services, applicatitegration middleware as well as software asraice offerings. As a
result of our acquisitions of PeopleSoft and Sielel currently offer several product lines that suéed for different needs
of customers in different industries. One of thémwammpetitive differentiators in applications sudire is our ability to
combine best-of-breed software, Suite softwareamdipplication Integration Architecture, while shding the end user
from complexities. We compete against SAP AG, LawSoftware, Inc., Infor Global Solutions GmbH (S&#obal
Technologies, Extensity), Microsoft Dynamics (DynesnGP, Dynamics NAV, Dynamics CRM, Dynamics Sriapnamic
SL), Sage, Inc., and IBM (Maximo, MOR Software, Astial Software) as well as many other applicafiooviders and
point solution providers.

We also provide applications specific to operatimngarticular industry verticals, such as retgjlifinancial services,
communications, tax and utilities, health scienpedlic sector and others. These applications isteaduished from
enterprise resource planning (ERP) or custometisekhip management (CRM) in that these industeesit applications
are focused on and limited to particular indusergraents, as opposed to being designed for broaithdison across several
industries. We typically compete with commercidtware vendors’ pre-packaged applications, appboatdeveloped in-
house by customers, applications which were custeveloped by other software vendors and applicatimmsisting of
discrete pieces of functionality from multiple
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providers which have been customized and implenddnjesystems integrators. In some of these indisstri
complete industry solutions either do not exisai@ addressed by dozens of software participants.

With service-oriented architecture, our packagqulieations also compete with custom solutions depetl either
in-house or by large systems integrators such aemare Ltd. or IBM Global Services.

Our applications also compete against businesepsoautsourcers including Automatic Data Processinyg,
Fidelity Investments, Ceridian Corporation, Hev@tghborg Limited and others.

In the sale of operating systems, we introduceappart and service offering for Red Hat's open seurinux
operating system in fiscal 2007. This placed usoimpetition with others who offer support for thialx operating
system, including Red Hat, Novell and Canonical. (tdbuntu); with IBM, Sun Microsystems, HP and athim the
sale of Unix operating systems; and with Microsofthe sale of Windows Server operating systems.

In the sale of virtualization products, we competih VMware, Inc., IBM, Microsoft, Sun Microsystenand Citrix
Systems, Inc., among others, including other vemidbopen source virtualization products.

In the sale of consulting and systems integratemises, we both partner with and compete againseAture,
Electronic Data Systems Corporation (to be acquiseHiP), IBM Global Services, Bearing Point, In€gpGemini
Group, and many others (both large and small).

In the sale of many of our products, we also compéth products and features developed internallgustomers
and their IT staff.

Research and Development

We develop the substantial majority of our productsrnally. In addition, we have acquired techiggithrough
business acquisitions. We also purchase or licenskectual property rights in certain circumstascinternal
development allows us to maintain technical contk@r the design and development of our produceshéve a
number of United States and foreign patents andipgrapplications that relate to various aspecuofproducts
and technology. While we believe that our pateatgehvalue, no single patent is essential to us any of our
principal business segments.

Research and development expenditures were $Aahb$2.2 billion and $1.9 billion, or 12%, 12%ht3% of
total revenues, in fiscal 2008, 2007 and 2006,aetyely. As a percentage of new software licemsemues,
research and development expenditures were 36% aBit¥88% in fiscal 2008, 2007 and 2006, respegtiapid
technological advances in hardware and softwareldpment, evolving standards in computer hardwade a
software technology, changing customer needs @uiént new product introductions and enhancements
characterize the software markets in which we cdeipi/e plan on continuing to dedicate a signifianbunt of
resources to research and development efforts iotanaand improve our current product offeringsliring our
database, middleware and applications softwareygsted

Employees

As of May 31, 2008, we employed 84,233 full-timeptoyees, including 19,465 in sales and marketing@4Z in
software license updates and product support, 88r2&ervices, 20,607 in research and developnmeh8:804 in
general and administrative positions. Of these eygas, 28,079 were located in the United State$6rib4 were
employed internationally. None of our employeethi;m United States is represented by a labor uhiowgver, in
certain international subsidiaries workers’ coumodpresent our employees.

Available Information

Our Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reporigqorm 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K and ameds
to reports filed pursuant to Sections 13(a) andi}L&f the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as aradndre
available, free of charge, on our Investor Relaiaeb site at www.oracle.com/investor as soon @soreably
practicable after we electronically file such matewith, or furnish it to, the Securities and Eaclge Commission.
The information posted on our web site is not ipooated into this Annual Report.
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Executive Officers of the Registrani

Our executive officers are listed below.

Name Office(s)

Lawrence J. Elliso Chief Executive Officer and Direct:

Jeffrey O. Henle Chairman of the Board of Directo

Safra A. Cat: President, Chief Financial Officer and Direc

Charles E. Phillips, Jr President and Directc

Keith G. Block Executive Vice President, North America Sales andqDlting

Sergio Giacolett Executive Vice President, Europe, Middle East afritA Sales and Consultir
Juergen Rottle Executive Vice President, Oracle Customer Sen

Charles A. Rozwe Executive Vice President, Product Developr

Derek H. Williams Executive Vice President, Japan Sales and Congl

Dorian E. Daley Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Segr

William Corey Wes Senior Vice President, Corporate Controller ande€Accounting Officel

Mr. Ellison, 63, has been Chief Executive Officada Director since he founded Oracle in June 1Bé7served as
Chairman of the Board from May 1995 to January 2004

Mr. Henley, 63, has served as the Chairman of derdsince January 2004 and as a director sinee1R8b. He
served as an Executive Vice President and Chiefrigiial Officer from March 1991 to July 2004. Hecad®rves as
director of Callwave, Inc.

Ms. Catz, 46, has been Chief Financial Officer siNovember 2005 and a President since January 3b@dhas
served as a Director since October 2001. She wasrinChief Financial Officer from April 2005 untiuly 2005.
She served as an Executive Vice President from Mbee 1999 to January 2004 and Senior Vice Presfdamt
April 1999 to October 1999. She also serves asegtir of HSBC Holdings pilc.

Mr. Phillips, 49, has been a President and hasdeas a Director since January 2004. He servedesukve Vice
President, Strategy, Partnerships, and Businessl@awent, from May 2003 to January 2004. He alseeseas a
director of Morgan Stanley and Viacom, Inc.

Mr. Block, 47, has been Executive Vice PresidemtithlAmerica Sales and Consulting since Septemb@2 2nd
Executive Vice President, North America Consultiimgce February 2002. He served as Senior Vice diesof
North America Commercial Consulting and Global $&n\Lines from June 1999 until January 2002. Heestas
Senior Vice President of the Commercial Consulingctice from April 1999 until May 1999. Mr. Blogkas Grou|
Vice President, East Consulting from June 1997 ifdirch 1999.

Mr. Giacoletto, 58, has been Executive Vice Pregidéurope, Middle East and Africa Sales and Cdimgpkince
June 2000 and served as Senior Vice President@&siSolutions from November 1998 to June 200QvéteVice
President, Alliances and Technology from March 189K ovember 1998. Before joining us, he had beesi@ent
of AT&T Solutions for Europe since August 1994.

Mr. Rottler, 41, has been Executive Vice Presid@nacle Customer Services since September 200@/ade
Executive Vice President, Oracle Support and Or@ciédemand, from January 2005 to September 2006vasd
Executive Vice President, Oracle On Demand, fropt&aber 2004 to January 2005. Prior to joininghesserved
as Senior Vice President, Public Sector, Custorofrti®ns Group at Hewlett-Packard Company (HP)xfro
December 2003 to September 2004, where he wasnabpofor HP’s worldwide Public Sector, Health and
Education business. He also held various otheragjlabd regional executive positions in dServices and Softwe
business units since 1997.

Mr. Rozwat, 60, has been Executive Vice Presidertduct Development, since October 2007. He seased
Executive Vice President, Server Technologies fidomember 1999 to October 2007 and served as S¥iter
President, Database Server from December 1996tb@&c1999. He served as Vice President of Devedopritom
December 1994 to November 1996.
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Mr. Williams, 63, has been Executive Vice Presigddapan Sales and Consulting since June 2008 améxeutive Vice
President, Asia Pacific Sales and Consulting frocto@er 2000 to May 2008. He served as Senior Viesigent, Asia
Pacific from July 1993 to October 2000 and as \Heesident, Asia Pacific from April 1991 to July B9®e joined Oracle
United Kingdom in October 1988 and served as RegiDirector, Strategic Accounts from October 198&\pril 1991.

Ms. Daley, 49, has been Senior Vice President, ¢@munsel and Secretary since October 2007. &ved as Vice
President, Legal, Associate General Counsel antbtass Secretary from June 2004 to October 200Asasciate General
Counsel and Assistant Secretary from October 20@Line 2004, and as Associate General CounselRatmmuary 2001 to
October 2001. She joined Oracle’s Legal Departrimre©992.

Mr. West, 46, has been Senior Vice President, GatpdController and Chief Accounting Officer sirfeebruary 2008 and
was Vice President, Corporate Controller and CAefounting Officer from April 2007 to February 2Q@ior to joining
us, he served as Intuit Inc.’s Director of Accongtfrom August 2005 to March 2007, as The Gap,drssistant
Controller from April 2005 to August 2005, and ais&/President, Finance, at Cadence Design Systam's, product
business from June 2001 to April 2005. He also spéryears with Arthur Andersen LLP, most receiatiya partner.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

We operate in a rapidly changing economic and telclyical environment that presents numerous risks)y of which are
driven by factors that we cannot control or predidte following discussion, as well as our “Critige&counting Policies
and Estimates” discussion in Item 7, highlights sahthese risks.

Economic, political and market conditions can adeety affect our revenue growth and profitabilit Our business is
influenced by a range of factors that are beyondcontrol and that we have no comparative advaritafirecasting. Thes
include:

» general economic and business conditit

« the overall demand for enterprise software andicesy

» governmental budgetary constraints or shifts inegpment spending priorities; a
» general political development

A general weakening of, or declining corporate @watice in, the global economy, or a curtailmergamernment or
corporate spending could delay or decrease custpurehases. In addition, the war on terrorismwhein Iraq and the
potential for other hostilities in various partstioé world, potential public health crises and raltdisasters continue to
contribute to a climate of economic and politicatertainty that could adversely affect our revegrevth and results of
operations. These factors generally have the sésireffect on our sales of software licenses alade services and, to a
lesser extent, also affect our renewal rates ffiwsoe license updates and product support.

We may fail to achieve our financial forecasts dteeinaccurate sales forecasts or other factor©ur revenues, and
particularly our new software license revenues diffecult to forecast, and, as a result, our gedytoperating results can
fluctuate substantially. We use a “pipeline” syst@ncommon industry practice, to forecast salestaamls in our business.
Our sales personnel monitor the status of all psafsoand estimate when a customer will make a psechecision and the
dollar amount of the sale. These estimates areeggtgd periodically to generate a sales pipeline.pipeline estimates c:
prove to be unreliable both in a particular quaaied over a longer period of time, in part becahse‘conversion rate” of
the pipeline into contracts can be very difficalieistimate. A contraction in the conversion raténdhe pipeline itself,
could cause us to plan or budget incorrectly anekiesetly affect our business or results of operatitmparticular, a
slowdown in IT spending or economic conditions gatg can reduce the conversion rate in particpkniods as purchasi
decisions are delayed, reduced in amount or cattelhe conversion rate can also be affected btetigency of some of
our customers to wait until the end of a fiscaligetin the hope of obtaining more favorable termisich can also impede
our ability to negotiate and execute these corgriaich timely manner. In addition, for newly acguicompanies, we have
limited ability to predict how their pipelines witbnvert into sales or revenues for one or two tgusifollowing the
acquisition, and their conversion rate post-actjaisimay be quite different from their historicalrversion rate.
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A substantial portion of our new software licenseanue contracts is completed in the latter paatqfiarter and a
significant percentage of these are large ordezsaBse our cost structure is largely fixed in tiartsterm, revenue
shortfalls tend to have a disproportionately negaitnpact on our profitability. The number of langew software license
transactions also increases the risk of fluctuatioour quarterly results because a delay in evemall number of these
transactions could cause our quarterly new softlieeases revenues to fall significantly short af predictions.

Our success depends upon our ability to develop peaducts and services, integrate acquired produatsi services and
enhance our existing products and serviceRapid technological advances and evolving standardsmputer hardware,
software development and communications infrasinectchanging and increasingly sophisticated custoraeeds and
frequent new product introductions and enhancenwvagacterize the enterprise software market irclvihie compete. If
we are unable to develop new products and sendcds,enhance and improve our products and suggovices in a timel
manner or to position and/or price our products serdices to meet market demand, customers mayuyatew software
licenses or renew software license updates anduptatipport. In addition, IT standards from bothsmrtia and formal
standards-setting forums as well as de facto mpldeg standards are rapidly evolving. We cannotigeoany assurance
that the standards on which we choose to develappneducts will allow us to compete effectively tmusiness
opportunities in emerging areas.

We are developing a next generation applicatioafgrim called Oracle Fusion Applications that iarpied to combine the
best features, flows and usability traits of oustiig and acquired applications. We have also anced that we intend to
extend the life of many of our acquired applicasi@amd will continue to provide long-term supportdorr acquired
products, both of which require us to dedicate uesss. If we do not develop and release these memtmnced products
and services within the anticipated time framethéfe is a delay in market acceptance of a nelgrezed or acquired
product line or service, if we do not timely optimicomplementary product lines and services oeifail to adequately
integrate, support or enhance acquired applicéditi@s or services, our business may be adverstdgtafi.

Acquisitions present many risks, and we may notlizathe financial and strategic goals that werentemplated at the
time of any transaction. In the past four fiscal years, we have invesi#iis of dollars, including $9.4 billion in fista
2008, to acquire a number of companies, produetsjces and technologies. An active acquisitiorgpaim is an important
element of our overall corporate strategy and weeeito continue to make similar acquisitions ia finture. Risks we may
face in connection with our acquisition programluie:

 our ongoing business may be disrupted and our nesnagt’s attention may be diverted by acquisiticensition or
integration activities

* an acquisition may not further our business stsat=gwe expected, or we may pay more than the @mtjoompany
or assets are wort

 our due diligence process may fail to identifyadlthe problems, liabilities or other shortcomirggchallenges of an
acquired company or technology, including issueh thie company’s intellectual property, productlgyar product
architecture, revenue recognition or other accogrpiractices or employee, customer or partner §s:

» we may have legal and tax exposures or lose aatexptax benefits as a result of unforeseen dlffesiin our
integration activities

* we may not realize the anticipated increase inreuenues if a larger than predicted number of ensts decline to
renew software license updates and product sugpar, are unable to sell the acquired productsuocustomer ba:
or if contract models of an acquired company doatioiv us to recognize revenues on a timely b

e we may assume pmxisting contractual relationships of acquired camps that we would not have otherwise ent
into, and exiting or modifying such relationshipayrbe costly to us or disruptive to custom:

» we may face litigation or other claims in conneatwith, or may inherit claims or litigation risk agesult of, an
acquisition, including claims from terminated emy@es, customers, former stockholders or other tharties;
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« our relationship with current and new employeestamers, partners and distributors could be imga

« we may have difficulty incorporating acquired teclugies or products with our existing product lirzesl
maintaining uniform standards, controls, procedares policies

« we may have multiple and overlapping product liags result of our acquisitions that are offeretego and
supported differently, which could cause custonoefgsion and delay:

* we may have higher than anticipated costs in comgsupport and development of acquired prodi

* we may assume g-existing liabilities, whether known or unknown,axfquired companies which could be mate

» we may be unable to obtain required approvals fygorernmental authorities under competition andtiausti laws on
a timely basis, if it all, which could, among othibings, prevent us from completing a transact

* we may have to delay or not proceed with a suhisfeartquisition if we cannot obtain the necessandfng to
complete the acquisition in a timely manr

» our use of cash to pay for acquisitions may lintlitep potential uses of our cash, including stogkirehases and
retirement of outstanding indebtedne

» we may significantly increase our interest expefesesrage and debt service requirements if we iadditional debt
to pay for an acquisitior

» we may be unable to obtain timely approvals frommay otherwise have certain limitations, restoict, penalties or
other sanctions imposed on us by, worker councitsroilar bodies under applicable employment law/s aesult of
an acquisition, which could adversely affect otegmation plans in certain jurisdictions; €

« to the extent that we issue a significant amourgqpfity securities in connection with future acgioss, existing
stockholders may be diluted and earnings per shasedecreast

The occurrence of any of these risks could havatnal adverse effect on our business, resultgpefations, financial
condition or cash flows, particularly in the cagedarger acquisition or several concurrent adtjarss.

We may not be able to protect our intellectual perty rights. We rely on copyright, trademark, patent and trseleret
laws, confidentiality procedures, controls and cactual commitments to protect our intellectualgany rights. Despite o
efforts, these protections may be limited. Unauear third parties may try to copy or reverse eagirportions of our
products or otherwise obtain and use our intelEdgbwoperty. Any patents owned by us may be ingddid, circumvented
challenged. Any of our pending or future patentli@gtions, whether or not being currently challethgmay not be issued
with the scope of the claims we seek, if at alladtdition, the laws of some countries do not previte same level of
protection of our intellectual property rights asttie laws and courts of the United States. If arenot protect our
intellectual property rights against unauthorizedying or use, or other misappropriation, we matyramain competitive.

Third parties have claimed and, in the future, majaim infringement or misuse of intellectual propsrrights
and/or breach of license agreement provision§Ve periodically receive notices from, or havedaits filed against us by,
others claiming infringement, or other misuse @ftintellectual property rights and/or breach of agreements with them.
We expect the number of such claims will increase a

e we continue to acquire compani

 the number of products and competitors in our itrgusegments grow:

« the functionality of products overla

« the use and support of third-party code (includipgn source code) becomes more prevalent in tihwaref
industry; anc

« the volume of issued software patents continuésc@ase
Responding to any such claim, regardless of itsligl could:

* be time-consuming, costland/orresult in litigation;
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« divert manageme’s time and attention from developing our busin

 require us to pay monetary damages or enter i@ltgoand licensing agreements that we would notadly find
acceptable

 require us to stop selling or to redesign certdious products

 require us to release source code to third papiessibly under open source license tet
 require us to satisfy indemnification obligationsour customers; ¢

» otherwise adversely affect our business, resultgpefations, financial condition or cash floy

Specific patent infringement cases are discussddrudote 15 in Notes to Consolidated Financialetents.

We may need to change our pricing models to compsetecessfully. The intense competition we face in the salesuof o
products and services and general economic anddsssconditions can put pressure on us to changerieas. If our
competitors offer deep discounts on certain praglacservices, we may need to lower prices or affieer favorable terms
in order to compete successfully. Any such chamgag reduce margins and could adversely affect dipgreesults. Our
software license updates and product support fieegemerally priced as a percentage of our netstdtware license fees.
Our competitors may offer lower percentage prigdngoroduct updates and support, which could puggue on us to
further discount our new license prices.

Any broad-based change to our prices and pricirigips could cause new software license and sesvieeenues to decline
or be delayed as our sales force implements andustomers adjust to the new pricing policies. Sofmaur competitors
may bundle software products for promotional pugsosr as a long-term pricing strategy or providargaotees of prices
and product implementations. These practices cowigh, time, significantly constrain the prices that can charge for
certain of our products. If we do not adapt oucipg models to reflect changes in customer usaiopooducts or changes
in customer demand, our new software license res®oauld decrease. Additionally, increased distidiouof applications
through application service providers, includinffware-as-aservice (SaaS) providers, may reduce the average for our
products or adversely affect other sales of oudpets, reducing new software license revenues simlescan offset price
reductions with volume increases or lower spendlitng increase in open source software distributialy also cause us to
change our pricing models.

We may be unable to compete effectively within kighly competitive software industry.Many vendors develop and
market databases, internet application server pitsdapplication development tools, business agtitins, collaboration
products and business intelligence products thatpebe with our offerings. In addition, several c@mies offer business
process outsourcing (BPO) as a competitive alterméd buying software and customer interest in Bfe@itions is
increasing. Some of these competitors have gréatercial or technical resources than we do. Ounpetitors that offer
business applications and middleware products mi&yeince a customer’s purchasing decision for tidedying database
in an effort to persuade potential customers nactuire our products. We could lose customerarifcompetitors
introduce new competitive products, add new fumetiity, acquire competitive products, reduce priaeform strategic
alliances with other companies. Vendors that d3leO solutions may persuade our customers not ichpse our products.
We may also face increasing competition from opmiree software initiatives, in which competitorsynmovide software
and intellectual property for free. Existing or nemmpetitors could gain sales opportunities or@ustrs at our expense.

Disruptions of our indirect sales channel could &€t our future operating results Our indirect channel network is
comprised primarily of resellers, system integrsfiarplementers, consultants, education providetsrmet service
providers, network integrators and independentsoft vendors. Our relationships with these chapasicipants are
important elements of our marketing and sales &ff@ur financial results could be adversely affddf our contracts with
channel participants were terminated, if our releghips with channel participants were to detetigriany of our
competitors enter into strategic relationships witlacquire a significant channel participant ahi financial condition of
our channel participants were to weaken. Therebeamo assurance that we will be successful in ramimyg, expanding or
developing our relationships with channel partioigalf we are not successful, we may lose salpsmpnities, customers
and revenues.

Charges to earnings resulting from past acquisit®may adversely affect our operating resulténder business
combination accounting standards, we allocatedts purchase price to an acquired company’s mefiltde assets,
intangible assets and in-process research andageweht based on their values as of the date of the
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acquisition (including certain assets and liatafitthat are recorded at fair value) and recor@xicess of the purchase price
over those values as goodwill. Management's estisnat fair value are based upon assumptions believbe reasonable
but which are inherently uncertain. After we contelan acquisition, the following factors could hesumaterial charges
that would adversely affect our operating resuttd aay adversely affect our cash flows:

» impairment of goodwill or intangible asse
 areduction in the useful lives of intangible assatquired
« identification of assumed contingent liabilitiesesfwe finalize the purchase price allocation par

» charges to our operating results to eliminate te@aacle pre-merger activities that duplicate thosthe acquired
company or to reduce our cost structure;

» charges to our operating results resulting fronisexl estimates to restructure an acquired compapggations after
we finalize the purchase price allocation per

Routine charges to our operating results associaitbdacquisitions include amortization of intanigilassets, in-process
research and development as well as other acquisitiated charges, restructuring and stoaked compensation associ:
with assumed stock awards. Charges to our operagggts in any given period could differ substalhtifrom other period
based on the timing and size of our future acdaisstand the extent of integration activities. 8em 7. “Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition &®bults of Operations—Supplemental Disclosure Bdltd Certain
Charges and Gains” for additional information abcharges to earnings associated with our recentisitgns.

We expect to continue to incur additional cost®eiséed with combining the operations of our aceglicompanies, which
may be substantial. Additional costs may includgtsof employee redeployment, relocation and rietenincluding salary
increases or bonuses, accelerated stock-based neatipe expenses and severance payments, reorg@amiaaclosure of
facilities, taxes, and termination of contracts gh@vide redundant or conflicting services. Sorhthese costs may have to
be accounted for as expenses that would decreasebincome and earnings per share for the peiodéich those
adjustments are made.

In December 2007, the Financial Accounting Stansl&uoiard (FASB) issued Statement No. 141 (revis€@¥RBusiness
Combinationgsee Note 1 of Notes to Consolidated Financiak®tants for a summary of Statement 141(R)). Statemen
141(R) is effective for us beginning in fiscal 20X0e are in the process of evaluating the impatih®fending adoption of
Statement 141(R) on our consolidated financiakstants. We currently believe that the adoptiontafe®nent 141(R) will
result in the recognition of certain types of exgEsnin our results of operations that we curresglyitalize pursuant to
existing accounting standards and may also impacfimancial statements in other ways.

We may be unable to hire enough qualified employeesve may lose key employee$Ve rely on the continued service of
our senior management, including our Chief Exeeu@fficer, members of our executive team and dtbgremployees ar
the hiring of new qualified employees. In the saftevindustry, there is substantial and continuamspetition for highly
skilled business, product development, technicdl@her personnel. In addition, acquisitions caiddse us to lose key
personnel of the acquired companies or at Orackemaly also experience increased compensationttastare not offset
by either improved productivity or higher pricese\way not be successful in recruiting new persoanelin retaining and
motivating existing personnel. With rare exceptioms do not have long-term employment or non-coitiprtagreements
with our employees. Members of our senior managéteam have left Oracle over the years for a waétreasons, and
we cannot assure you that there will not be adutidlepartures, which may be disruptive to our afi@ns.

We continually focus on improving our cost struetbiy hiring personnel in countries where advaneebnical expertise is
available at lower costs. When we make adjustmertsir workforce, we may incur expenses associatddworkforce
reductions that delay the benefit of a more effitigorkforce structure. We may also experiencegased competition for
employees in these countries as the trend towatuhfization continues which may affect our emplosetention efforts
and/or increase our expenses in an effort to efflempetitive compensation program.

17




Table of Contents

Part of our total compensation program includeskstptions. Stock options are an important toatinacting and retaining
employees in our industry. If our stock price parie poorly, it may adversely affect our abilityregain or attract
employees. In addition, because we expense akk-tased compensation, we may in the future changstock-based and
other compensation practices. Some of the changeonsider from time to time include the reduciiothe number of
employees granted options, a reduction in the nummbeptions granted per employee and a changkdamative forms of
stock-based compensation. Any changes in our cosagien practices or changes made by competitorsl @ffect our
ability to retain and motivate existing personnad aecruit new personnel.

Our international sales and operations subject wsadditional risks that can adversely affect ouremating results. We
derive a substantial portion of our revenues, anclsignificant operations, outside of the Unitéat&s. Our international
operations include software development, salesomes support, consulting, On Demand and sharedrésinative service
centers. We are subject to a variety of risks drallenges in managing an organization operatingiiious countries,
including those related to:

» general economic conditions in each country orameg

 regulatory change:

* political unrest, terrorism and the potential ftmer hostilities

» public health risks, particularly in areas in whigh have significant operatior
 longer payment cycles and difficulties in collegtimccounts receivabl

» overlapping tax regime:

« fluctuations in currency exchange rat

« difficulties in transferring funds from certain aaties; anc

» reduced protection for intellectual property rigimtsome countries

In addition, compliance with international and U&vs and regulations that apply to our internalaperations increases
our cost of doing business in foreign jurisdictiolbese laws and regulations include data privaquirements, labor
relations laws, tax laws, anti-competition reguasi, import and trade restrictions, export requéets, U.S. laws such as
the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, and local lavinicv also prohibit corrupt payments to governmeaotfitials. Violations
of these laws and regulations could result in fimeisninal sanctions against us, our officers ar employees, and
prohibitions on the conduct of our business. Anghsuiolations could include prohibitions on ourlahito offer our
products and services in one or more countrieddaielay or prevent potential acquisitions, andld@lso materially
damage our reputation, our brand, our internatierphnsion efforts, our ability to attract and ire&mployees, our busine
and our operating results. Our success depengsyinon our ability to anticipate these risks amhage these difficulties.

As the majority shareholder of i-flex solutions iied, a publicly traded Indian software companyued on the banking
industry, we are faced with several additionalsjskcluding being subject to local securities tagjons and being unable
exert full control or obtain financial and othefdrmation on a timely basis.

We may experience foreign currency gains and loss&¥e conduct a significant number of transactieonstirrencies oth¢
than the U.S. Dollar. Our revenues and operatieglie are adversely affected when the dollar sthergs relative to other
currencies and are positively affected when théadaleakens. Our revenues and operating resules teently been
favorably affected by the weakening U.S. Dollaatigke to other major foreign currencies. Changehénvalue of major
foreign currencies, particularly the Euro, Japanése and British Pound relative to the U.S. Dotlan significantly affect
revenues and our operating results.

Our foreign currency transaction gains and logsesarily related to sublicense fees and otherements among us and
our subsidiaries and distributors, are chargednagjaiarnings in the period incurred. We enter fateign exchange forward
contracts to hedge certain transaction and traoslakposures in major currencies, but we will gone to experience
foreign currency gains and losses in certain ircganvhere it is not possible or cost effectivee¢dde foreign currencies.
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Our periodic workforce restructurings can be disrtipe. We have in the past restructured or made othjestuents to
our workforce, including our direct sales forcevaimich we continue to rely heavily, in response nagement changes,
product changes, performance issues, acquisitioch®#ner internal and external considerationshépast, sales force and
other restructurings have generally resulted enaporary lack of focus and reduced productivityeSéeffects could recur
in connection with future acquisitions and othestmecturings and our revenues could be negativiédgizd.

Oracle On Demand and CRM On Demand may not be sesfd. We offer Oracle On Demand outsourcing services fo
our applications and database technology, deliveithér at our data center facilities, at selectriga data centers or at
customer facilities. We also offer CRM On Demandjch is a subscription service offering that pr@gaur customers
with our CRM software functionality delivered viehasted, web-based solution that we manage. Thesedss models
continue to evolve and we may not be able to coeefféctively, generate significant revenues oreflgy them into
profitable businesses. We incur expenses assoadidtiedhe infrastructures and marketing of our @ga@n Demand and
CRM On Demand businesses in advance of our akdlitgcognize the revenues associated with theseirugs. These
businesses are subject to a variety of risks inetud

» demand for these services may not meet our expatsa
* we may not be able to operate these businessasaataptable profit leve

e we manage critical customer applications, dataahdr confidential information through Oracle Onnitand and
CRM On Demand; accordingly, we face increased axgot® significant damage claims and risk to futomeiness
prospects in the event of system failures, inadeqdisaster recovery or loss or misappropriatiooustomer
confidential information

» we may face regulatory exposure in certain areels as data privacy, data security and export canpé, as well as
workforce reduction claims as a result of custontienssferring their IT functions to u

+ the laws and regulations applicable to hosted semioviders are unsettled, particularly in theaaref privacy and
security and use of global resources; changesesetlaws could affect our ability to provide seegiérom or to some
locations and could increase both the costs akd associated with providing the servic

» demand for these services may be affected by cestantd media concerns about security risks, intiemmal transfer:
of data, government or other tr-party access to datand/oruse of outsourced services providers more genegail

* our offerings may require large fixed costs sucfoaslata centers, computers, network infrastrecturd security and
we may not be able to generate sufficient revetwesfset these costs and generate acceptabletioygenaargins
from these offerings

We might experience significant errors or securftgws in our products and servicesDespite testing prior to their
release, software products frequently contain srooisecurity flaws, especially when first introdder when new versions
are released. The detection and correction of aoyrity flaws can be time consuming and costlyoEsrin our software
products could affect the ability of our produaisatork with other hardware or software productsjldalelay the
development or release of new products or new messof products and could adversely affect marke¢ptance of our
products. If we experience errors or delays inasley new products or new versions of productscoudd lose revenues. In
addition, we run our own business operations, @réei Demand, CRM On Demand and other outsourcingces, suppol
and consulting services, on our products and n&svand any security flaws, if exploited, could atfeur ability to conduc
internal business operations. End users, who elyur products and services for applications thataitical to their
businesses, may have a greater sensitivity to ptagvors and security vulnerabilities than custmier software products
generally. Software product errors and securityw$lin our products or services could expose usdduyzt liability,
performance and/or warranty claims as well as haunreputation, which could impact our future saleéproducts and
services. In addition, we may be legally requiregublicly report security breaches of our servijedsich could adversely
impact future business prospects for those services

We may not receive significant revenues from ourri@nt research and development efforts for seveyahrs, if at all.
Developing and localizing software is expensind the investment in product development often lve®
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a long return on investment cycle. We have madeesapéct to continue to make significant investmamtsoftware resear
and development and related product opportunifieselerated product introductions and short proditeetycles require
high levels of expenditures for research and dewetnt that could adversely affect our operatingltesf not offset by
revenue increases. We believe that we must contindedicate a significant amount of resourcesutoresearch and
development efforts to maintain our competitiveippais. However, we do not expect to receive siguifit revenues from
these investments for several years if at all.

Our sales to government clients subject us to rigkduding early termination, audits, investigatian sanctions and
penalties. We derive revenues from contracts with the Un8tates government, state and local governmentthaird
respective agencies, which may terminate mostaxfdltontracts at any time, without cause.

There is increased pressure for governments amdatencies, both domestically and internationatiyseduce spending.
Our federal government contracts are subject t@pipeoval of appropriations being made by the Wh&tates Congress to
fund the expenditures under these contracts. Similaur contracts at the state and local levedssaibject to government
funding authorizations.

Additionally, government contracts are generallgjsat to audits and investigations which could tesuvarious civil and
criminal penalties and administrative sanctionsluding termination of contracts, refund of a pamtof fees received,
forfeiture of profits, suspension of payments, $ieed suspensions or debarment from future governbusiness.

Business disruptions could affect our operating tas. A significant portion of our research and devebent activities
and certain other critical business operation®igentrated in a few geographic areas. We arerdytégitomated business
and a disruption or failure of our systems couldseadelays in completing sales and providing sesyimcluding some of
our On Demand offerings. A major earthquake, firether catastrophic event that results in therdesibn or disruption of
any of our critical business or information tectogyl systems could severely affect our ability tadwct normal business
operations and, as a result, our future operasisglts could be materially and adversely affected.

There are risks associated with our outstanding @titedness. As of May 31, 2008, we had an aggregate of $illian

of outstanding indebtedness that will mature betw2@09 and 2038, and we may incur additional ineldtss in the futur
Our ability to pay interest and repay the princifgellour indebtedness is dependent upon our aliditpanage our business
operations, generate sufficient cash flows to sersuch debt and the other factors discussedsrs#ution. There can be no
assurance that we will be able to manage any skthisks successfully.

We may also need to refinance a portion of ourtanting debt as it matures. There is a risk thamag not be able to
refinance existing debt or that the terms of affipamcing may not be as favorable as the termsipegisting debt.
Furthermore, if prevailing interest rates or otfaators at the time of refinancing result in higherest rates upon
refinancing, then the interest expense relatinbao refinanced indebtedness would increase. litiaddchanges by any
rating agency to our outlook or credit rating con&djatively affect the value of both our debt aquity securities. These
risks could adversely affect our financial conditand results of operations.

Adverse litigation results could affect our busirge: We are subject to various legal proceedingsgaiton can be lengthy,
expensive and disruptive to our operations, andltsesannot be predicted with certainty. An advetseision could result
monetary damages or injunctive relief that coufé@four business, operating results or finanaaldition. Additional
information regarding certain of the lawsuits we gavolved in is discussed under Note 15 in NodeSdnsolidated
Financial Statements.

We may have exposure to additional tax liabilitie#As a multinational corporation, we are subjedntmme taxes as well
as non-income based taxes, in both the United Staite various foreign jurisdictions. Significantigument is required in
determining our worldwide provision for income taxand other tax liabilities.

In the ordinary course of a global business, tlageemany intercompany transactions and calculatidree the ultimate tax
determination is uncertain. We are regularly uraietit by tax authorities. Our intercompany trangigecing is currently
being reviewed by the IRS and by foreign tax judgdns and will likely be subject to additionaldits in the future. We
previously negotiated three unilateral AdvanceiRggreements with the IRS
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that cover many of our intercompany transfer pgassues and preclude the IRS from making a trapsfeing adjustment
within the scope of these agreements. These agreeme effective for fiscal years through May 3006. We have
submitted to the IRS a request for renewal of Adgance Pricing Agreement for the years ending I8hy2007 through
May 31, 2011. However, these agreements do notr @velements of our transfer pricing and do niatitax authorities
outside the United States. We have finalized otegdyal Advance Pricing Agreement, which was effecfor the years
ending May 31, 2002 through May 31, 2006 and weelsbomitted a renewal for the years ending May280y through
May 31, 2011. We currently are negotiating an adid#l bilateral agreement to cover the period fthme 1, 2001 through
May 31, 2008. There can be no guarantee that segttiations will result in an agreement.

Although we believe that our tax estimates areaealsle, there is no assurance that the final dé@tetion of tax audits or
tax disputes will not be different from what islesfted in our historical income tax provisions atdruals.

We are also subject to non-income based taxes,agiphyroll, sales, use, value-added, net wortipgsty and goods and
services taxes, in both the United States and waiffioreign jurisdictions. We are regularly undediaby tax authorities
with respect to these non-income based taxes agchenee exposure to additional non-income basedlabiities. Our
acquisition activities have increased our non-inedrased tax exposures.

PeopleSofs Customer Assurance Program may expose us to sl liabilities if triggered. In June 2003, in response
to our tender offer, PeopleSoft implemented whegfierred to as the “customer assurance prografCAP”. The CAP
incorporated a provision in PeopleSoft’'s standeehising arrangement that purports to contractumallglen us, as a result
of our acquisition of PeopleSoft, with a contingehtigation to make payments to PeopleSoft custersleould we fail to
take certain business actions for a fixed periotino¢ after this acquisition. The payment obligafiahich typically expires
four years from the date of the contract, is fis¢@n amount generally between two and five tiheditense and first year
support fees paid to PeopleSoft in the applicabnke transaction. We concluded that, as of theafahe PeopleSoft
acquisition, the penalty provisions under the CApresented a contingent liability of ours. The aggte potential CAP
obligation as of May 31, 2008 was $1.9 billion. Soaf the CAP provisions have expired or have bearored from these
license arrangements. We expect the significanoritgjof the remaining CAP provisions to expirethg end of calendar
2008. While we have taken extensive steps to assistemers that we intend to continue developirdysupporting the
PeopleSoft and JD Edwards product lines and, &a9f31, 2008, we have not received any claims #P@ayments,
PeopleSoft customers may assert claims for CAP pagan

Our stock price could become more volatile and yawestment could lose valueAll of the factors discussed in this
section could affect our stock price. The timingaohouncements in the public market regarding maduyzts, product
enhancements or technological advances by our diiorgeor us, and any announcements by us of aitignis, major
transactions, or management changes could alstt affie stock price. Our stock price is subjectgeaulation in the press
and the analyst community, changes in recommengato earnings estimates by financial analystghsiin investorsor
analysts’ valuation measures for our stock, ouditratings and market trends unrelated to ourgearnce. A significant
drop in our stock price could also expose us taisieof securities class actions lawsuits, whiohld result in substantial
costs and divert management’s attention and ressuwehich could adversely affect our business.

Iltem 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

None.

Item 2. Properties

Our properties consist of owned and leased officdifies for sales, support, research and devedspintonsulting and
administrative personnel. Our headquarters fadilitysists of approximately 2.0 million square feeRedwood City,
California. We also own or lease office facilities current use consisting of approximately 17.9iam square feet in
various other locations in the United States amrdath Due to our restructuring and merger integnadictivities over the
past three fiscal years, we have vacated appro&lynat8 million square feet
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or 19% of total owned and leased space. This vdegtace is sublet or is being actively marketeddnlease or
disposition.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

The material set forth in Note 15 of Notes to Cdidsted Financial Statements in Item 15 of this AalnReport on
Form 10-K is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holder:

None.
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PART Il

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Isuer Purchases o

Equity Securities

Our common stock is traded on the NASDAQ Globake8&eMarket under the symbol “ORCL” and has beededa
on NASDAQ since our initial public offering in 198Bccording to the records of our transfer ager,had 20,505
stockholders of record as of May 31, 2008. Theofeihg table sets forth the low and high sale pdteur common
stock, based on the last daily sale, in each ofamireight fiscal quarters.

Fiscal 2008 Fiscal 2007
Low Sale High Sale Low Sale High Sale
Price Price Price Price
Fourth Quarte $ 18.4$% 22.8:% 16.31% 19.4:
Third Quartel $ 18.8($ 23.11$ 16.2¢$ 19.2¢
Second Quarte $ 19.3¢$ 22.9:$ 15.5(% 19.6¢€
First Quarte! $ 18.7: % 20.7¢$ 13.1t$ 15.81

Our policy has been to reinvest earnings to funidréugrowth, acquisitions and to repurchase ourrsomstock
pursuant to a program approved by our Board ofdBars. Accordingly, we have not paid cash divideads do not
anticipate declaring cash dividends on our comntocksn the foreseeable future, although our Badrirectors

reviews this matter from time to time.

For equity compensation plan information, pleagerr® Item 12 in Part IIl of this Annual Report.

Stock Repurchase Progran

Our Board of Directors has approved a program panehase shares of our common stock to reduceiltitevel
effect of our stock option and stock purchase plam#é\pril 2007, our Board of Directors expanded oepurchase
program by $4.0 billion and, as of May 31, 2008 2#3llion was available for share repurchasesyamsto our

stock repurchase program.

Our stock repurchase authorization does not hawxpination date and the pace of our repurchaseitsiawill
depend on factors such as our working capital nemdscash requirements for acquisitions, our depayment
obligations, our stock price, and economic and eiacknditions. Our stock repurchases may be efidcben time
to time through open market purchases or purswaamtRule 10b5-1 plan. Our stock repurchase prognambe

accelerated, suspended, delayed or discontinusuyaime.

The following table summarizes the stock repurclasizity for the three months ending May 31, 2@08 the
approximate dollar value of shares that may ygiurehased pursuant to our share repurchase programs

Total Number of Approximate Dollar

Total Number Average  Shares Purchased a Value of Shares that
of Shares  Price Paid Part of Publicly May Yet Be Purchased
(in millions, except per share amounts) Purchased  per Share Announced Programs Under the Programs
March 1, 200—March 31, 200¢ 8.1% 19.6: 8.1% 2,550.¢
April 1, 200¢—April 30, 2008 8.4% 20.8i 8.4% 2,376.:
May 1, 200—May 31, 200¢ 7.€$ 21.8¢ 7.€%$ 2,209.
Total 24.1$ 20.7¢ 24.1
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Stock Performance Graph and Cumulative Total Rett

The graph below compares the cumulative total $tolcler return on our common stock with the cumuéatbtal return on
the S&P’s 500 Index and the Dow Jones U.S. Softwadex for each of the last five fiscal years entitay 31, 2008,
assuming an investment of $100 at the beginnirguch period and the reinvestment of any dividefitie.comparisons in
the graphs below are based upon historical datasndot indicative of, nor intended to forecastiife performance of our
common stock.

COMPARISON OF 5-YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN*
AMONG ORACLE CORPORATION, THE S&P 500 INDEX
AND THE DOW JONES U.S. SOFTWARE INDEX

s I Ol s

503 S0 RS ) = vy =i

—— Ciada Corporatian — k- -SaP 500 Indes - Dow Jores LS. Saftears I'l'“hl

*$100 INVESTED ON MAY 31, 2003 IN STOCK OR
INDEX-INCLUDING REINVESTMENT OF DIVIDENDS.

5/03 5/04 5/05 5/06 5/07 5/08
Oracle Corporatiol 100.0C 87.6z 98.3¢ 109.3( 148.9¢ 175.5¢
S&P 500 Indey 100.0C 118.3: 128.07 139.1: 170.8¢ 159.4(
Dow Jones U.S. Software Ind 100.0C 109.2: 119.4¢ 113.6¢ 151.0¢ 149.9¢
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Iltem 6. Selected Financial Data

The following table sets forth selected financialadas of and for the last five fiscal years. Heikected financial data sho
be read in conjunction with the consolidated finahstatements and related notes included in I1tBrofthis

Form 10-K. Over the last four fiscal years, we hawested billions of dollars, including $9.4 hilfi in fiscal 2008, for our
acquisitions of a number of companies includingdhe®oft, BEA, Siebel and Hyperion. The results wf acquired
companies have been included in our consolidatehiial statements since their respective datasapfisition and have
contributed to our growth in revenues, income aathiags per share.

As of and For The Year Ended May 31,

(in millions, except per share amounts) 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004
Consolidated Statements of Operations Datz

Total revenue $22,43( $17,99¢ $14,38( $11,79¢ $10,15¢
Operating incom $ 7,84« $ 5,97« $ 4,73¢ $ 4,022 $ 3,86¢
Net income $ 5,521 $ 4,27¢ $ 3,381 $ 2,88¢ $ 2,681
Earnings per sha—basic $ 1.0¢ $ 0.8¢ $ 0.6f $ 0.5€ $ 0.51
Earnings per sha—diluted $ 1.0¢€ $ 0.81 $ 0.64 $ 0.5t $ 0.5C
Basic weighted average common shares outstal 5,132 5,17( 5,19¢ 5,13¢ 5,21¢
Diluted weighted average common shares outstar 5,22¢ 5,26¢ 5,287 5,231 5,32¢
Consolidated Balance Sheets Dati

Working capital $ 8,07« $ 3,49¢ $ 50441 $ 3852 $ 7,06¢
Total asset $47,263 $34,570B) $29,02®d $20,681) $12,76:
Notes payable, current and other current borrow $ 1,000 $ 1,35¢9 $ 15¢ $ 2,699 $ 9
Notes payable and other r-current borrowing: $10,23) $ 6,2355 $ 5,734 §$§ 15¢ $ 16:
Stockholder' equity $23,02¢ $16,91¢ $ 15,012 $ 10,837 $ 7,99¢

(1) Total working capital increased as of May 31, 2p@iénarily due to the issuance of $5.75 billion am$j-term senior notes and increased cash flows
from operations
@ Total working capital decreased as of May 31, 2p0arily due to cash paid to acquire People

(3) Total assets increased as of May 31, 2008, 20@% a6d 2005 primarily due to goodwill and intangibksets arising from the acquisitions of BEA in
fiscal 2008, Hyperion in fiscal 2007, Siebel incBi$ 2006 and PeopleSoft in fiscal 2005, as webtwasprofitability in all periods presented. See &t
of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements diliteonal information on our acquisitior

(4) Notes payable, current and other current borrowitegseased in fiscal 2008 due to repayments of atadworrowed under our commercial pa
program during fiscal 2007 partially offset by teelassification of $1.0 billion of senior notestimature in 2009. Notes payable, current and other
current borrowings increased in fiscal 2005 duartmunts borrowed under our commercial paper progmaanamounts borrowed by Oracle
Technology Company, a who-owned subsidiary. We repaid these fiscal 2005 lvangs in fiscal 2006

(5) Notes payable and other r-current borrowings increased between fiscal 2G@bfiscal 2008 due to the issuances of $5.0 biliblong-term senior
notes in fiscal 2008, $2.0 billion of long-term 8@motes in fiscal 2007 and $5.75 billion of loteym senior notes in fiscal 2006, partially offegt
redemptions of $1.5 billion in fiscal 2007. See &l6tof Notes to Consolidated Financial Statemertadditional information on our borrowing

Item 7. Managemen’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition ahResults of Operations

We begin Management’s Discussion and Analysis oaf¢ial Condition and Results of Operations wittoaarview of our
key operating business segments and significamti$teT his overview is followed by a summary of ortitical accounting
policies and estimates that we believe are impbttannderstanding the assumptions and judgmeaotsporated in our
reported financial results. We then provide a nawtiled analysis of our results of operations famehcial condition.

We are the world’s largest enterprise software camgpWe are organized into two businesses, softamgeservices, which
are further divided into five operating segmentaciEof these operating segments has unique chastickeeand faces
different opportunities and challenges. Althoughregort our actual results in U.S. Dollars, we agidh significant
number of transactions in currencies other than Ddlars. Therefore, we present constant currémimymation to provide
a framework for assessing how our underlying bissiperformed excluding the effect of foreign cucserate fluctuations.
An overview of our five operating segments follows.
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Software Busines

Our software business is comprised of two operaeggments: (1) new software license revenues grab{Rvare license
updates and product support revenues. We expdaiihaoftware business revenues will continuatogase due to
continued demand for our products and due to oguiaitions, which should allow us to improve masyand profits and
continue to make investments in research and denedat.

New Software License: We license our database and middleware as welliaapplications software to businesses of
many sizes, government agencies, educationalutistis and resellers. The growth in new softwarerise revenues is
affected by the strength of general economic arsihiess conditions, governmental budgetary consgiaime competitive
position of our software products and acquisitiddgr new software license business is also charaeteby long sales
cycles. The timing of a few large software licetremsactions can substantially affect our quarteely software license
revenues. Since our new software license revemuaparticular quarter can be difficult to predista result of the timing
a few large software license transactions, we beltbat analysis of new software license revenues ailing

4-quarter period (as provided in our quarterly regpon Form 10-Q) provides additional visibilityanthe underlying
performance of our new software license businessv Bbftware license revenues represented 34%, 8898496 of our
total revenues in fiscal 2008, 2007 and 2006, respdy. Our new software license margins have kamhwill continue to
be affected by the amortization of intangible assssociated with companies we have acquired.

Competition in the software business is intense.@oal is to maintain a first or second positioreach of our software
product categories and certain industry segmentgeisas to grow our software revenues faster thancompetitors. We
believe that the features and functionality of software products are as strong as they have eegr. WWe have focused on
lowering the total cost of ownership of our softer@roducts by improving integration, decreasinggaithetion times,
lowering administration costs and improving theeeafuse. In addition, our broad portfolio of pratiofferings (many of
which have been acquired over the past four figeats) helps us to offer customers the abilityaim gfficiencies by
consolidating their IT “software stack” with a slagendor, which reduces the number of dispardtevace vendors with
which customers interact. Reducing the total cbstmership of our products provides our customgtl a higher return
on their IT investments, which we believe createsendemand for our products and services and peevid with a
competitive advantage. We have also continueddosf@n improving the overall quality of our soft@groducts and
service levels. We believe this will lead to highastomer satisfaction and loyalty and help usea@hour goal of becoming
our customers’ leading technology advisor.

Software License Updates and Product Suppt Customers that purchase software license updatbproduct support a
granted rights to unspecified product upgradesmaaititenance releases issued during the suppoddhes well as
technical support assistance. In addition, we difieacle Unbreakable Linux Support, which providetegprise level
support for the Linux operating system and, indis2008, we introduced support for Oracle VM semigualization
software. Substantially all of our customers retlegir software license updates and product sugmortracts annually. The
growth of software license updates and product sdppvenues is primarily influenced by three fast@l) the renewal ra
of the support contract base, (2) the amount of sigeport contracts sold in connection with the séileew software
licenses, and (3) the support contract base assfroraccompanies we have acquired.

Software license updates and product support regenuhich represented 46% of our total revenuéiséal 2008, 2007 ar
2006, is our highest margin business unit. Suppargins during fiscal 2008 were 85%, and accoufue@6% of our total
margins over the same period. We believe that sséilicense updates and product support revenuemargins will
continue to grow for the following reasons:

» Substantially all of our customers, including cusérs from acquired companies, renew their supmortracts when
eligible for renewal

» Substantially all of our customers purchase licans#ates and product support contracts when thgybw software
licenses, resulting in a further increase in oynpsut contract base. Even if new software liceesemnue growth was
flat, software license updates and product supgoeenues would continue to grow assuming renewdglkancellatiol
rates remained relatively constant since substhntithnew software license transactions add tosupport contract
base
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» Our acquisitions have increased our support conli@se, as well as the portfolio of products atdéldao be licensec

We record adjustments to reduce support obligaisssmed in business acquisitions to their esturfaie values at the
acquisition dates. As a result, as required byrtassi combination accounting rules, we did not reizegsoftware license
updates and product support revenues related fosugontracts that would have been otherwise dexbby the acquired
businesses as independent entities in the amo@it7® million, $212 million and $391 million in Gal 2008, 2007 and
2006, respectively. To the extent underlying suppontracts are renewed with us following an adtjars, we will
recognize the revenues for the full value of thepsut contracts over the support periods, the nigjof which are one yee

Services Busines

Our services business consists of consulting, Onddel and education. Our services business, whpresented 20%, 21
and 20% of our total revenues in fiscal 2008, 280d 2006, respectively, has significantly lower gias than our software
business.

Consulting: Consulting revenues have increased primarilytdusn increase in application implementations tesyfrom
higher sales of new software applications overpidis year and our recent acquisitions. We expetudting revenues to
continue to grow as consulting revenues tend tetdiyvare revenues by several quarters since dimgskervices, if
purchased, are typically performed after the pusetaf new software licenses and our new softwaemgie growth rates
have generally increased over the last severatepsan comparison to the corresponding prior yeaiods.

On Demand: On Demand includes Oracle On Demand, CRM on Depasiwell as Advanced Customer Services
offerings. We believe that our On Demand offeripgsvide our customers flexibility in how they maeageir IT
environments and an additional opportunity to lotheir total cost of ownership and can therefomjae us with a
competitive advantage. We have made and plan tineento make investments in our On Demand busitzesspport
current and future revenue growth, which has negigtimpacted On Demand margins and may continw®tso in the
future.

Education: The purpose of our education services is to &irthe adoption and usage of our software productsur
customers and to create opportunities to grow ofiwsre revenues. Education revenues have beerctetphy personnel
reductions in our customers’ information technoladgpartments, tighter controls over discretionagmnsling and greater
use of outsourcing solutions. However, educatimemees and expenses have increased in recent p@riodmparison to
the corresponding periods of the prior year asaltref additional education offerings related to acquired products.

Acquisitions

An active acquisition program is another importalement of our corporate strategy. Over the last fiscal years, we have
invested billions of dollars, including $9.4 bilfian fiscal 2008, to acquire a number of complermgntompanies, produc
services and technologies such as BEA Systemsinifiscal 2008, Hyperion Solutions Corporatiorfistal 2007, Siebel
Systems, Inc. in fiscal 2006 and PeopleSoft, Indisical 2005. We believe our acquisition prograrqpports our long-term
strategic direction, strengthens our competitivsifimn, expands our customer base, provides grsatde to accelerate
innovation, grows our revenues and earnings, acreéases stockholder value. We expect to continaedaire companies,
products, services and technologies. See NoteNbtas to Consolidated Financial Statements fortewtdil information
related to our recent acquisitions.

We believe we can fund additional acquisitions waitin internally available cash, cash equivalentsraarketable securitie
cash generated from operations, amounts availatulerwour existing debt capacity, additional bormgys or from the
issuance of additional securities. We estimatditfancial impact of any potential acquisition witgard to earnings,
operating margin, cash flow and return on investguital targets before deciding to move forwarchwaib acquisition.
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Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our consolidated financial statements are preparadcordance with U.S. generally accepted accogmtiinciples
(GAAP). These accounting principles require us tikencertain estimates, judgments and assumptioasélieve that the
estimates, judgments and assumptions upon whialelyw@re reasonable based upon information availbus at the time
that these estimates, judgments and assumptiomsae. These estimates, judgments and assumpéareffect the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities asefitite of the financial statements as well asaperted amounts of
revenues and expenses during the periods presditede extent there are material differences betwhese estimates,
judgments or assumptions and actual results, nanéiial statements will be affected. The accounpiiicies that reflec
our more significant estimates, judgments and apsons and which we believe are the most critioait! in fully
understanding and evaluating our reported finamewllts include the following:

» Revenue Recognitic

» Business Combinatior

» Goodwill and Intangible Asse—Impairment Assessmer
» Accounting for Income Taxe

» Legal and Other Contingenci

» Stocl-Based Compensatic

+ Allowances for Doubtful Account

In many cases, the accounting treatment of a pdati¢ransaction is specifically dictated by GAARJadoes not require
management’s judgment in its application. Thereadse areas in which management’s judgment in Seteamong
available alternatives would not produce a matgriifferent result. Our senior management hasengei these critical
accounting policies and related disclosures withRmance and Audit Committee of the Board of Divex:

Revenue Recoghnitio

We derive revenues from the following sources:s@fjware, which includes new software license afthare license
updates and product support revenues, and (2xssrwivhich include consulting, On Demand and edutagvenues.

New software license revenues represent fees efnaradgranting customers licenses to use our datghbaiddleware an
applications software, and exclude revenues deffrnoed software license updates, which are includesbftware license
updates and product support. While the basis fitwaoe license revenue recognition is substantigdlyerned by the
provisions of Statement of Position (SOP) No. 9%&ftware Revenue Recognitiogsued by the American Institute of
Certified Public Accountants, we exercise judgmamd use estimates in connection with the deterioinaf the amount of
software and services revenues to be recognizeddh accounting period.

For software license arrangements that do not regignificant modification or customization of thederlying software,
we recoghize new software license revenue wherwél@nter into a legally binding arrangement wittuatomer for the
license of software; (2) we deliver the produc8;dustomer payment is deemed fixed or determinatdiefree of
contingencies or significant uncertainties; ando@l)ection is probable. Substantially all of owwnsoftware license
revenues are recognized in this manner.

The vast majority of our software license arrangaiménclude software license updates and prodymiat, which are
recognized ratably over the term of the arrangemgpically one year. Software license updates igl@¢ustomers with
rights to unspecified software product upgradesntanance releases and patches released duritgrthef the support
period. Product support includes internet accessdonical content, as well as internet and telaptaccess to technical
support personnel located in our global supportarzenSoftware license updates and product suppergenerally priced as
a percentage of the net new software license fdsstantially all of our customers purchase boftwswe license updates
and product support when they acquire new softlesases. In addition, substantially all of our tcusers renew their
software license updates and product support octsteannually.
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Many of our software arrangements include consyllimplementation services sold separately undeswting engageme
contracts. Consulting revenues from these arrangenage generally accounted for separately from saftware license
revenues because the arrangements qualify as séraisactions as defined in SOP 97-2. The morsfisignt factors
considered in determining whether the revenue shibellaccounted for separately include the natusefices (i.e.,
consideration of whether the services are essdantthk functionality of the licensed product), degyof risk, availability of
services from other vendors, timing of paymentsiamghct of milestones or acceptance criteria orrdladéizability of the
software license fee. Revenues for consulting sesvare generally recognized as the services diamped. If there is a
significant uncertainty about the project completdr receipt of payment for the consulting servicesenues are deferred
until the uncertainty is sufficiently resolved. Wstimate the proportional performance on contradts fixed or “not to
exceed” fees on a monthly basis utilizing hoursiined to date as a percentage of total estimatacshio complete the
project. If we do not have a sufficient basis tcasee progress towards completion, revenue is réoed) when we receive
final acceptance from the customer. When total esSinates exceed revenues, we accrue for theagstinosses
immediately using cost estimates that are based apaverage fully burdened daily rate applicabléhné consulting
organization delivering the services. The complegitthe estimation process and factors relatingpéoassumptions, risks
and uncertainties inherent with the applicatiothef proportional performance method of accountiifgcts the amounts of
revenues and related expenses reported in our lidetea financial statements. A number of interauad external factors
can affect our estimates, including labor rateitization and efficiency variances and specificatand testing requirement
changes.

If an arrangement does not qualify for separatewauiing of the software license and consultingdeations, then new
software license revenues are generally recognaggether with the consulting services based onraohaiccounting using
either the percentage-of-completion or completentremt method. Contract accounting is applied famangements:

(1) that include milestones or customer specifieatance criteria that may affect collection of shétware license fees;
(2) where services include significant modificatmmcustomization of the software; (3) where sigaift consulting servic
are provided for in the software license contraith@ut additional charge or are substantially disted; or (4) where the
software license payment is tied to the performaria®nsulting services.

On Demand is comprised of Oracle On Demand, CRMD@&mand and Advanced Customer Services. Oracle @rabé
provides multi-featured software and hardware mament and maintenance services for our databadd|ewiare and
applications software delivered either at our datater facilities, at select partner data centeet oustomer facilities. CRI
On Demand is a service offering that provides aust@mers with our Siebel CRM software functionatiglivered via a
hosted solution that we manage. Advanced Customrmic®s are earned by providing customers conftgamrand
performance analysis, personalized support andammasite technical services. Revenue from On Dehs®rvices is
recognized over the term of the service periodctvig generally one year.

Education revenues include instructor-led, medsedaand internet-based training in the use of cadlycts. Education
revenues are recognized as the classes or otheatemuofferings are delivered.

For arrangements with multiple elements, we allcavenue to each element of a transaction basaditgpfair value as
determined by “vendor specific objective evidendéehdor specific objective evidence of fair valoe &ll elements of an
arrangement is based upon the normal pricing aswbditing practices for those products and servides sold separate
and for software license updates and product stgpovices is also measured by the renewal raggeaffto the customer.
We may modify our pricing practices in the futundich could result in changes in our vendor spedfijective evidence
fair value for these undelivered elements. As altesur future revenue recognition for multiplemlent arrangements co
differ significantly from our historical results.

We defer revenues for any undelivered elementsregmhnize revenues when the product is deliverewer the period in
which the service is performed, in accordance withrevenue recognition policy for each such eleméme cannot
objectively determine the fair value of any undetid element included in bundled software and ser@irangements, we
defer revenues until all elements are deliveredsandices have been performed, or until fair valae objectively be
determined for any remaining undelivered elemémsen the fair value of a delivered element hasheei established, we
use the residual method to record revenue if thev&ue of all undelivered
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elements is determinable. Under the residual metedfair value of the undelivered elements ided and the
remaining portion of the arrangement fee is alleddb the delivered elements and is recognizee\asiue.

Substantially all of our software license arrangetaelo not include acceptance provisions. Howefacceptance
provisions exist as part of public policy, for exalmin agreements with government entities wherptzace
periods are required by law, or within previouskgeuted terms and conditions that are referencéueicurrent
agreement and are short-term in nature, we gepeemlbgnize revenues upon delivery provided thegizace
terms are perfunctory and all other revenue redimgncriteria have been met. If acceptance prowisiare not
perfunctory (for example, acceptance provisionsdin@ long-term in nature or are not included aadsrd terms of
an arrangement), revenues are recognized uporatheref receipt of written customer acceptancexpiration of
the acceptance period.

We also evaluate arrangements with governmentaileantontaining “fiscal funding” or “terminatiorof
convenience” provisions, when such provisions aggired by law, to determine the probability of gibte
cancellation. We consider multiple factors, inchglthe history with the customer in similar tran&ats, the
“essential use” of the software licenses and thanghg, budgeting and approval processes undertakéme
governmental entity. If we determine upon executibthese arrangements that the likelihood of chetien is
remote, we then recognize revenues once all ofriteria described above have been met. If suckterchination
cannot be made, revenues are recognized upontie ehcash receipt or approval of the applicdbileding
provision by the governmental entity.

We assess whether fees are fixed or determinathe ditme of sale and recognize revenues if akkothvenue
recognition requirements are met. Our standard payterms are net 30 days. However, payment teraysvary
based on the country in which the agreement isiggdc Payments that are due within six months aneiglly
deemed to be fixed or determinable based on owesstul collection history on such arrangementd,thareby
satisfy the required criteria for revenue recogniti

While most of our arrangements include short-teaynpent terms, we have a standard practice of prayiong-
term financing to credit worthy customers througin financing division. Since fiscal 1989, when @inancing
division was formed, we have established a histbigollection, without concessions, on these reaiales with
payment terms that generally extend up to five y&am the contract date. Provided all other reeercognition
criteria have been met, we recognize new softweease revenues for these arrangements upon dglivetrof any
payment discounts from financing transactions. \&eetgenerally sold receivables financed throughfioancing
division on a non-recourse basis to third partaricing institutions. We account for the sale obtheeceivables as
“true sales” as defined in FASB Statement No. Jounting for Transfers and Servicing of Finandakets and
Extinguishments of Liabilitie.

Our customers include several of our suppliers@ntare occasion, we have purchased goods or ssrfac our
operations from these vendors at or about the $mnecthat we have licensed our software to theseesaompanies
(Concurrent Transaction). Software license agreésrtbat occur within a three-month time period fribra date we
have purchased goods or services from that sanenceisare reviewed for appropriate accounting tneat and
disclosure. When we acquire goods or services Ea@mstomer, we negotiate the purchase separatetydny
software license transaction, at terms we consalbe at arns length, and settle the purchase in cash. We nize
new software license revenues from Concurrent Beimns if all of our revenue recognition criteai@ met and tr
goods and services acquired are necessary fouotent operations.

Business Combination

In accordance with Financial Accounting Standardar (FASB) Statement No. 14Business Combinationae
allocate the purchase price of acquired companiéisettangible and intangible assets acquirediabdities
assumed as well as to in-process research andogeveht based upon their estimated fair valueseaatiquisition
date. The purchase price allocation process regmanagement to make significant estimates ancdrgdsns,
especially at acquisition date with respect torigthle assets, support obligations assumed, egttmastructuring
liabilities and pre-acquisition contingencies.
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Although we believe the assumptions and estimatehave made in the past have been reasonable prapepte,
they are based in part on historical experienceigfiodmation obtained from the management of thguaed
companies and are inherently uncertain. Examplesitidal estimates in valuing certain of the irgéie assets we
have acquired or may acquire in the future inclodeare not limited to:

« future expected cash flows from software licendessaupport agreements, consulting contractsy othe
customer contracts and acquired developed techieslegd patent:

» expected costs to develop the in-process reseacttevelopment into commercially viable productd an
estimated cash flows from the projects when coragl

« the acquired company’s brand and competitive pmsiths well as assumptions about the period of tivee
acquired brand will continue to be used in the cioidb compan’s product portfolio; an

» discount rates

Unanticipated events and circumstances may occiahwhay affect the accuracy or validity of suchuasptions,
estimates or actual results.

In connection with the purchase price allocatiarsour acquisitions, we estimate the fair valu¢éhefsupport
obligations assumed. The estimated fair value @ftipport obligations is determined utilizing atcos

build-up approach. The cost build-up approach datess fair value by estimating the costs relatefilifiling the
obligations plus a normal profit margin. The estiatbcosts to fulfill the support obligations areéd on the
historical direct costs related to providing theort services and to correct any errors in thenswe products
acquired. The sum of these costs and operatingt ppgfroximates, in theory, the amount that we \adaé required
to pay a third party to assume the support obligatiwe do not include any costs associated wilmgegfforts or
research and development or the related fulfillnmatgins on these costs. Profit associated withsailing efforts
is excluded because the acquired entities woulé baucluded those selling efforts on the suppartrects prior to
the acquisition date. We also do not include theneded research and development costs in ouvéire
determinations, as these costs are not deemegresent a legal obligation at the time of acquiniti

As a result, we did not recognize software licamzgates and product support revenues related fmsugontracts
in the amounts of $179 million, $212 million and®3million that would have been otherwise recorbdedhe
acquired businesses as independent entities &l 2808, 2007 and 2006, respectively. Historicadlyhstantially all
of our customers, including customers from acqua@ahpanies, renew their contracts when the comstiaet eligibl
for renewal. To the extent these underlying suppontracts are renewed, we will recognize the ragerior the ful
value of the support contracts over the suppoibgsy the substantial majority of which are oneryea

Had we included costs for our estimated selling msgarch and development activities and the assocmargin
for unspecified product upgrades and enhancemefts provided under our assumed support arrangsntbatfait
values of the support obligations would have bégmnificantly higher than what we had recorded ardwould
have recorded a higher amount of software licepsaies and product support revenues both histlyriaadtl in
future periods related to these assumed suppamngements.

Other significant estimates associated with th@awting for business combinations include restnirgucosts.
Restructuring costs are typically comprised of sawee costs, costs of consolidating duplicateit&sliand contract
termination costs. Restructuring expenses are hgsenl plans that have been committed to by managgimet are
generally subject to refinement during the purchasm allocation period (generally within one yeéthe
acquisition date). To estimate restructuring expensmanagement utilizes assumptions of the nunflEmployees
that would be involuntarily terminated and of figwosts to operate and eventually vacate duplfeatities.
Estimated restructuring expenses may change asgmaeat executes the approved plan. Decreases toshe
estimates of executing the currently approved péaseciated with pre-merger activities of the congmwe
acquire are recorded as an adjustment to goodwdififinitely, whereas increases to the estimatesea@ded as an
adjustment to goodwill during the purchase pridecaltion period and as operating expenses thereafte

For a given acquisition, we may identify certaie4aicquisition contingencies. If, during the purehpsce
allocation period, we are able to determine thevaiue of a pre-acquisition contingency, we wiltlude that
amount in the purchase price allocation. If, athefend of the purchase price allocation periodaveeunable to
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determine the fair value of a pre-acquisition cogincy, we will evaluate whether to include an antdnithe purchase
price allocation based on whether it is probalieldlity had been incurred and whether an amoant loe reasonably
estimated. With the exception of unresolved incoaxematters, after the end of the purchase prioeation period, any
adjustment to amounts recorded for a pre-acquis@@ntingency will be included in our operatinguiesin the period in
which the adjustment is determined.

In fiscal 2010, we will adopt FASB Statement NolX#evised 2007)Business CombinationdRefer to Note 1 of Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements for additionfarimation.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets—Impairment Assessiten

We review goodwill for impairment annually and wie&ar events or changes in circumstances indicataitying value
may not be recoverable in accordance with FASBe&taht No. 142Goodwill and Other Intangible Asset$he provisions
of Statement 142 require that a two-step impairnesttbe performed on goodwill. In the first steje, compare the fair
value of each reporting unit to its carrying val@eir reporting units are consistent with the regiae segments identified in
Note 13 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statamdhthe fair value of the reporting unit excedhs carrying value ¢

the net assets assigned to that unit, goodwibhisiclered not impaired and we are not requirectbopm further testing. If
the carrying value of the net assets assignecetogghorting unit exceeds the fair value of the répg unit, then we must
perform the second step of the impairment testdieoto determine the implied fair value of theagmg unit’s goodwill. If
the carrying value of a reporting unit's goodwiticeeds its implied fair value, then we would recandmpairment loss
equal to the difference.

Determining the fair value of a reporting unit itwes the use of significant estimates and assumgtibhese estimates and
assumptions include revenue growth rates and apgnaiargins used to calculate projected future ¢asVs, risk-adjusted
discount rates, future economic and market contiitend determination of appropriate market compasalVe base our
fair value estimates on assumptions we believeeteebsonable but that are unpredictable and intigramcertain. Actual
future results may differ from those estimatesaddition, we make certain judgments and assumptioaliocating shared
assets and liabilities to determine the carryingesfor each of our reporting units. Our most né@nual goodwiill
impairment analysis, which was performed duringftheth quarter of fiscal 2008, did not result mienpairment charge.

We make judgments about the recoverability of paseld intangible assets whenever events or chamgesumstances
indicate that an other than temporary impairmeng mast. Each period we evaluate the estimated iréntpuseful lives of
purchased intangible assets and whether eventsaoges in circumstances warrant a revision toghwining periods of
amortization. In accordance with FASB Statement NigL, Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Lonigdd
Assets, recoverability of these assets is measured bypaoison of the carrying amount of the asset tduhae
undiscounted cash flows the asset is expectedrtergte. If the asset is considered to be impaihedamount of any
impairment is measured as the difference betweenalrying value and the fair value of the impamsdet.

Assumptions and estimates about future valuesemdining useful lives of our intangible and othmrg-lived assets are
complex and subjective. They can be affected bgreety of factors, including external factors sashindustry and
economic trends, and internal factors such as asimgour business strategy and our internal fetecalthough we
believe the historical assumptions and estimatebave made are reasonable and appropriate, diffassamptions and
estimates could materially impact our reportedrizial results. We did not recognize any intangdsset impairment
charges in fiscal 2008, 2007 or 2006.

Accounting for Income Taxe:

Significant judgment is required in determining eorldwide income tax provision. In the ordinaryucse of a global
business, there are many transactions and calmgatvhere the ultimate tax outcome is uncertaimeéof these
uncertainties arise as a consequence of revendeglaad cost reimbursement arrangements amonigdedetities, the
process of identifying items of revenues and expgtisat qualify for preferential tax treatment, ardregation of foreign
and domestic earnings and expenses to avoid dtaxa&on. Although we believe that our estimatesraasonable, the
final tax outcome of these matters could be difiefeom that which is reflected in our
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historical income tax provisions and accruals. Sdifferences could have a material effect on oaoime tax provision and
net income in the period in which such determimattomade.

Our effective tax rate includes the impact of dartandistributed foreign earnings for which no Ut&es have been
provided because such earnings are planned tadeériitely reinvested outside the United StatesnRances of foreign
earnings to the U.S. are planned based on projeetgdflow, working capital and investment needswfforeign and
domestic operations. Based on these assumptionsstimeate the amount that will be distributed ® thS. and provide
U.S. federal taxes on these amounts. Material aimgour estimates could impact our effectivertds.

We record a valuation allowance to reduce our defetax assets to the amount that is more likedy thot to be realized. In
order for us to realize our deferred tax assetsywst be able to generate sufficient taxable incontkose jurisdictions
where the deferred tax assets are located. WedmnTsiture growth, forecasted earnings, futureltbxancome, the mix of
earnings in the jurisdictions in which we operatd arudent and feasible tax planning strategietetermining the need for
a valuation allowance. In the event we were tord@tee that we would not be able to realize all artf our net deferred
tax assets in the future, an adjustment to thereféax assets would be charged to earnings ipahed in which we make
such a determination. Likewise, if we later deteranthat it is more likely than not that the netedeffd tax assets would be
realized, we would reverse the applicable portibtihe previously provided valuation allowance.

We calculate our current and deferred tax provisiased on estimates and assumptions that coukt iéim the actual
results reflected in income tax returns filed dgrihe subsequent year. Adjustments based on &kedlns are generally
recorded in the period when the tax returns aeel #ind the global tax implications are known, wiidah materially impact
our effective tax rate.

The amount of income tax we pay is subject to amg@iudits by federal, state and foreign tax autiesriwhich often result
in proposed assessments. Our estimate of the @dteatcome for any uncertain tax issue is highlggmental. We believe
we have adequately provided for any reasonablysémable outcome related to these matters. Howewefuture results
may include favorable or unfavorable adjustmentsuioestimated tax liabilities in the period theessments are made or
resolved, audits are closed or when statutes dtidiion on potential assessments expire. Additign#he jurisdictions in
which our earnings or deductions are realized nitigrdrom our current estimates. As a result, efiective tax rate may
fluctuate significantly on a quarterly basis.

As part of our accounting for business combinatisese of the purchase price is allocated to gobdwil intangible
assets. Impairment charges associated with goodsilbenerally not tax deductible and will resalan increased effective
income tax rate in the quarter any impairment ¢®réded. Amortization expenses associated with aeduntangible assets
are generally not tax deductible pursuant to oistigrg tax structure; however, deferred taxes Haen recorded for non-
deductible amortization expenses as a part of thehpse price allocation process. We have takenaictount the allocatic
of these identified intangibles among differentitgqurisdictions, including those with nominal zgro percent tax rates, in
establishing the related deferred tax liabilitieeome tax contingencies existing as of the actioisdates of the acquired
companies are evaluated quarterly and any adjussnaea recorded as adjustments to goodwill.

On June 1, 2007, we adopted FASB Interpretationd8pAccounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes, anrnptetation of
FASB Statement No. 1(FIN 48), which contains a two-step approach t@g@izing and measuring uncertain tax positions
taken or expected to be taken in a tax return bgraening if the weight of available evidence iraties that it is more likely
than not that the tax position will be sustainedhadit, including resolution of any related appeal§tigation processes.
The second step is to measure the tax benefiedartest amount that is more than 50% likely todadized upon ultimate
settlement. Although we believe we have adequaesgrved for our uncertain tax positions, no ase@aan be given with
respect to the final outcome of these matters. Wiesareserves for our uncertain tax positions tduehanging facts and
circumstances, such as the closing of a tax auditeorefinement of an estimate. To the extentttimafinal outcome of
these matters is different than the amounts redolech differences will impact our provision facome taxes in the
period in which such a determination is made. @avigions for income taxes include the impact serge provisions and
changes to reserves that are considered appropridtelso include the related interest and pesaltie
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Legal and Other Contingencie

We are currently involved in various claims andalggroceedings. Quarterly, we review the statusagh
significant matter and assess our potential firereiposure. If the potential loss from any claintegal proceedin
is considered probable and the amount can be rablyoastimated, we accrue a liability for the estied loss.
Significant judgment is required in both the detieration of probability and the determination asvteether an
exposure is reasonably estimable. Because of waictes related to these matters, accruals arellmadg on the
best information available at the time. As addiibinformation becomes available, we reassessdtenpal liability
related to our pending claims and litigation and/mevise our estimates. Such revisions in the ed@mof the
potential liabilities could have a material impaatour results of operations and financial position

As a result of our acquisition of PeopleSoft irtéis2005, we inherited contingent liabilities regg from a
program PeopleSoft had implemented prior to thesaonmation of our acquisition of PeopleSoft (refén@ as the
“customer assurance program” or “CAP”). See Notd Botes to Consolidated Financial Statementsddher
information.

Stock-Based Compensation

We account for share-based payments to employeaading grants of employee stock awards and pseshander
employee stock purchase plans in accordance withB-8tatement No. 123 (revised 2008hare-Based Payment,
which requires that share-based payments (to ttemethey are compensatory) be recognized in onsaalated
statements of operations based on their fair valnesddition, we have applied the provisions & 8EC’s Staff
Accounting Bulletin No. 107 in our accounting faafment 123(R).

We are required to estimate the stock awards tkeatltimately expect to vest and to reduce stocletbas
compensation expense for the effects of estimaitddifures of awards over the expense recognitenod.
Although we estimate forfeitures based on histbesperience, actual forfeitures in the future m#fer. In
addition, to the extent our actual forfeitures @diféerent than our estimates, we record a trueeugte difference in
the period that the awards vest, and such trueoipisl materially affect our operating results.

As required by Statement 123(R), we recognize shaced compensation expense for share-based payissumntd
or assumed after June 1, 2006 that are expectezbtoFor all share-based payments granted or &skbeginning
June 1, 2006, we recognize stock-based compensatmnse on a straight-line basis over the sepaced of the
award, which is generally four years. The fair eat the unvested portion of share-based paymeatgey prior to
June 1, 2006 is recognized over the remaining cemériod using the accelerated expense attribuatithod, net c
estimated forfeitures. In determining whether am@ns expected to vest, we use an estimated, fdrieaking
forfeiture rate based upon our historical forfedtuates. Stock-based compensation expense reassdegan
estimated forfeiture rate is updated for actudiitures quarterly. We also consider, each quantkether there
have been any significant changes in facts andistances that would affect our forfeiture rate.

We estimate the fair value of employee stock ogtiasing a Black-Scholes valuation model. The falug of an
award is affected by our stock price on the datgrant as well as other assumptions including ttienated
volatility of our stock price over the term of thevards and the estimated period of time that weeb@mployees to
hold their stock options. The risk-free intereserassumption we use is based upon United Stai@suiry interest
rates appropriate for the expected life of the awawe use the implied volatility of our publickatied, longest-
term options in order to estimate future stocketiends as we believe that implied volatility ismarepresentative
of future stock price trends than historical vaigti In order to determine the estimated periodimfe that we expe
employees to hold their stock options, we have i&tdrical rates of employee groups by job cléassifon. Our
expected dividend rate is zero since we do noeods pay cash dividends on our common stock andado
anticipate doing so in the foreseeable future. dfoeementioned inputs entered into the option wanamodel we
use to fair value our stock awards are subjectitienates and changes to these estimates will chadair value of
our stock awards and related stock-based compensatpense we record to vary.

We record deferred tax assets for stock-based avilad result in deductions on our income tax retubased on
the amount of stock-based compensation recognizédhe statutory tax rate in the jurisdiction inigfhwe will
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receive a tax deduction. Because the deferredssetawe record are based upon the stock-basednsatmn
expenses in a particular jurisdiction, the aforetiomed inputs that affect the fair value of ourcét@awards also
indirectly affect our income tax expense. In additidifferences between the deferred tax assetgnézed for
financial reporting purposes and the actual tasudgdn reported on our income tax returns are csubin
additional paid-in capital. If the tax deductiori@ss than the deferred tax asset, such shontéallsce our pool of
excess tax benefits. If the pool of excess tax fitsrie reduced to zero, then subsequent shortfalsld increase o
income tax expense. Our pool of excess tax bensfésmputed in accordance with the alternativaditeon methoc
as prescribed under FASB Staff Position FAS 123Rr&nsition Election to Accounting for the Tax Eftecf
Share-Based Payment Awards

To the extent we change the terms of our emplotedkdased compensation programs or refine difteren
assumptions in future periods such as forfeitutesrghat differ from our estimates, the stock-bas®edpensation
expense that we record in future periods and theeaefits that we realize may differ significanflgm what we
have recorded in previous reporting periods.

Allowances for Doubtful Account:

We make judgments as to our ability to collect tartding receivables and provide allowances foptir¢ion of
receivables when collection becomes doubtful. Rious are made based upon a specific review sfglificant
outstanding invoices. For those invoices not speEdif reviewed, provisions are provided at diffeirates, based
upon the age of the receivable, the collectiorohysassociated with the geographic region thatélseivable was
recorded and current economic trends. If the hitdbdata we use to calculate the allowances fabtfal accounts
does not reflect the future ability to collect dateling receivables, additional provisions for dfwltaccounts may
be needed and our future results of operationgddmeiimaterially affected.

Results of Operations

The comparability of our operating results in fis2808 compared to fiscal 2007 is primarily impaichs our
acquisition of Hyperion in our fourth quarter agdal 2007, our acquisition of Agile Software, limcour first quarte
of fiscal 2008 and our acquisition of BEA in ouufth quarter of fiscal 2008.

The comparability of our operating results in fis2a07 in comparison to fiscal 2006 is impactedhy acquisition
of Siebel in our third quarter of fiscal 2006, gwnsolidation of i-flex solutions limited at thediening of fiscal
2007 and, to a lesser extent, our acquisition qietlipn in our fourth quarter of fiscal 2007.

In our discussion of changes in our results of apens from fiscal 2008 compared to fiscal 200 fscal 2007
compared to fiscal 2006, we quantify the contribitdf our acquired products to the growth in neftvgare license
revenues, the amount of revenues associated withage license updates and product support, asagein
Demand services (in the fiscal 2007 to fiscal 266@parison), and present supplemental discloslatkto
certain charges and gains (including acquisiticoanting and stock-based compensation), wherecatyé.
Although certain revenue contributions from ourwsgions are quantifiable, we are unable to idgritie
following:

« The contribution of the significant majority of caulting and education services revenues from aequir
companies in fiscal 2008, 2007 and 2006 (with tkeeption of the impact of BEA consulting and ediarat
revenues in fiscal 2008 in comparison to fiscalZGhd i-flex and Hyperion consulting revenues and
Hyperion education revenues for which we disclbseitpact in fiscal 2007 in comparison to fiscab@pas
the significant majority of these services havenbledly integrated into our existing operatiol

» The contribution of expenses associated with aegyiroducts and services in fiscal 2008, 2007 &6 2
(with the exception of the impact of certain BEAeogting expenses in fiscal 2008 in comparisonsicefi
2007 and the impact of certain i-flex and Hyperiperating expenses for which we disclose the imipact
fiscal 2007 in comparison to fiscal 2006) as tlymigicant majority of these services have beeryfull
integrated into our existing operatiol
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We caution readers that, while pre- and post-adtrscomparisons as well as the quantified amothdmselves

may provide indications of general trends, thermfation has inherent limitations for the followingasons:

« The quantifications cannot address the substaeffedts attributable to our sales force integragéforts, in
particular the effect of having a single sales déooéfer similar products. We believe that if oulesaforces
had not been integrated, the relative mix of présigold would have been differe

» Our acquisitions in the periods presented did estlt in our entry into a new line of business @dpict
category. Therefore, we provided multiple prodweith substantially similar features and functiotal

« Although substantially all of our customers, indhglcustomers from acquired companies, renew their
software license updates and product support attstvehen the contracts are eligible for renewalkyamts
shown as support deferred revenue in our supplethéistlosure related to certain charges and dases
below) are not necessarily indicative of revenupriomements we will achieve upon contract renewahéo

extent customers do not rene

Constant Currency Presentation

We compare the percent change in the results frogrperiod to another period in this annual repsitigiconstant

currency disclosure. We present constant curremoyrnation to provide a framework for assessing loon

underlying businesses performed excluding the effeforeign currency rate fluctuations. To preseand
information, current and comparative prior perieduits for entities reporting in currencies otfamnt U.S. Dollars
are converted into U.S. Dollars at the exchangeimeffect on May 31, 2007, which was the last dagur prior
fiscal year, rather than the actual exchange iateffect during the respective periods. For examiblan entity
reporting in Euros had revenues of 1.0 million Buirem products sold on May 31, 2008 and May 30,720ur
financial statements would reflect revenues of $illion in fiscal 2008 (using 1.57 as the exchangte) and
$1.35 million in fiscal 2007 (using 1.35 as theleage rate). The constant currency presentatiomdamanslate th
fiscal 2008 results using the fiscal 2007 exchaag¢ge and indicate, in this example, no changevenmees during tt
period. In each of the tables below, we presenp#reent change based on actual results as regortedased on

constant currency.

Total Revenues and Operating Expenses

Year Ended May 31,

Percent Change

Percent Change

(Dollars in millions) 2008 Actual Constant 2007 Actual Constant 2006
Total Revenues by Geograph
Americas $ 11,33( 20% 18% $ 9,46( 24% 23% $ 7,652
EMEA @ 7,94¢ 32% 20% 6,037 28% 20% 4,70¢
Asia Pacific 3,15¢ 26% 18% 2,49¢ 24% 21% 2,02(
Total revenue 22,43( 25% 19% 17,99¢ 25% 22% 14,38(
Total Operating Expense 14,58¢ 21% 17% 12,02: 25% 22% 9,64¢
Total Operating Margin $ 7,84« 31% 22% $ 5,97¢ 26% 21% $ 4,73¢
Total Operating Margin % 35% 33% 33%
% Revenues by Geograph
Americas 51% 53% 53%
EMEA @) 35% 34% 33%
Asia Pacific 14% 13% 14%
Total Revenues by Busines
Software $ 17,84 26% 19%$ 14,21 23% 20%$ 11,54
Services 4,58 21% 15% 3,78¢ 33% 29% 2,83¢
Total revenue $ 22,43( 25% 19%$ 17,99 25% 22%$  14,38(
% Revenues by Busines
Software 80% 79% 80%
Services 20% 21% 20%

(1) comprised of Europe, the Middle East and Afi
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Fiscal 2008 Compared to Fiscal 2007Total revenues increased in fiscal 2008 duedoeised demand for our
products and services offerings and incrementamegs from our acquisitions. The growth in ourltggenues
was positively affected by foreign currency ratecflations of 6 percentage points in fiscal 2008 wuthe
weakening of the U.S. Dollar relative to other majaernational currencies. Excluding the effectofrency rate
fluctuations, new software license revenues couteith 38% to the growth in total revenues, softWiaense update
and product support revenues contributed 45% ammites revenues contributed 17%. Excluding thecgfbé
currency rate fluctuations, the Americas contridli8% to the increase in total revenues, EMEA douted 37%
and Asia Pacific contributed 13%.

Total operating expenses were adversely affectddreygn currency rate fluctuations of 4 percentpgmts.
Excluding the effect of currency rate fluctuatioti® increase in operating expenses is primarig/tdthigher salar
and employee benefits associated with increasedcbeat levels (primarily resulting from our fisc@007
acquisitions, Agile in the first quarter of fis@008 and, to a lesser extent, BEA in the fourthriguaf fiscal 2008),
as well as higher commissions and bonuses assoeidte increased revenues, earnings and headcensisl In
addition, operating expenses also increased ialf@08 due to higher expenses from the amortizatiantangible
assets and additional stock-based compensatiotiingsiiom a higher fair value of grants issuedigtal 2008
(caused primarily by our higher stock price) aneldleceleration of vesting of certain acquired stwkrds upon
employee terminations pursuant to the original seafithose awards. Total operating expenses ialf&a07 were
also reduced by a $52 million benefit as a redudt settlement of an acquired legal contingencynffeeopleSoft for
less than the amount accrued as of the end ofutelhase price allocation period. The increaseparating
expenses during fiscal 2008 were partially offseal$57 million gain on property sale and a $12Ilioni reduction
of in-process research and development from ooalfiB008 acquisitions in comparison to our fisd202
acquisitions.

Total operating margin as a percentage of totamaes increased during fiscal 2008. The growthuimoperating
margin in fiscal 2008 was the result of our revegrawth, both organic and from acquisitions, arelrlatively
fixed nature of our cost structure in the shontteln addition, our operating margin growth wasdiably affected
by foreign currency rate fluctuations of 9 percegataoints.

International operations will continue to providsignificant portion of our total revenues and exges. As a result,
total revenues and expenses will continue to kectdtl by changes in the relative strength of ti& Dollar against
certain major international currencies.

Fiscal 2007 Compared to Fiscal 2006Total revenues increased in fiscal 2007 duedoemsed demand for our
products and services offerings and incrementamegs from our acquisitions. Total revenues wesitigely
affected by foreign currency rate fluctuations gfe3centage points in fiscal 2007 due to the weakeof the

U.S. Dollar relative to other major internationatencies. Excluding the effects of currency ratetfiations, new
software license revenues contributed 27% to tbeviyr in total revenues, software license updatespaoduct
support revenues contributed 47% and services v@gecontributed 26%. Excluding the effect of cuckerate
fluctuations, the Americas contributed 56% to theréase in total revenues, EMEA contributed 30%/Asid
Pacific contributed 14%.

Operating expenses were adversely affected bygiomirrency rate fluctuations of 3 percentage goiBkcluding
the effect of currency rate fluctuations, the i@ in total operating expenses was primarily duegher salary
and employee benefits associated with increasedcheat levels (primarily resulting from our acqtimns), as well
as higher commissions and travel and entertaine@enses associated with both increased revendeseanlcour
levels. In addition, operating expenses also irsgéan fiscal 2007 due to higher amortization co$istangible
assets and stock-based compensation expenses telaig adoption of Statement 123(R) at the bagmof fiscal
2007. The aforementioned increases in operatingresgs were partially offset by lower restructugxgenses and
the settlement of a PeopleSoft contingency thatideal a $52 million benefit to our operating expenésee
Acquisition Related and Other Expenses discussabov).

Operating margins as a percentage of total revamaesflat in fiscal 2007 in comparison to fisc@0B and were
favorably affected by foreign currency rate fludtaas of 5 percentage points. Our revenues greafaster rate
than our operating expenses, excluding the impaatnortization costs of intangible assets and stmaded
compensation expenses. The increases in thoseategories offset the slower growth in our othegrafing
expenses.
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Supplemental Disclosure Related to Certain Chargesnd Gains

To supplement our consolidated financial informatice believe the following information is helpfal &n overall
understanding of our past financial performancemodpects for the future. You should review theoduction
under “Results of Operations” (above) for a disaussf the inherent limitations in comparing predgpost-
acquisition information.

Our operating results include the following bussiesmbination accounting entries and expensestetat
acquisitions as well as certain other significaqtemse and income items:

Year Ended May 31,

(in millions) 2008 2007 2006
Support deferred revenu® $ 17¢ $ 212 $391
Amortization of intangible asse(® 1,212 87¢ 582
Acquisition related and oth®)®) 124 14C 137
Restructuring® 41 19 85
Stoclk-based compensati(®) 257 19€ 31
Income tax effec(® (535) (414) (362)

$1,27¢ $1,03: $86¢F

(1) In connection with purchase price allocations eglab our acquisitions, we have estimated thevidires of the support obligations assumed. Dueit
application of business combination accountingsuhee did not recognize software license updatdspanduct support revenues related to support aotstthat
would have otherwise been recorded by the acqbivsthesses as independent entities, in the amotifis79 million, $212 million and $391 million imstal
2008, fiscal 2007 and fiscal 2006, respectivelypApximately $205 million of estimated software hise updates and product support revenues relasgppmrt
contracts assumed will not be recognized in fi2€dl9 that would have otherwise been recognizet&ytquired businesses as independent entitieso doe
application of business combination accountinggul® the extent customers renew these suppontaaisitwe expect to recognize revenues for thecitract
value over the support renewal peri

(2) Represents the amortization of intangible assefsiged in connection with acquisitions, primarilgdpleSoft, BEA, Siebel, Hyperion ar-flex. As of May 31,
2008, estimated future amortization expenses tlaténtangible assets are as follows (in milliot

Fiscal 200¢ $1,66(
Fiscal 201( 1,55(
Fiscal 2011 1,26¢
Fiscal 201z 1,12¢
Fiscal 201: 962
Thereaftel 1,831

Total $8,39¢

(3) Acquisition related and other expenses primarilysist of ir-process research and development expenses-based compensation expenses, integration re
professional services, personnel related costsdositional employees, certain business combinat@ntingency adjustments after the purchase ptioeation
period has ended, and certain other operating egsefncome), net. For fiscal 2008, acquisitioatedl and other expenses include a gain on propaleyof
$57 million and, for fiscal 2007, acquisition redtand other expenses include a benefit of $52omitelated to the settlement of a pre-acquisitawsuit against
PeopleSoft (see Note 1 of Notes to Consolidatedrf€iial Statements for further informatio

(4) Restructuring expenses during fiscal 2008 relatercle employee severance in connection withuestring plans initiated in the second quarter, ameénde«
in the fourth quarter, of fiscal 2008. Restructgrgosts during fiscal 2007 relate to an Ordmsed restructuring plan initiated in the third njeraof fiscal 2006 fc
which additional expenses were recorded durin@fig2607.

®) stock-based compensation is included in the followingrapeg expense line items of our consolidated statgs of operations (in millions

Year Ended May 31,
2008 2007 2006

Sales and marketir $51 $38 $ 8
Software license updates and product sug 10 11 3
Cost of service 13 15 7
Research and developme¢ 114 85 13
General and administratiy 69 49 —

Subtotal 257 19¢ 31
Acquisition related and oth 112 9 18

Total $36¢ $207 49

Stocl-based compensation included in acquisition relatetiother expenses resulted from unvested optgsareed from acquisitions whose vesting '
accelerated upon termination of the employees pmtsio the terms of those optiol

At the beginning of fiscal 2007, we adopted Statei®3(R) under the modified prospective methodte®hent 123(R) requires us to record-cash operatin
expenses associated with stock awards at theina&ttd fair values. Prior to our Statement 123(R)péidn, we were required to record stock-based @rsation
expenses at intrinsic values and substantiallgfadur stock-based compensation expense relategtions assumed from acquisitions. In accordantie tive
modified prospective method, our financial statetsdor prior periods (i.e. fiscal 2006) have noebeestated to reflect, and do not include, thexgaa in
methodology to expense options at fair values goatance with Statement 123(1

The income tax effects on the above presented ebangd gains were calculated based on our effetetveates of 29.5%, 28.6% and 29.7% in fiscal 2Q087
and 2006, respectivel

®
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Software
Software includes new software licenses and soéwWeense updates and product support.

New Software License: New software license revenues represent feeg@drom granting customers licenses to
use our database and middleware as well as ouicapph software products. We continue to placai§icant
emphasis, both domestically and internationallydimact sales through our own sales force. We asinue to
market our products through indirect channels. Safel marketing expenses are largely personneédetand
include commissions earned by our sales forcehtistile of our software products, and also includeketing
program costs and amortization of intangible assets

Year Ended May 31,

Percent Change Percent Change
(Dollars in millions) 2008 Actual Constant 2007 Actual Constani 2006
New Software License Revenue
Americas $3,467 26% 24% $2,751 18% 18%  $2,32¢
EMEA 2,766  35% 24% 2,04 24% 16% 1,65(
Asia Pacific 1,28: 18% 11% 1,086 17% 15% 932
Total revenue 7,51  28% 21% 5,882 20% 17% 4,90t
Expenses
Sales and marketir() 4.62¢ 20% 14% 3,86¢ 22% 18% 3,16¢
Stocl-based compensatic 51  32% 32% 38 388% 388% 8
Amortization of intangible asse@ 56C 58% 58% 354  70% 70% 20¢
Total expense 5,23¢  23% 18% 4,261  26% 23% 3,38¢
Total Margin $227¢  40% 31%  $1,621 7% 3% $1,52(
Total Margin % 30% 28% 31%
% Revenues by Geograph
Americas 46% A7% 47%
EMEA 37% 35% 34%
Asia Pacific 17% 18% 19%
Revenues by Produc
Database and middlewe $5,090C 24% 17%  $4,11¢ 15% 12%  $3,56¢
Applications 2,36¢  38% 33% 1,71€  32% 29% 1,30:
Total revenues by produ 7,45¢  28% 21% 5,83t  20% 17% 4,86¢
Other revenue 56 19% 15% 47 31% 29% 36
Total new software license revent $751F 28% 21% $5,88: 20% 17%  $4,90¢
% Revenues by Produc
Database and middlewe 68% 71% 73%
Applications 32% 29% 27%

(1) Excluding stoc-based compensatic

@ Included as a component ‘ Amortization of Intangible Asse' in our consolidated statements of operati

Fiscal 2008 Compared to Fiscal 2007New software license revenues growth was posjtiziected by foreign
currency rate fluctuations of 7 percentage poimftiisical 2008. Excluding the effect of currencyerfitictuations,
new software license revenues grew in all majodpeb lines and across all geographies, with databad
middleware revenues contributing 55% to the ina@easew software license revenues and applicatievenues
contributing 45%. Excluding the effect of curremaye fluctuations, the Americas contributed 52%,HM
contributed 39% and Asia Pacific contributed 9%hiincrease in new software license revenues.

Excluding the effect of currency rate fluctuatiodatabase and middleware revenues grew 17% il 8968 as a
result of increased demand for our database andlewdre products as well as incremental revenwes &cquired
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companies. Hyperion products contributed $103 anlliBEA products contributed $93 million, Stellgnbducts
contributed $37 million, Tangosol products conttézl$18 million and other recently acquired prodwzntributed
$2 million to the total database and middlewarenesxes growth in fiscal 2008.

On a constant currency basis, applications reveimgesased 33% in fiscal 2008 due to continuechgtieening of our
competitive position in the applications softwaegmment of the software industry as a result oftwoad portfolio of
product offerings to a diverse customer base agi@inental revenues from acquired companies. Hypguioducts
contributed $199 million, Agile products contribdt®58 million, Metasolv products contributed $14liom, and other
recently acquired products contributed $42 milliorthe total applications revenue growth in fis2@08.

New software license revenues earned from tramsectiver $0.5 million grew by 42% in fiscal 200&lancreased fror
46% of new software license revenues in fiscal 200671% in fiscal 2008.

Sales and marketing expenses were adversely inthhgt® percentage points of unfavorable currenciatians during
fiscal 2008. Excluding the effect of currency ritetuations, sales and marketing expenses incteadiscal 2008
primarily due to higher salaries, benefits andeétaxpenses resulting from increased headcourtiehigpmmissions
expenses associated with both increased revenddseancount levels, and an increase in plannedetiagkprogram
expenses. Sales and marketing expenses includei#idh in expenses from BEA in fiscal 2008. Thésereases were
partially offset by a $42 million reduction in ti@tion related expenses resulting primarily froe $kettlement of certain
legal matters during the third quarter of fisca020

Total new software license margin as a percenthgevenues increased due to our new software lesrsvenues growth
rate and a favorable foreign currency impact, phytoffset by higher growth rates in our amortiaatof intangible assets
and stock-based compensation expenses.

Fiscal 2007 Compared to Fiscal 2006Excluding the effect of currency rate fluctuaspnew software license revenues
grew in all major product lines and across all gappies. Database and middleware revenues cordliin% to the
increase in new software license revenues, whidicgtions revenues contributed 43%. The Americagributed 50%,
EMEA contributed 33% and Asia Pacific contributét¥d.to the increase in new software license revenues

Excluding the effect of currency rate fluctuatiodafabase and middleware revenues grew 12% aslagkmcreased
demand for our database and middleware productelhss incremental revenues from acquired compadiebel produc
contributed incremental revenues of $48 milliorell®nt products contributed $26 million, Hyperiomgucts contributed
$16 million and other recently acquired productstdbuted $19 million to the total database anddi@dare revenues
growth in fiscal 2007.

On a constant currency basis, applications reveimgesased 29% as a result of the strengthenigio€ompetitive
position in the applications software segment efgbftware industry and incremental revenues froquiaed companies.
Siebel products contributed $130 million, i-fleyoducts contributed $50 million, Hyperion produactseibuted

$27 million, Portal products contributed $22 mitidemantra products contributed $21 million artteotrecently acquired
products contributed $22 million to the total apgtions revenues growth.

New software license revenues earned from tramsectiver $0.5 million grew by 24% in fiscal 200tlancreased fror
45% of new software license revenues in fiscal 20066% in fiscal 2007.

Excluding the effect of currency rate fluctuatiosales and marketing expenses increased in fi®€al @rimarily due to
higher personnel related expenses associatedneiteased headcount, as well as higher commissipenses associated
with both increased revenues and headcount leVetal new software license margin as a percenthgevenues declined
as our expenses, including amortization coststahgible assets, grew at a faster rate than oentes.

Software License Updates and Product Suppt Software license updates grant customers righisispecified software
product upgrades and maintenance releases issted the support period. Product support inclugésrnet access to
technical content as well as internet and teleplamcess to technical support personnel in our gkalg@port centers.
Expenses associated with our software license epdatd product support line of business includedsé of providing the
support services, largely personnel related exgerea the amortization of our
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intangible assets associated with software sumgpmtracts and customer relationships obtained fsam

acquisitions.
Year Ended May 31,
Percent Change Percent Change

(Dollars in millions) 2008 Actual Constant 2007 Actual Constant 2006
Software License Updates and Product Support Re\en
Americas $ 5,581 19% 17% $4,69¢ 24% 23% $ 3,79(
EMEA 3,50 32% 20% 2,65¢ 29% 21% 2,052
Asia Pacific 1,23¢ 27% 18%  97¢  23% 22% 794

Total revenue 10,32¢ 24% 18% 8,32¢ 25% 22% 6,63€
Expenses
Software license updates and product sug® 987 19% 13% 831 16% 12%  71€
Stocl-based compensatic 10 -6% -6% 11 306% 306% 3
Amortization of intangible asse® 59€ 27% 27%  47C  34% 34% 351

Total expense 1,59: 21% 18% 1,31 23% 21% 1,07(C
Total Margin $ 8,73¢ 24% 18% $7,017 26% 23% $ 5,56¢
Total Margin % 85% 84% 84%
% Revenues by Geography:
Americas 54% 57% 57%
EMEA 34% 32% 31%
Asia Pacific 12% 11% 12%

(1) Excluding stoc-based compensatic

@ Included as a component ‘ Amortization of Intangible Asse' in our consolidated statements of operati

Fiscal 2008 Compared to Fiscal 2007The growth in our software license updates aodyt support revenues
was favorably affected by foreign currency ratetiiations of 6 percentage points in fiscal 200&l&ding the
effect of currency rate fluctuations, software tise updates and product support revenues incrégafisdal 2008 a
a result of the addition of software license upsla®ed product support contracts associated withsuétware
licenses sold during the fourth quarter of fisd@?2 and over the course of fiscal 2008, the renefvsilibstantially
all of the customer base eligible for renewal ia thurrent fiscal year and incremental revenues ftmrexpansion
our customer base from acquisitions. Excludingetfiect of currency rate fluctuations, the Americastributed
53%, EMEA contributed 36% and Asia Pacific conttémi11% to the increase in software license updatds
product support revenues.

Software license updates and product support reseimufiscal 2008 include incremental revenues3@3smillion
from Hyperion, $38 million from BEA, $38 million dm Agile, $30 million from Stellent, $25 milliondm
Metasolv, and $46 million from other recently acgdicompanies. As a result of our acquisitionsreeerded
adjustments to reduce support obligations assumd#tkir estimated fair value at the acquisitioredaDue to our
application of business combination accountingsudeftware license updates and product suppoghres related
to support contracts in the amounts of $179 mill&&12 million and $391 million that would have hexherwise
recorded by our acquired businesses as indepeadgti¢s, were not recognized in fiscal 2008, 286d 2006,
respectively. Historically, substantially all ofroeustomers, including customers from acquired canmgs, renew
their support contracts when such contracts agibédi for renewal. To the extent these underlyingport contracts
are renewed, we will recognize the revenues fofuhealue of these contracts over the supporiqosy; the
substantial majority of which are one year.

Software license updates and product support eggemere adversely impacted by 3 percentage pdints o
unfavorable currency variations during fiscal 20B8cluding the effect of currency rate fluctuatipasftware
license updates and product support expenses gattehue to higher salary and benefits associatidingreased
headcount to support the expansion of our custtrase, higher bonuses and commissions due to imcteas
revenues, and higher amortization expenses reguttm additional intangible assets acquired dufiscal 2008
and fiscal 2007. Software license updates and ptalipport expenses include $7 million of expensavth from
BEA in fiscal 2008. Total software license updaad product support margin as a percentage of vegen
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increased slightly as our revenues grew faster ¢éixpenses, but were partially offset by a highemd rate in our
amortization of intangible assets expenses.

Fiscal 2007 Compared to Fiscal 2006Excluding the effect of currency rate fluctuaspsoftware license updates
and product support revenues increased in fisdal 28 a result of the addition of software licemgdates and
product support contracts associated with new soéicenses sold during the fourth quarter ofdfi906 and owt
the course of fiscal 2007, the renewal of substiintall of the customer base eligible for renewsafiscal 2007 and
incremental revenues from the expansion of ourocnst base from acquisitions. Excluding the efféausrency
rate fluctuations, the Americas contributed 59%,BEAVtontributed 29% and Asia Pacific contributed 1@the
increase in software license updates and prodpgicstirevenues. Software license updates and predpport
revenues in fiscal 2007 include revenue growth3if@million from Siebel, $37 million from i-flex,1® million

from Hyperion, and $55 million from other recendlgquired companies.

Excluding the effect of currency rate fluctuatiossftware license updates and product support egseincreased
due to higher salary and benefits associated witteased headcount to support the expansion afustomer base,
higher amortization expenses resulting from addéiontangible assets acquired during fiscal 20@¥ fasscal 2006
and higher stock-based compensation expenses.&eftivense updates and product support expensesién

$16 million in incremental expenses from both kfeend Hyperion. Total software license updates@moduct
support margin as a percentage of revenues remedresfant as intangible asset amortization expesrsgstock-
based compensation expenses grew much fasterdbhanues and offset the lower growth in other opegat
expenses.

Services

Services consist of consulting, On Demand and dihuca

Consulting: Consulting revenues are earned by providing sesvio customers in the design, implementation,
deployment and upgrade of our database and middéesedtware products as well as applications sofwa
products. The cost of providing consulting servicessists primarily of personnel related expendsur

Year Ended May 31,

Percent Change Percent Change
(Dollars in millions) 2008 Actual Constant 2007  Actual Constant 2006
Consulting Revenues
Americas $1,72( 12% 10% $1,53¢ 33% 32% $1,15]
EMEA 1,291 25% 14% 1,03  34% 24% 771
Asia Pacific 46¢€ 54% 42% 30z 57% 52% 192
Total revenue 3,471 21% 15% 2,86¢ 35% 31% 2,12(
Expenses
Cost of service® 3,01« 22% 16% 2477 32% 27% 1,87¢
Stocl-based compensatic 7  -18% -18% 9 36% 36% 7
Amortization of intangible asse@ 42 38% 38% 30 585% 57% 4
Total expense 3,06 22% 16% 2,51¢  33% 2%% 1,88¢
Total Margin $ 414 17% 10% $ 355 53% 47% $ 231
Total Margin % 12% 12% 11%
% Revenues by Geograph
Americas 50% 53% 55%
EMEA 37% 36% 36%
Asia Pacific 13% 11% 9%

() Excluding stoc-based compensatic
(@) Included as a component’ Amortization of Intangible Asse’ in our consolidated statements of operati
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Fiscal 2008 Compared to Fiscal 2007Consulting revenue growth was positively affedigdoreign currency rate
fluctuations of 6 percentage points in fiscal 20B8cluding the effect of currency rate fluctuatiposnsulting
revenues increased during fiscal 2008 primarily hugn increase in application product implemeatetiassociated
with the sales of our application software produaetd incremental revenues from our recent acqoistiprimarily
Hyperion and BEA. BEA added $16 million to our coltiig revenue growth in fiscal 2008. Excluding #féect of
currency rate fluctuations, the Americas contridu2é%, EMEA contributed 35% and Asia Pacific cdnited 29%
to the increase in consulting revenues.

Consulting expenses were adversely impacted by ptage points of unfavorable currency variatidmsng fisca
2008. Excluding the effect of currency rate flutio@as, consulting expenses increased during fi28a8 as a result
of higher personnel related expenses attributablegher headcount levels and third party contragxpenses that
supported our increase in revenues. BEA added $li6mto our consulting expense growth in fisc&@03. Total
consulting margin as a percentage of revenues nata@onstant during fiscal 2008 as margin improvemm the
EMEA and Asia Pacific regions were offset by expegsowth in the Americas region and for i-flex adincrease
in our amortization of intangible asset expenses.

Fiscal 2007 Compared to Fiscal 2006Excluding the effect of currency rate fluctuapoonsulting revenues
increased during fiscal 2007 primarily due to aré@ase in our application product implementatisseiated with
the increase in sales of our application softwaoglpcts and incremental revenues from our acqoiistiincluding
$359 million of incremental revenues frorflax, whom we acquired at the beginning of fisca®2, and $16 millio
of incremental revenues from Hyperion. Excluding #ffect of currency rate fluctuations, the Amesicantributed
55%, EMEA contributed 29% and Asia Pacific conttdnli16% to the increase in consulting revenues.

Excluding the effect of currency rate fluctuatioosnsulting expenses increased in fiscal 2007rasut of higher
personnel related expenses attributable to highaddtount levels and third-party contractor experSeasulting
expenses included $281 million of incremental esgsrfrom iflex and $17 million from Hyperion. Total consulj
margin as a percentage of revenues increased flyirdae to higher margins contributed by i-flex.

On Demand: On Demand includes our Oracle On Demand, CRM @mé&nd and Advanced Customer Services
offerings. Oracle On Demand provides midtatured software and hardware management, andanairmce servict
for our database and middleware as well as ouicgjans software delivered either at our dataeefatcilities, at
select partner data centers, or at customer fasiliCRM On Demand is a service offering that patesiour
customers with our CRM software functionality delied via a hosted solution that we manage. Adva@estiome
Services consists of configuration and performaaregysis, personalized support and on-site techsésices. The
cost of providing On Demand services consists milynaf personnel related expenditures, technoldsastructure
expenditures and facilities costs.
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Year Ended May 31,

Percent Change Percent Change
(Dollars in millions) 2008 Actual Constant 2007  Actual Constant 2006
On Demand Revenue!
Americas $ 37 20% 18% $ 31: 35% 3B/5% $ 231
EMEA 22€ 29% 18%  17¢€ 49% 39% 11¢
Asia Pacific 93 36% 28% 68 46% 42% 48
Total revenue 694 25% 19% 557 40% 37% 397
Expenses
Cost of service® 63z 10% 6% 574 49% 45% 38t
Stocl-based compensatic 5 16% 16% 4 * * —
Amortization of intangible asse® 14 0% 0% 14 365% 365% 3
Total expense 651 10% 6% 59z 52% 47% 38¢
Total Margin $ 43 224% 213% $ (35 -553% -512% $ 9
Total Margin % 6% -6% 2%
% Revenues by Geograph
Americas 54% 56% 58%
EMEA 33% 32% 30%
Asia Pacific 13% 12% 12%

() Excluding stoc-based compensatic
(3 Included as a component* Amortization of Intangible Asse’ in our consolidated statements of operati
* Not meaningfu

Fiscal 2008 Compared to Fiscal 20070n Demand revenue growth was positively affetigéoreign currency
rate fluctuations of 6 percentage points in fi208. Excluding the effect of currency rate flu¢toias, On Demand
revenues increased in fiscal 2008 due to an iner@asach service category’s subscription baseae pustomers
engaged us to provide IT outsourcing solutionsa@onstant currency basis, Oracle On Demand, Advhnc
Customer Services and CRM On Demand contributed, 42% and 14%, respectively. Excluding the efféct o
currency rate fluctuations, the Americas contridd8%, EMEA contributed 29% and Asia Pacific cdnited 18%
to the increase in On Demand revenues.

Excluding the effect of unfavorable currency rdtetuations of 4 percentage points, On Demand esgxeimcrease
in fiscal 2008 due to higher salaries and benekfgenses associated with increased headcount,gimel h
technology infrastructure related expenses to suippe expansion of our customer base. These egproseases
were partially offset by a shift of certain U.Ssbd costs to global support centers in lower coghties. Total On
Demand margin as a percentage of revenues imppouedrily as a result of our Oracle On Demand besén
which increased revenues while managing operatipgreses to a level consistent with fiscal 2007 thedavorable
impact of currency effects during the period. OulvAnced Customer Services and CRM On Demand margin
percentages also improved modestly in comparisdisdal 2007.

Fiscal 2007 Compared to Fiscal 2006Excluding the effect of currency rate fluctuasp®n Demand revenues
increased in fiscal 2007 due to higher Advanced@usr Services revenues, and the expansion ofutiscsption
base in both Oracle On Demand and CRM On Demanwitesr Advanced Customer Services revenues coterdbu
46% of the growth, while Oracle On Demand and CRMO@&@mand contributed 33% and 21%, respectively.
Excluding the effect of currency rate fluctuatiotisez Americas contributed 55%, EMEA contributed 3286 Asia
Pacific contributed 13% to the increase in On Detina@venues. Advanced Customer Services and CRM On
Demand revenues included $50 million and $31 mm|li@spectively, of incremental revenues from Siebéscal
2007.
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On Demand expenses were adversely impacted bycBmtage points of unfavorable currency variatiamsng)
fiscal 2007. Excluding the effect of currency rétetuations, On Demand expenses increased duighermh
personnel related expenditures, higher amortizagigrenses resulting from intangible assets, asagdiigher IT
related costs to support the expansion of our austdase. On Demand expense growth also refldatsyear of
expenses from Siebel On Demand employees (in casopato only four months in fiscal 2006). Total Demand
margin as a percentage of revenues decreased rityidvaven by more rapid growth in personnel relhiexpenses
in comparison to revenues, and to a lesser exgemth in IT related expenditures for Oracle On R@chand CRN
On Demand, as well as amortization of intangibkets Advanced Customer Services operating margimained
flat compared with the prior year while operatingdes in both Oracle On Demand and CRM On Demamelasec

Education: Education revenues are earned by providing io&irded, media based and internet based traimng
the use of our database and middleware softwadupts as well as applications software productsicition
expenses primarily consist of personnel relateeerdjiures, facilities and external contractor costs

Year Ended May 31,

Percent Change Percent Change
(Dollars in millions) 2008 Actual Constant 2007 Actual Constant 2006
Education Revenues
Americas $ 181 10% 8% $ 164 9% 8% $ 151
EMEA 15¢  20% 9% 132 13% 6% 117
Asia Pacific 76 22% 14% 63 16% 14% 54
Total revenue 41€ 16% 10%  35¢ 11% 8% 32z
Expenses
Cost of service® 325 15% 8% 282 15% 11%  24€
Stocl-based compensatic 1 -17% -17% 2 * * —
Total expense 326 15% 8% 28¢ 16% 12% 24¢€
Total Margin $ 90 21% 6% $ 74 2% 5% $ 76
Total Margin % 22% 21% 24%
% Revenues by Geograph
Americas 44% 46% A7%
EMEA 38% 37% 36%
Asia Pacific 18% 17% 17%

() Excluding stoc-based compensatic
* Not meaningfu

Fiscal 2008 Compared to Fiscal 2007Education revenue growth was positively affedigdoreign currency rate
fluctuations of 6 percentage points in fiscal 20B8cluding the effect of currency rate fluctuatipaducation
revenues increased in fiscal 2008 due primarilgrtancrease in customer training on the use ofpptications
products, including recently acquired products. BfoAtributed $2 million to our revenue growth iscial 2008.
Excluding the effect of currency rate fluctuatiotisee Americas contributed 39%, EMEA contributed 3&86 Asia
Pacific contributed 25% to the increase in educat@venues.

Excluding the effect of unfavorable currency rdtetuations of 7 percentage points, education es@&increased
due to higher personnel related expenses durinfirgadalf of fiscal 2008 and were partially offdsy lower
personnel related expenses in the second haléadlf2008 as a result of restructuring actionsrtakelucation
expenses also increased due to third party contragpenses and royalty fees associated with isetkeevenues
and included $2 million of incremental expensesnffiBEA. Education margin as a percentage of reveimoesased
slightly in fiscal 2008 as revenue growth exceeebgoense growth.
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Fiscal 2007 Compared to Fiscal 200 Excluding the effect of currency rate fluctuaspeducation revenues grew
in fiscal 2007 primarily due to an increase in ousér training on the use of our application produat well as

$5 million of incremental revenues from HyperiomeTAmericas contributed 46%, EMEA contributed 269 a
Asia Pacific contributed 28% to the increase incadion revenues.

Excluding the effects of currency rate fluctuatioeducation expenses increased in fiscal 2007 @iretemental
headcount and associated personnel related expeggiiis well as higher third party contractor esps and
royalty fees associated with increased revenuascd&ibn expenses also included $3 million of inczatal
expenses from Hyperion. Total education margin psraentage of revenues decreased as expenseatgadvgher
rate than revenues.

Research and Development Expens Research and development expenses consist giimahgersonnel related
expenditures. We intend to continue to invest $iggmtly in our research and development effortsaose, in our
judgment, they are essential to maintaining ourpetitive position

Year Ended May 31,

Percent Change Percent Change
(Dollars in millions) 2008 Actual Constant 2007  Actual  Constant 2006
Research and developmé?) $ 2,62 24% 22% $ 2,11 14% 11% $ 1,85¢
Stocl-based compensatic 114 35% 35% 85 541% 541% 13
Amortization of intangible asse@ —  -100% -100% 10 -47% -47% 17
Total expense $ 2,741 25% 22% $ 2,208 17% 6% $ 1,88¢
% of Total Revenue 12% 12% 13%

() Excluding stoc-based compensatic
(3 Included as a component‘ Amortization of Intangible Asse in our consolidated statements of operati

Fiscal 2008 Compared to Fiscal 2007Excluding the effect of currency rate fluctuaspnesearch and developmr
expenses increased in fiscal 2008 due to highetotme related expenses associated with higher beatitevels,
including higher stock-based compensation experses$46 million of increased expenses pertairongettain
legal-related matters. Our growth in research angtlbpment expenses included $15 million from BEAiscal
2008. The increase in our headcount was the combasilt of our recent acquisitions and our hidfgdditional
resources to develop new functionality for our gxgsproducts. Research and development headcswftthe end
of fiscal 2008 increased by approximately 2,550 legges in comparison to fiscal 2007, and included
approximately 950 employees from BEA.

Fiscal 2007 Compared to Fiscal 2006Excluding the effect of currency rate fluctuaspnesearch and developmr
expenses increased due to higher salary and bepgfienses associated with higher headcount lenetsased
stock-based compensation expenses due to our adaptStatement 123(R) at the beginning of fis€dl 2 and
increased external contractor expenses. Our grmwsearch and development expenses was impagteuar b
acquisitions, including $25 million fromfiex and $19 million from Hyperion. Research angelepment headcou
increased by approximately 3,600 employees in coisgrato fiscal 2006, and included approximately

1,200 employees from i-flex and 600 employees fktyperion.

General and Administrative ExpensesGeneral and administrative expenses primarilysishof personnel related
expenditures for information technology, finanegdl and human resources support functions.
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Year Ended May 31,

Percent Change Percent Change
(Dollars in millions) 2008 Actual Constant 2007  Actual Constant 2006
General and Administrativ®) $73¢ 15% 10% $ 64: 16% 13% $ 55t
Stock-based compensatic 69 40% 40% 49 * * —
Total expense $ 80¢€ 17% 12% $ 69z 25% 22% $ 55t
% of Total Revenue 4% 4% 4%

@ Excluding stoc-based compensatic
* Not meaningfu

Fiscal 2008 Compared to Fiscal 2007Excluding the effect of currency rate fluctuaspgeneral and
administrative expenses increased during fiscaB230a result of higher personnel related costecaged with
increased headcount to support our expanding apesadnd increased stock-based compensation expdbsperal
and administrative expenses include $4 millionxgfenses from BEA in fiscal 2008.

Fiscal 2007 Compared to Fiscal 2006Excluding the effect of currency rate fluctuaspgeneral and
administrative expenses increased during fisca¥ 230a result of higher personnel related costscagsd with
increased headcount to support our expanding apesathe recognition of stock-based compensatiperses due
to the adoption of Statement 123(R) at the begmoirfiscal 2007 and increased professional sesviees,
primarily litigation related expenses. General addinistrative expenses included incremental exgsen$

$25 million from i-flex and $10 million from Hypean in fiscal 2007.

Amortization of Intangible Assets Expense

Year Ended May 31,

Percent Change Percent Change

(Dollars in millions) 2008 Actual Constant 2007  Actual Constant 2006
Software support agreements and related relatipa $ 40z 25% 25% $ 321 33% 33% $ 241
Developed technolog 51t 45% 45% 35t 72% 72%  20¢€
Core technolog 17¢ 34% 34% 13: 46% 46% 91
Customer contraci 85 93% 93% 44 47% 47% 30
Trademark: 32 28% 28% 25 67% 67% 15

Total amortization of intangible ass: $ 1,21C 38% 38% $ 87¢ 51% 51% $ 58¢

Fiscal 2008 Compared to Fiscal 2007Amortization of intangible assets increased sadl 2008 due to the
amortization of acquired intangibles from Agile, péyion, BEA and other acquisitions that we consutechaince
the fourth quarter of fiscal 2007. See Note 5 ofédddo Consolidated Financial Statements for amithfiinformatiol
regarding our intangible assets (including weigl#teerage useful lives) and related amortizatioreegps.

Fiscal 2007 Compared to Fiscal 2006Amortization of intangible assets increased scdl 2007 due to the
amortization of purchased intangibles from Hyperidiebel (a full year of amortization in fiscal 20 comparisol
to four months in fiscal 2006), i-flex and othegaisitions that we consummated since the fourthtguaf fiscal
2006.

Acquisition Related and Other Expense Acquisition related and other expenses primamgsist of in-process
research and development expenses, integraticdedgdaofessional services, stock-based compensatipenses,
personnel related costs for transitional employeedain business combination contingency adjustsnafter the
purchase price allocation period has ended, artdinather expenses (income), net. Stock-based ensapion
expenses included in acquisition related and atkpenses relate to unvested options assumed frquisgons
whereby vesting was accelerated upon terminatidgheémployees pursuant to the original terms afefoptions.
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Year Ended May 31,

Percent Change Percent Change

(Dollars in millions) 2008  Actual Constant 2007 Actual Constant 2006
In-process research and developr $ 24 -84% -84% $151 94% 94% $ 78
Transitional employee related expen 32 34% 33% 24 -20% -20% 3C
Stocl-based compensatic 11z 1,144% 1,144% 9 -50% -50% 18
Professional fee 7 -13% -13% 8 -27% -27% 11
Business combination contingency adjustmu 6 111% 111% (52 * * —
Gain on sale of proper (57 * * — * * —

Total acquisition related and other exper $124 -11% -12% $14C 2% 2% $ 137

* Not meaningfu

Fiscal 2008 Compared to Fiscal 2007Acquisition related and other expenses decredisgdg fiscal 2008 due to
lower in-process research and development acqasedpart of our fiscal 2008 acquisitions in corguer to our
fiscal 2007 acquisitions and a $57 million gainaoproperty sale in December 2007 (see Note 1 tes\ot
Consolidated Financial Statements for additionfrimation). These decreases to acquisition relatetdother
expenses were partially offset by higher trans@l@mployee related expenses and increased steeldba
compensation expenses due to the accelerationtafrcacquired employee stock options pursuartiéaérms of
those options. Business combination contingencysaifients in fiscal 2007 included a $52 million Hémelating tc
the settlement of a lawsuit filed against PeopleBofoehalf of the U.S. government. This lawsuisyiked in
October 2003, prior to our acquisition of PeopleéSarid represented a paeguisition contingency that we identifi
and assumed in connection with our acquisitionemfffleSoft. We settled this lawsuit in October 20@Bich was
subsequent to the purchase price allocation pefiao@pproximately $98 million. Accordingly, we ilucied the
difference between the amount accrued as of thettie purchase price allocation period and tltgeseent
amount as a $52 million benefit to our consolidattdement of operations for fiscal 2007.

Fiscal 2007 Compared to Fiscal 2006Acquisition related charges increased primarilg tb in-process research
and development charges resulting from our acdéuisitof Hyperion, i-flex and others in fiscal 200his increase
was almost entirely offset by a $52 million beneaftdescribed above.

Restructuring expenses Restructuring expenses consist of Oracle emplegeerance costs and Oracle duplicate
facilities closures that were initiated to impraug cost structure as a result of acquisitions.defalitional
information regarding the Oracle restructuring glaas well as restructuring activities of our acggiicompanies,
please see Note 7 of Notes to Consolidated Finb&taégements.

Year Ended May 31,

Percent Change Percent Change
(Dollars in millions) 2008  Actual Constant 2007 Actual Constant 2006
Restructuring expens: $41 113% 95% $ 1€ -78% -78% $ 8t

Fiscal 2008 Compared to Fiscal 2007During the second quarter of fiscal 2008, our aggment with the
appropriate level of authority approved, committgdand initiated the Oracle Fiscal 2008 RestruictuPlan (2008
Plan) as a result of certain management and opeedtthanges that are intended to improve effiégmnio our
Oracle-based operations. Our 2008 Plan was amendie fourth quarter of fiscal 2008 to include thepected
effects resulting from our acquisition of BEA. Ttwgal estimated costs associated with the 2008 &tan
approximately $111 million and are primarily reldte employee severance. The majority of thesenastid costs
are expected to be incurred over the course ddlfg@09. Our estimated costs are preliminary anyg Ingasubject to
change in future periods. We incurred restructuergenses of $41 million in fiscal 2008, pursuarthie 2008 Plan
(see Note 7 to Notes to Consolidated Financiak8tanhts for additional information). Restructuringpenses in
fiscal 2007 relate to Oracle employee severancdamility closures that were recorded in those gasiand were a
part of a restructuring plan initiated in the thipdarter of fiscal 2006.
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Fiscal 2007 Compared to Fiscal 200 Restructuring expenses decreased in fiscal 280eanitiated the majority
of the actions pursuant to the Fiscal 2006 OraelstiRcturing Plan during fiscal 2006. Our managerd&hnot
initiate any new plans to restructure our Oracleedooperations during fiscal 2007.

Interest Expense

Year Ended May 31,

Percent Change Percent Change
(Dollars in millions) 2008  Actual Constant 2007  Actual Constant 2006
Interest expens $ 394 15% 15% $ 34 103% 104% $ 16¢

Fiscal 2008 Compared to Fiscal 2007Interest expense increased in fiscal 2008 dimgtoer average borrowings
resulting from the issuance of $5.0 billion of sEmotes in April 2008, a net increase of $500ionillin additional
senior notes outstanding for the majority of fis2@08 and our issuances of short-term commercizmpia the
fourth quarter of fiscal 2008 and fourth quartefis€al 2007 (we repaid these commercial paper atsoduring
fiscal 2008).

Fiscal 2007 Compared to Fiscal 2006Interest expense increased in fiscal 2007 dimgtoer average borrowings
in fiscal 2007 related to our $5.75 billion aggregarincipal amount of senior notes issued in JanR@06 (of
which $1.5 billion was redeemed by us in May 20@t), $2.1 billion of commercial paper issuancesabich
approximately $1.4 billion remained outstandingf®ay 31, 2007) and our $2.0 billion of senioremtssued in
May 2007.

Non-Operating Income, net: Non-operating income, net consists primarilyraérest income, net foreign currency
exchange gains, the minority owners’ share in #tgonofits of our majority-owned i-flex and Oradapan
subsidiaries, and other income including net gesfeted to our marketable securities and othersiments.

Year Ended May 31,

Percent Change Percent Change
(Dollars in millions) 2008 Actual Constant 2007  Actual Constant 2006
Interest incom $337 14% 9% $ 29t 74% 72% $17C
Foreign currency gains, n 40 -10% 3% 45 15% 19% 39
Minority interests (60) -15% -18%  (72) 2% 70% (41
Other, ne 67 -22% -26% 86 15% 8% 75
Total not-operating income, n $384 8% 5% $35& 46% 45% § 24:

Fiscal 2008 Compared to Fiscal 2007Non-operating income, net increased in fiscal@pfmarily due to an
increase in interest income from higher weighteerage cash and marketable securities balancegdis@al 2008

Fiscal 2007 Compared to Fiscal 2006Non-operating income, net increased in fiscal”2f0marily due to higher
interest income attributable to an increase inayelinterest rates (the weighted average intesitssearned on cas
cash equivalents and marketable securities incldasm 3.04% in fiscal 2006 to 3.97% in fiscal 2)QFartially
offset by higher minority interests’ share in thet profits of i-flex and our Oracle Japan majotyned
subsidiaries.

Provision for Income Taxes The effective tax rate in all periods is the feefithe mix of income earned in
various tax jurisdictions that apply a broad ranfj;ncome tax rates. The provision for income tadiéfers from the
tax computed at the U.S. federal statutory incoemedte due primarily to state taxes and earniogsidered as
indefinitely reinvested in foreign operations. Heteffective tax rates could be adversely affedtedrnings are
lower than anticipated in countries where we haveer statutory rates, by unfavorable changes ihatas and
regulations, or by adverse rulings in tax relategdtion.
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Year Ended May 31,

(Dollars in millions) 2008  Actual Constant 2007 Actual Constant 2006
Provision for income taxe $ 2,31¢ 35% 2% $ 1,71 20% 20 $ 1,42¢
Effective tax rate 29.5% 28.6% 29.7%

Provision for income taxes increased in fiscal 2808 fiscal 2007 due to higher earnings beforesta®ee Note 12
of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements doliteonal information.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

As of May 31,
(Dollars in millions) 2008 Change 2007 Change 2006
Working capital $ 8,07 131%$  3,49¢ -31%$  5,04¢
Cash, cash equivalents and marketable secu $  11,04: 57% 7,02( -8% 7,60¢

Working capital: The increase in working capital in fiscal 2008wpaimarily due to an increase in our cash, cash
equivalents and marketable securities balancetirestrom the issuance of $5.0 billion of lorigrm senior notes
April 2008, additional cash and trade receivabkesegated from our operations and our adoption Rf48, which
resulted in a significant reclassification of certshort-term tax liabilities to long-term (see Rdi2 to Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements for additionfrimation). These increases in working capital weasially

offset by cash used in fiscal 2008 to pay for aqquasitions (primarily BEA) and to repurchase oanmnon stock.
The decrease in working capital in fiscal 2007 washarily a result of cash used to pay for our asitjons and

stock repurchases, partially offset by increasempigrating cash flows from higher sales volumesc@eds received
from employee stock option exercises and an inereasur long-term borrowings.

Cash, cash equivalents and marketable securitieGash and cash equivalents primarily consist pbdies held at
major banks, money market funds, Tlecommercial paper, U.S. Treasury obligations, dd&ernment agency a
government sponsored enterprise obligations, amer aecurities with original maturities of 90 daydess.
Marketable securities primarily consist of time dsits held at major banks, Tier-1 commercial paperporate
notes, U.S. Treasury obligations and U.S. goverriragency and government sponsored enterprise tiblga
Cash, cash equivalents and marketable securitésde $10.1 billion held by our foreign subsidiargs of May 31,
2008. The increase in cash, cash equivalents arkketahle securities at May 31, 2008 in comparisoklay 31,
2007 is due to the issuance of $5.0 billion of senbtes in April 2008 and an increase in our ofegecash flows
resulting primarily from an increase in net incorparttially offset by cash used for our acquisitigmsmarily BEA),
net repayments of our short-term commercial paptes) and repurchases of our common stock. Theasein
cash, cash equivalents and marketable securitidayB81, 2007 in comparison to May 31, 2006 issultsof cash
used to pay for acquisitions and stock repurchdsgag fiscal 2007, partially offset by an incre@s@ur operating
cash flows from higher net income, increases instart-term and long-term borrowings and proceeats fstock
option exercises.

Days sales outstanding, which is calculated bydétig period end accounts receivable by averagg dales for the
quarter, was 63 days at May 31, 2008 compared&@ttays at May 31, 2007. The days sales outstanding
calculation excludes the adjustment to reduce sofidicense updates and product support revenlatedeo
adjusting the carrying value for deferred suppevenues acquired to fair value. Our increase i dajes
outstanding is primarily due to differences in timing of completion of certain sales transactibasveen years a
a slight decline in timeliness of collections irrteén countries.

Year Ended May 31,

(Dollars in millions) 2008 Change 2007 Change 2006

Cash provided by operating activiti $ 7,402 34% $ 5,52( 22% $ 4,541
Cash used for investing activiti $(9,07¢) 83% $(4,97) 48% $ (3,359
Cash provided by (used for) financing activit $ 3,281 388% $(1,139) -175% $ 1,527

Cash flows from operating activities:Our largest source of operating cash flows i cadlections from our
customers following the purchase and renewal af gtdtware license updates and product suppogeagents.
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Payments from customers for software license updatd product support agreements are generalliveeceear the
beginning of the contract term, which is generalhg year in length. We also generate significash deom new software
license sales and, to a lesser extent, servicaspi@nary uses of cash from operating activities far personnel related
expenditures as well as payments related to tanxé$eased facilities.

Fiscal 2008 Compared to Fiscal 2007Net cash provided by operating activities inceebis fiscal 2008 primarily due to
higher net income, partially offset by increasedoamts receivable due to fourth quarter fiscal 2@8&nue growth.

Fiscal 2007 Compared to Fiscal 2006Cash flows provided by operating activities iraged in fiscal 2007 primarily due
to higher net income, partially offset by increasedounts receivable due to fourth quarter fis@@l72revenue growth, cash
payments to terminate leases associated with efaeiiies assumed in the Siebel acquisition, Hrelsettlement of a pre-
acquisition lawsuit filed against PeopleSoft.

Cash flows from investing activities:The changes in cash flows from investing actsitprimarily relate to acquisitions
and the timing of purchases, maturities and sdlesioinvestments in marketable securities. We aB®cash to invest in
capital and other assets to support our growth.

Fiscal 2008 Compared to Fiscal 2007Net cash used for investing activities increasdiscal 2008 due to an increase in
cash used for acquisitions (primarily BEA), netash acquired and an increase in cash used togaercharketable
securities (net of proceeds received from matiitie

Fiscal 2007 Compared to Fiscal 2006Net cash used for investing activities increadsdiscal 2007 due to an increase in
cash used for acquisitions, net of cash acquireglpdid cash to purchase a number of companiesdal f2007 including
Hyperion, Stellent, MetaSolv, and Portal Softwaned to purchase additional equity securities iex-fCash outflows in
fiscal 2006 primarily relate to our acquisition®iebel and our equity investment purchases inxi-fle

Cash flows from financing activities: The changes in cash flows from financing acegtprimarily relate to borrowings
and payments under debt obligations as well ak segurchases and proceeds from stock option eseeaditivity.

Fiscal 2008 Compared to Fiscal 2007Net cash provided by financing activities in 62008 increased in comparison to
cash used by financing activities in fiscal 200 tlu the issuance of $5.0 billion of long-term semiotes in April 2008,
additional proceeds from stock option exercisesess tax benefits realized from stock-based conapiensarrangements,
and decreased spending on stock repurchases, aagartially offset by $1.4 billion of net repaynteif short-term
commercial paper notes.

Fiscal 2007 Compared to Fiscal 2006Net cash used for financing activities in fise@D7 primarily relates to an increase
in stock repurchases and lower borrowings, neépayments, when compared with fiscal 2006.

Free cash flow: To supplement our statements of cash flows ptedeam a GAAP basis, we use non-GAAP measures of
cash flows on a trailing 4-quarter basis to anabesh flows generated from our operations. We beliece cash flow is

also useful as one of the bases for comparing edopnance with our competitors. The presentatiomom-GAAP free

cash flow is not meant to be considered in isaatioas an alternative to net income as an indiadtour performance, or
as an alternative to cash flows from operatingvéiets as a measure of liquidity. We calculate ftash flows as follows:

Year Ended May 31,

(Dollars in millions) 2008 Change 2007 Change 2006

Cash provided by operating activiti $ 7,40: 34%  $5,52( 22%  $4,54]
Capital expenditure(®) $ (243 -24%  $ (319 3B5%  $ (236
Free cash flov $7,15¢ 38%  $5,201 21%  $4,30¢
Net income $5,521 29%  $4,27¢ 26%  $3,38]
Free cash flow as a percent of net incc 130% 122% 127%

(1) Represents capital expenditures as reported inflmgs from investing activities in our consoliddtstatements of cash flows
presented in accordance with U.S. generally acdegateounting principle:
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Long-Term Customer Financing

We offer our customers the option to acquire odimsre products and service offerings through ssedong-term
payment contracts. We generally sell contractswleahave financed on a neeeourse basis to financial institutio
We record the transfers of amounts due from custemoefinancial institutions as sales of finaneiasets because
we are considered to have surrendered controlesktfinancial assets. In fiscal 2008, 2007 and 26D4. billion,
$891 million and $618 million or approximately 15%2% and 13%, respectively, of our new softwarerlge
revenues were financed through our financing divisi

Contractual Obligations

The contractual obligations presented in the thblew represent our estimates of future paymendgiufixed
contractual obligations and commitments. Changeaiirbusiness needs, cancellation provisions, ghgrigterest
rates and other factors may result in actual paysgiffering from these estimates. We cannot prewdrtainty
regarding the timing and amounts of payments. We Ipaesented below a summary of the most significan
assumptions used in our information within the eahbf our consolidated financial position, resut®perations
and cash flows. The following is a summary of camttactual obligations as of May 31, 2008:

Year Ending May 31,

(Dollars in millions) Total 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 Thereafter
Principal payments on borrowin@®) $11,25C $1,00C $1,00 $225( $ — $125C $ 5,75(
Capital lease® 2 1 1 — — — —
Interest payments on borrowin(®) 5,50¢ 60z 552 50€ 392 392 3,06¢
Operating lease® 1,71z 43z 37C 25¢ 187 124 341
Purchase obligatior(4 432 39t 17 4 3 3 10
Funding commitment(®) 3 3 — — — — —

Total contractual obligatior $18,90¢ $2,43: $1,94( $3,01¢ $58z $1,76¢ $ 9,16¢

@ our borrowings (excluding capital leases) consishe following as of May 31, 200:

Principal Balance

Floating rate senior notes due May 2( $ 1,00(¢
Floating rate senior notes due May 2( 1,00¢
5.00% senior notes due January 2011, net of disafisv 2,24¢
4.95% senior notes due April 20 1,25(C
5.25% senior notes due January 2016, net of disafi$9 1,991
5.75% senior notes due April 2018, net of discafrl 2,49¢
6.50% senior notes due April 2038, net of discamfr2 1,24¢

Total borrowings $ 11,234

Our floating rate senior notes due May 2009 and R1240 bore interest at a rate of 2.70% and 2.74%pectively, as of May 31, 2008. In
September 2007, we entered into two interagt-swap agreements that have the economic effecddifying the variable interest obligatic
associated with our floating rate senior notesag 2009 and May 2010 so that the interest payablthe senior notes effectively became
fixed at a rate of 4.62% and 4.59%, respectivelterest payments were calculated based on terthe oélated agreements and include
estimates based on the effective interest rate$ sy 31, 2008 for variable rate borrowings aftensideration of the aforementioned inte
rate swap agreemen

@ Represents remaining payments under capital leessesned from acquisitior

(3) Primarily represents leases of facilities and idelifuture minimum rent payments for facilitiesttiva have vacated pursuant to our
restructuring and merger integration activities. kidee approximately $355 million in facility obli@ans, net of estimated sublease income,
in accrued restructuring for these locations in@nsolidated balance sheet at May 31, 2

(4) Represents amounts associated with agreement@réhahforceable, legally binding and specify terimsuding: fixed or minimum quantitic
to be purchased; fixed, minimum or variable pricevisions; and the approximate timing of the paym

®) Represents the maximum additional capital we maylne contribute toward our venture fund investragwhich are payable upon dema

52




Table of Contents

Excluded from the table above are agreements thantered into during the fourth quarter of fis2@08 and the
first quarter of fiscal 2009 in which we agreedtmuire a number of companies for estimated tatsi c
consideration of $407 million. We expect thesegeations to close during the first quarter of fi2209.

As of May 31, 2008, we have $1.7 billion of unrecizgd tax benefits recorded on our consolidatedriza sheet.
We have reached certain settlement agreementgeléthant taxing authorities to pay approximatel® $8llion of
these liabilities. Although it remains unclear asvhen payments pursuant to these agreementsenitidde, some
or all may be made in fiscal 2009. We cannot mafeaaonably reliable estimate of the period in Whie
remainder of these liabilities will be settled eferased with the relevant tax authorities, althowghbelieve it is
reasonably possible that certain of these liab#litould be settled or released during fiscal 2009.

We believe that our current cash, cash equivaemismarketable securities and cash generated fpe@mations will
be sufficient to meet our working capital, cap&apenditures and contractual obligations. In addjtive believe w
could fund our acquisitions, including the aforemiemed acquisitions that we expect to close dutirggfirst quarter
of fiscal 2009, and repurchase common stock withirternally available cash, cash equivalents aackatable
securities, cash generated from operations, ostiegiavailable debt capacity, additional borrovgirmg from the
issuance of additional securities.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We do not have any off-balance sheet arrangemieatdraive or are reasonably likely to have a cuweftiture
effect on our financial condition, changes in figi@ah condition, revenues or expenses, results efatons,
liquidity, capital expenditures or capital resowwtieat are material to investors.

Recent Financing Activities
Senior Notes

In April 2008, we issued $5.0 billion of fixed regenior notes, of which $1.25 billion of 4.95% semotes is due
April 2013 (2013 Notes), $2.5 billion of 5.75% sennotes is due April 2018 (2018 Notes), and $billlon of
6.50% senior notes is due April 2038 (2038 Noté#).issued these senior notes to finance the atiquisif BEA
and for general corporate purposes. Some or #ieof013 Notes, 2018 Notes and 2038 Notes maydeeneed at
any time, subject to payment of a make-whole premithe 2013 Notes, 2018 Notes and 2038 Notes pasest
semi-annually.

In May 2007, we issued $2.0 billion of floatingeatenior notes, of which $1.0 billion is due MaY2{New 2009
Notes) and $1.0 billion is due May 2010 (2010 Nptié¢e issued the New 2009 Notes and 2010 Notesrm the
redemption of the $1.5 billion of senior floatirgte notes that we issued in fiscal 2006 (see bedod)for general
corporate purposes. The New 2009 Notes and 201€sNbatar interest at a rate of three-month USD LIBDRR
0.02% and 0.06%, respectively, and interest is lplayguarterly. The New 2009 Notes and 2010 Noteg moabe
redeemed prior to their maturity.

In January 2006, we issued $5.75 billion of senmtes consisting of $1.5 billion of floating raensor notes due
2009 (Original 2009 Notes), $2.25 billion of 5.0@#nior notes due 2011 (2011 Notes) and $2.0 bitifon

5.25% senior notes due 2016 (2016 Notes and togeitiethe Original 2009 Notes and the 2011 No@sginal
Senior Notes) to finance the Siebel acquisitionfandjeneral corporate purposes. On June 16, 200@ompleted
registered exchange offer of the Original Seniotdddor registered senior notes with substantidbytical terms t
the Original Senior Notes.

In May 2007 we redeemed the Original 2009 NotedHeir principal amount plus accrued and unpaidragt. Our
2011 Notes and 2016 Notes may also be redeemey éihee, subject to payment of a make-whole premium
Interest is payable semi-annually for the 2011 siated 2016 notes.

The effective interest yields of the New 2009 Npf§10 Notes, 2011 Notes, 2013 Notes, 2016 NotHs Rlotes,
and 2038 Notes (collectively, the Senior Notedylay 31, 2008 were 2.70%, 2.74%, 5.08%, 4.96%, 5,3B¥6%
and 6.52%, respectively. In September 2007, werethiato two interest rate swap agreements that Hay

economic effect of modifying the variable interebtigations associated with the New 2009 Notes20iD Notes
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so that the interest payable on the senior nofestefely became fixed at a rate of 4.62% and 4.5&%pectively, until
maturity.

The Senior Notes rank pari passu with any CommielPgiper Notes (defined below) that we may issueadinekisting and
future senior indebtedness of Oracle CorporatidheXisting and future liabilities of the subsidies of Oracle Corporation
will be effectively senior to the Senior Notes aamy Commercial Paper Notes that we may issue.

Commercial Paper Program

In March 2008, we increased our commercial papegnam to $5.0 billion from $3.0 billion (the CP Bram). The original
dealer agreements entered into in February 2006e®ith of Banc of America Securities LLC, JP Mor§aucurities Inc.,
Lehman Brothers Inc., Merrill Lynch Money Marketg| and Merrill Lynch Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorated and the
Issuing and Paying Agency Agreement entered infeeloruary 2006 with JPMorgan Chase Bank, Natiorsab&iation,
remained in effect and were not changed. UndeCthé&rogram, we may issue and sell unsecured sramtgromissory
notes (Commercial Paper Notes) pursuant to a gripl@cement exemption from the registration requénets under federal
and state securities laws. In fiscal 2008 and 20@7issued approximately $1.2 billion and $2.lidnillof Commercial Pap
Notes, respectively, of which none and $1.4 billiemained outstanding as of May 31, 2008 and 2@3pectively. As o
May 31, 2008, we had $5.0 billion of capacity renirag under our CP Program.

Revolving Credit Agreements

In March 2008, we entered into a $2.0 billion, 3Bdy Revolving Credit Agreement with Wachovia BaNlational
Association, Bank of America, N.A. and certain otlemders (2008 Credit Agreement). The 2008 Cradieement was in
addition to an existing $3.0 billion, fivgear Revolving Credit Agreement with substantigiig same parties that we ente
into in March 2006 (the 2006 Credit Agreement amadlectively with the 2008 Credit Agreement, thee@it Agreements).
The Credit Agreements provide for unsecured renglhdredit facilities, which can also be used tokistap any Commerci
Paper Notes (see above) that we may issue andoftairwg capital and other general corporate purpdSekject to certain
conditions stated in the Credit Agreements, we bayow, prepay and re-borrow amounts under thditiasiat any time
during the terms of the Credit Agreements. Intef@sthe Credit Agreements is based on either (dB®R-based formula
or (b) a formula based on Wachovia's prime raterothe federal funds effective rate. Any amoungsalr pursuant to the
2008 Credit Agreement are due on March 17, 2009n¢ag, upon the agreement of the lenders, extenthtility by up to
two times in succession). Any amounts drawn pursteathe 2006 Credit Agreement are due on Marct204]1. No
amounts were outstanding pursuant to the Credieé&ments as of May 31, 2008 and 2007. A total d $8lion remained
available pursuant to the Credit Agreements at Btgy2008.

The Credit Agreements contain certain customaryesgmtations and warranties, covenants and evedefault, including
the requirement that our total net debt to totaitedization ratio not exceed 45%. If any of theets of default occur and
are not cured within applicable grace periods dved any unpaid amounts under the Credit Agreesneraty be declared
immediately due and payable and the Credit Agreésmeay be terminated. We were in compliance wighGhnedit
Agreements’ covenants as of May 31, 2008.

Selected Quarterly Financial Data

Quarterly revenues and expenses have historicaéy laffected by a variety of seasonal factorsudiob sales
compensation plans. In addition, our European agjpemgenerally provide lower revenues in our fiistal quarter becau:
of the reduced economic activity in Europe during summer. These seasonal factors are common goftveare industry.
These factors have caused a decrease in our diasten revenues as compared to revenues in thedrataly preceding
fourth quarter, which historically has been ourteist revenue quarter. We expect this trend to mwoetinto the first quarter
of fiscal 2009.

The following tables set forth selected unauditadrterly information for our last eight fiscal gteas. We believe that all
necessary adjustments, which consisted only of abreturring adjustments, have been included iratheunts stated
below to present fairly the results of such peristi&n read in conjunction with the consolidated

54




Table of Contents

financial statements and related notes includegdisre in this Annual Report. The sum of the quigrfeancial
information may vary from the annual data due tniding.

Fiscal 2008 Quarter Ended (Unaudited)

(in millions, except per share amounts) August 31 November 30 February 29 May 31
Revenue: $ 4,52¢ $ 5,31 $ 5,34¢ $7,23¢
Gross profit $ 2111 $ 2,600 $ 2,731  $4,02¢
Operating incom: $ 1217 $ 1,78 $ 187F $2,97]
Net income $ 84C $ 1,30: $ 1,34 $ 2,03
Earnings per sha—basic $ 0.1¢ $ 0.2t $ 0.2¢€ $ 0.4C
Earnings per sha—diluted $ 0.1l¢ $ 0.2t $ 0.2¢€ $ 0.3¢
Fiscal 2007 Quarter Ended (Unaudited
(in millions, except per share amounts) August 31 November 30 February 28 May 31
Revenue:! $ 3,591 $ 4,16: $ 4,41 $5,82¢
Gross profit $ 1666 $ 2,02« $ 2197 $3,14:
Operating incom: $ 94z 1,357 $ 139« @ $2,281
Net income $ 67C $ 967 $ 1,03 $1,60¢
Earnings per sha—basic $ 0.12 $ 0.1¢ $ 0.2C $ 0.31
Earnings per sha—diluted $ 0.1: $ 0.1¢ $ 0.2C $ 0.31

Stock Options

Our stock option program is a key component ofcth@pensation package we provide to attract anéhregatain of our
talented employees and align their interests withinterests of existing stockholders. We recogttiaé options dilute
existing stockholders and have sought to cont®inlimber of options granted while providing contpeticompensation
packages. Consistent with these dual goals, outlative potential dilution since June 1, 2005 hasrba weighted average
annualized rate of 1.5% per year. The potentiatidih percentage is calculated as the average hpnedimew options
granted and assumed, net of options forfeited byleyees leaving the company, divided by the weidlatecrage
outstanding shares during the calculation peridis Thaximum potential dilution will only resultél options are exercise
Some of these options, which have 10-y@arcise periods, have exercise prices substantigher than the current marl
price of our common stock. At May 31, 2008, 11%of outstanding stock options had exercise pricexcess of the
current market price. Consistent with our histdrfmactices, we do not expect that dilution frortufe grants before the
effect of our stock repurchase program will exc2d€d6 per year for our ongoing business. Over thella years, our stock
repurchase program has more than offset the détffect of our stock option program; however, waymeduce the level
of our stock repurchases in the future as we mayous available cash for acquisitions, to repagbiddness or for other
purposes. At May 31, 2008, the maximum potentilitidin from all outstanding and unexercised optevards, regardless
of when granted and regardless of whether vestedwested and including options where the strikeegs higher than the
current market price, was 7.3%.

The Compensation Committee of the Board of Directerviews and approves the organization-wide sbption grants to
selected employees, all stock option grants towgkezofficers and any individual stock option gisaim excess of
100,000 shares. A separate Plan Committee, whiagh éxecutive officer committee, approves individua
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stock option grants up to 100,000 shares to nootaxe officers and employees. Stock option agtifiom June 1,
2005 through May 31, 2008 is summarized as foll(sfigres in millions):

Options outstanding at May 31, 20 46¢
Options grante: 19C
Options assume 142
Options exercise (32¢)
Forfeitures and cancellatiol (96)

Options outstanding at May 31, 20 37¢

Average annualized options granted and assumeaf faftfeitures 79

Average annualized stock repurcha 15¢

Shares outstanding at May 31, 2( 5,15(

Weighted average shares outstanding from JuneOg, 2Gough May 31, 20C 5,16¢

Options outstanding as a percent of shares ouistati May 31, 200! 7.3%

In the money options outstanding (based on our 8132008 stock price) as a percent of shares
outstanding at May 31, 20( 6.6%

Weighted average annualized options granted anoireest net of forfeitures and before stock repureta
as a percent of weighted average shares outstafidmglune 1, 2005 through May 31, 2( 1.5%

Weighted average annualized options granted anoireesh net of forfeitures and after stock repurcbaas
a percent of weighted average shares outstanding June 1, 2005 through May 31, 2( -1.6%

Our Compensation Committee approves the annuahaaton-wide option grants to certain key emplsy/eehese
annual option grants are made during the ten bssiday period following the second trading dayrdfie
announcement of our fiscal fourth quarter earneg®rt.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

For information with respect to recent accountingnouncements and the impact of these pronouncermentur
consolidated financial statements, see Note 1 ¢é&tw Consolidated Financial Statements.

ltem 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative DisclosuresAbout Market Risk

Interest Rate Risk We generally purchase debt security investmeittsnelatively short maturities (see a
description of our debt securities held in the lidify and Capital Resources section of Managemedissussion
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Result©gpkrations presented above). Therefore, interesmmavements
generally do not materially affect the valuatioroof debt security investments. Changes in theadierel of
interest rates affect the interest income thatisegated from our investments. For fiscal 200&| toterest income
was $337 million with investments yielding an aygEa.44% on a worldwide basis. This interest ratellwas
down by 53 basis points from 3.97% for fiscal 200 dverall interest rates fell by 100 basis poifitsn our averag
of 3.44% during fiscal 2008, our annual interesbime would decline by approximately $95 millions@sing
consistent investment levels. The table below pitsstae cash, cash equivalent and marketable sesuvalances
and the related weighted average interest ratesuioinvestment portfolio at May 31, 2008. The ¢astsh
equivalent and marketable securities balancesamrded at their fair values at May 31, 2008.

Fair Value of
Available-for-Sale Weighted Average
(Dollars in millions) Securities Interest Rate
Cash and cash equivalel $ 8,26- 2.35%
Marketable securitie 2,781 2.71%
Total cash, cash equivalents and marketable sies $ 11,04 2.44%
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The following table includes the U.S. Dollar equérg of cash, cash equivalents and marketable isiesur
denominated in foreign currencies. See discusdiauioforeign currency risk below for a descriptiohhow we
hedge net assets of certain international subgdifiom foreign currency exposure.

U.S. Dollar

Equivalent at

(in millions) May 31, 200¢
Euro $ 1,941
Japanese Ye 801
British Pounc 70E
Chinese Renmint 477
Indian Rupe 357
Canadian Dolla 27¢
Australian Dollar 25¢
Other foreign currencie 1,62¢
Total cash, cash equivalents and marketable sesudénominated in foreign currenc $ 6,44:

Our borrowings as of May 31, 2008 were $11.2 hilliconsisting of $9.2 billion of fixed rate borrowis and
$2.0 billion of variable rate borrowings. Our véaiarate borrowings were as follows at May 31, 2008

(Dollars in millions) Borrowings Interest Rate

Floating rate senior notes due May 2(®) $ 1,00( 2.70%

Floating rate senior notes due May 2() 1,00( 2.74%
Total borrowings subject to variable interest faietuations $ 2,00(

(1) The 2009 and 2010 Notes bear interest at a floatitegequal to thremonth LIBOR plus 0.02% per year and 0.06% per \
respectively. In September 2007, we entered intoitterest-rate swap agreements that have the sgomdfect of
modifying the variable interest obligations assteziavith our floating rate senior notes due May28ad May 2010 so that
the interest payable on the senior notes effegtivetomes fixed at a rate of 4.62% and 4.59%, oéisedy. The critical
terms of the interest rate swap agreements argktiier notes that the swap agreements pertaintichimiacluding the
notional amounts, interest rate reset dates, niyatlaies and underlying market indices. The falues of the aforemention
interest rate swaps totaled an unrealized los24f#illion, net of tax effects, at May 31, 2008. \Afe accounting for these
swaps as hedges pursuant to FASB Statement NoA&88unting for Derivative Instruments and Hedgirmivities. The
unrealized losses are included in accumulated ethraprehensive income and the corresponding faievaayables are
included in other current and Ic-term liabilities in our condensed consolidated be¢asheet

Foreign Currency Transaction Risk: We transact business in various foreign currenaiel have established a
program that primarily utilizes foreign currencyvi@rd contracts to offset the risks associated thi¢heffects of
certain foreign currency exposures. Under this oy increases or decreases in our foreign currerggsures are
offset by gains or losses on the foreign curremewérd contracts that we enter into to mitigateghssibility of
foreign currency transaction gains or losses. Thasggn currency exposures typically arise froeinompany
sublicense fees and other intercompany transactinsforward contracts generally have terms ofl@@s or less.
We do not use forward contracts for trading purposdl outstanding foreign currency forward contsaare marke
to market at the end of the period with unrealigaths and losses resulting from fair value charmgesaded in non-
operating income, net (the effective portion of ¥en equity hedge described below is included aclgtolders’
equity). Our ultimate realized gain or loss witepect to currency fluctuations will depend on therency exchanc
rates and other factors in effect as the contractsire. Net foreign exchange transaction gainsidtes in non-
operating income, net in the accompanying constagdlatatements of operations were $17 million, ®ilfon and
$15 million in fiscal 2008, 2007 and 2006, respedti. The net unrealized gains of our outstandergifyn currenc
forward contracts were $3 million and $5 million\ay 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively.

The tables below present the notional amountsof@ract exchange rates) and the weighted averageactual
foreign currency exchange rates for our outstanfingard contracts as of May 31, 2008 and exclugenet
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investment hedge contract described further belwational weighted average exchange rates listebenables below are
qguoted using market conventions. All of our forwaohtracts mature within one year with the substhmajority maturing
within 90 days as of May 31, 2008.

Tables of Forward Contracts

United States Dollar Foreign Exchange Contracts

Exchange Exchange Notional
Foreign Currency U.S. Dollars for Weighted Average
for U.S. Dollars Foreign Currency Exchange Rate
(Dollars in millions) (Notional Amount) (Notional Amount) (Market Convention)
Functional Currency:
Australian Dollat $ — $ 49 0.9t
British Pounc — 11 1.97
Canadian Dolla — 80 0.9¢
Chilean Pesi 6 — 483.8(
Chinese Renmint 33C — 6.8¢
Columbian Pes 18 — 1,806.1!
Danish Krone 2 — 4.8
European Eur 3 — 1.5¢
Indian Rupe 112 112 41.8¢
Japanese Ye 32 — 104.1:
Korean Wor 61 — 1,038.5(
Mexican Pes 8 — 10.4¢
Norwegian Krone 2 — 5.0¢
Peruvian New Sc 5 1 2.84
Philippine Pes: 20 — 45.0(
Polish Zloty 5 8 2.1¢
Saudi Arabian Riya 32 — 3.74
Singapore Dolla — 127 1.3¢
South African Rant 33 — 7.8¢
Taiwan Dollar 13 — 30.3¢
Thai Baht 12 — 32.6:
Total $ 694 $ 388
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European Euro Foreign Exchange Contra

(Euros in millions)

Exchange Exchange Notional
Foreign Currency Euros for Weighted Average
for Euros Foreign Currency Exchange Rate

(Notional Amount)

(Notional Amount)

(Market Convention)

Functional Currency:

British Pounc € 33 € — 0.7¢
Danish Krone 3 — 7.4¢
Indian Rupes — 4 60.6¢
Israeli Sheke 2 — 5.1¢F
Norwegian Krone 4 — 7.91
Polish Zloty 7 — 3.41
Saudi Arabian Riya 2 — 5.8¢
Slovakian Korun: 1 — 30.7(¢
South African Rant 22 — 12.3:
Swedish Kronz 6 — 9.3
Swiss Frant 7 — 1.62
United States Dolla 16 — 1.5¢
Total € 103 € 4

Net Investment Risk We hedge the net assets of certain of our intiemea subsidiaries (net investment hedges)
using foreign currency forward contracts to offet translation and economic exposures relateditinoestments
in these subsidiaries. We measure the effectiverfemsr net investment hedges by using the chaimggsot
exchange rates because this method reflects dumasagement strategies, the economics of thostegies in our
financial statements and better manages interestlifierentials between different countries. Unttés method, the
change in fair value of the forward contract atitdble to the changes in spot exchange rates ffiaiee portion)

is reported in stockholders’ equity to offset thentlation results on the net investments. The idngachange in
fair value of the forward contract (the excludedtipm and the ineffective portion, if any) is recized in non-
operating income, net.

Net gains (losses) on investment hedges reportsthakholder’ equity, net of tax effects, were $(53) million,
$28 million and $14 million in fiscal 2008, 2007chRA006, respectively. Net gains on investment hedegported in
non-operating income, net were $23 million, $28 millemd $24 million in fiscal 2008, 2007 and 2006 pexgively

At May 31, 2008, we had one net investment heddgajranese Yen. The Yen investment hedge minimiresncy
risk arising from net assets held in Yen as a tegiéquity capital raised during the initial pubbffering and
secondary offering of our majority owned subsidj@yacle Japan. The fair value of our Yen investnhenlge was
nominal at May 31, 2008 and 2007. As of May 31,808e Yen investment hedge had a notional amdunt o
$633 million and an exchange rate of 104.32 Yereéwh U.S. Dollar.

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Dat

The response to this item is submitted as a sepseation of this Annual Report. See Part IV, ItEn

Item 9. Changes In and Disagreements with Accountants on Aounting and Financial Disclosure

Not applicable
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Item 9A. Controls and Procedures
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedur

As of the end of the period covered by this AnriRa@port on Form 10-K, we carried out an evaluatindar the supervision
and with the participation of our Disclosure Contggtand our management, including the Chief Exeeuifficer and the
Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness oé tilesign and operation of our disclosure contnatbrocedures pursuant
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-19p&closure controls are procedures that are dedigmensure that informatic
required to be disclosed in our reports filed urtherSecurities Exchange Act of 1934, or the Exgbafict, such as this
Annual Report on Form 10-K, is recorded, processemimarized and reported within the time perioged by the
U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission. Disclosoingrols are also designed to ensure that suohniaition is
accumulated and communicated to our managemehiding our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Fing@icOfficer, as
appropriate to allow timely decisions regardinguieed disclosure. Our quarterly evaluation of discre controls includes
an evaluation of some components of our internatrobover financial reporting. We also performegparate annual
evaluation of internal control over financial refiog for the purpose of providing the managemeporebelow.

The evaluation of our disclosure controls include@view of their objectives and design, our imparation of the contro
and the effect of the controls on the informati@merated for use in this Annual Report on Form 10akhe course of the
controls evaluation, we reviewed data errors otrobproblems identified and sought to confirm thppropriate corrective
actions, including process improvements, were bamdgrtaken. This type of evaluation is performedauarterly basis
that the conclusions of management, including chiefExecutive Officer and Chief Financial Officengncerning the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls can berted in our periodic reports on Form 10-Q and Fa¥K. Many of the
components of our disclosure controls are alsouewatl on an ongoing basis by both our internaltaudi finance
organizations. The overall goals of these variougduation activities are to monitor our disclosaoamtrols and to modify
them as necessary. We intend to maintain our disodocontrols as dynamic processes and procechaewée adjust as
circumstances merit.

Based upon that evaluation, our Chief Executivéd®@ffand Chief Financial Officer concluded that disclosure controls
and procedures were effective as of the end gbpéhied covered by this report.

Managemen's Report on Internal Control over Financial Repadrtg

Our management is responsible for establishingnaaidtaining adequate internal control over finaha@orting, as such
term is defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) aBd-15(f). Under the supervision and with the ipgration of our
management, including our Chief Executive Officed £hief Financial Officer, we conducted an evahraof the
effectiveness of our internal control over finahceporting as of May 31, 2008 based on the guidsliestablished in
Internal Contro—Integrated Frameworissued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidribe Treadway
Commission (COSO). Our internal control over finahceporting includes policies and procedures fiavide reasonable
assurance regarding the reliability of financigdogting and the preparation of financial statemémt®&xternal reporting
purposes in accordance with U.S. generally accegtedunting principles.

Based on the results of our evaluation, our managéconcluded that our internal control over finahreporting was
effective as of May 31, 2008. We reviewed the rtssoil management’s assessment with our Financéadid Committee.

The effectiveness of our internal control over fioial reporting as of May 31, 2008 has been auditeHrnst & Young
LLP, an independent registered public accounting,fas stated in their report which is includedPart IV, Item 15 of this
Annual Report.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reportm

There were no changes in our internal control dwancial reporting identified in connection withet evaluation required
by paragraph (d) of Exchange Act Rules 13a-15 drlihthat occurred during our last fiscal quartat have materially
affected, or are reasonably likely to materiallieat, our internal control over financial reporting
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Inherent Limitations on Effectiveness of Contro

Our management, including our Chief Executive @iffiand Chief Financial Officer, believes that oisctbsure controls
and procedures and internal control over finarmeipbrting are effective at the reasonable assurdaweé However, our
management does not expect that our disclosureatsiaind procedures or our internal control oveaficial reporting will
prevent all errors and all fraud. A control system,matter how well conceived and operated, canigeeconly reasonable,
not absolute, assurance that the objectives addh&rol system are met. Further, the design ofrdrobsystem must reflect
the fact that there are resource constraints, lmténefits of controls must be considered reldtiaeir costs. Because of
the inherent limitations in all control systems,ev@luation of controls can provide absolute asmedhat all control issues
and instances of fraud, if any, have been detedteelse inherent limitations include the realitieatjudgments in decision-
making can be faulty, and that breakdowns can deecause of a simple error or mistake. Additionalbntrols can be
circumvented by the individual acts of some persbgsollusion of two or more people or by managenoverride of the
controls. The design of any system of controls &dzased in part upon certain assumptions abeuikélihood of future
events, and there can be no assurance that amndeitlisucceed in achieving its stated goals uradlgpotential future
conditions; over time, controls may become inadegbacause of changes in conditions, or the degreempliance with
policies or procedures may deteriorate. Becausieeoihherent limitations in a cost-effective cohspstem, misstatements
due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected

Item 9B. Other Information

None.

PART III
Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governace

The information required by this Item is incorp@eby reference from the information containedun Broxy Statement to
be filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange C@ssion in connection with the solicitation of presifor our Annual
Meeting of Stockholders to be held on October D08

Item 11. Executive Compensatior

The information required by this Item is incorpedby reference from the information to be contaiimeour Proxy
Statement.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners andMlanagement and Related Stockholder Matter:

Equity Compensation Plan Informatiol

May 31, 2008

Number of Shares

Number of Remaining Available

Shares to be Issue! Weighted Average for Future Issuance

Upon Exercise of Exercise Price of Under Equity
Outstanding Options, Outstanding Options, Compensation
(in millions, except price data) Warrants and Rights Warrants and Rights Plans®)

Equity compensation plans approved by stockhol 301 $ 16.3¢ 38202

Equity compensation plans not approved by stocldrs®) 78 % 16.2¢ —

Total 37¢ $ 16.37 382

M These numbers exclude the shares listed undeotbmo headin¢“Number of Shares to be Issued Upon Exercise ofténding Options, Warrants and Rig”

@ This number includes 81 million shares availablefiture issuance under the Oracle Corporation Byg# Stock Purchase Plan (19¢

(3) These options and restricted stock units were asdumconnection with our acquisitions. No additibawards were or can be granted under the plat®tlyinally issuet
these awards

Information required by this Item with respect tock Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Eggment is
incorporated herein by reference from the infororato be contained in our Proxy Statement.
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Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, an®irector Independence

The information required by this Item is incorp@éherein by reference from the information to betained in ou
Proxy Statement.

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Service

The information required by this Item is incorp@éherein by reference from the information to betained in ou
Proxy Statement.

PART IV
Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedule
(@) 1. Financial Statements

The following financial statements are filed asaat pf this report:

Page
Reports of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Registé?ablic Accounting Firn 65
Consolidated Financial Statemer
Balance Sheets as of May 31, 2008 and - 67
Statements of Operations for the years ended Mag®18, 2007 and 20( 68
Statements of Stockhold’ Equity for the years ended May 31, 2008, 2007 Q5. 69
Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended Mag2@18, 2007 and 20( 70
Notes to Consolidated Financial Stateme 71
2. Financial Statement Schedule
The following financial statement schedule is fikgla part of this report:
Page
Schedule II. Valuation and Qualifying Accoul 111

All other schedules are omitted because they aresqaired or the required information is shownha financial
statements or notes thereto.

(b) Exhibits

The following exhibits are filed herewith or aredmporated by reference to exhibits previouslydfikdth the
U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the aidinthibit number is referenced parenthetically).

Exhibit
Number Exhibit Title
2.01®) Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated February 287 28mong Oracle Corporation, Hyperion
Solutions Corporation and Hotrod Acquisition Coigdion (2.1)
2.02 Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated January 18,280@ong Oracle Corporation, BEA Systems,
Inc. and Bronco Acquisition Corporation (2
3.013 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporatio®mcle Corporation and Certificate of
Amendment of Amended and Restated Certificate adrjporation of Oracle Corporation (3
3.024) Amended and Restated Bylaws of Oracle CorporaBdiR|
4.0164) Specimen Certificate of Registr’s Common Stock (4.0:
4.020) Preferred Share Rights Agreement between OraclpdCation and Computershare Trust Company,
N.A., as rights agent, dated as of January 31, 2004)
4.03©) Indenture dated January 13, 2006, among Oracle®gsCorporation, Oracle Corporation and

Citibank, N.A. (10.34
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Exhibit
Number

4.0460)
4.05(
4.06(®)
4.070)
4.08(19)
10.01(1D"
10.02(2)
10.03@3)"
10.0404*
10.05(19)"
10.06(19)"
10.07@8)"
10.08a7)"
10.09018)*

10.10(18)"
10.11a8)"

10.12A9)"
10.130a8)
10.14(13
10.15@0)"
10.16R0)"
10.17@1)
10.18(21)
10.19(2)
10.20@3)"

10.21C9"
10.22(25)

Exhibit Title

Forms of Old 2011 Note and Old 2016 Note, togeitidr the Officers’Certificate issued January .
2006 pursuant to the Indenture dated January 1, 20mong Oracle Corporation (formerly known
as Ozark Holding Inc.) and Citibank, N.A. (10.:

Forms of New 5.00% Note due 2011 and New 5.25% No&2016 (4.4

First Supplemental Indenture dated May 9, 2007 ant@racle Corporation, Citibank, N.A. and The
Bank of New York Trust Company, N.A. (4.

Forms of New Floating Rate Note due 2009 and Nematifig Rate Note due 2010, together with
Officere’ Certificate issued May 15, 2007 setting forth therts of the Notes (4.0.

Forms of 4.95% Note due 2013, 5.75% Note due 20118s0% Note due 2038, together with
Officere’ Certificate issued April 9, 2008 setting forth teems of the Notes (4.0!

Oracle Corporation 1993 Deferred Compensation Rlammended and restated as of November 14,
2003 (10.17

Oracle Corporation Employee Stock Purchase Plag2)]&s amended and restated as of February 8,
2005 (10.01

Oracle Corporation Amended and Restated 1993 Dirg’cbtock Plan, as amended and restated on
October 9, 2006 (10.2!

The 1991 Lon-Term Equity Incentive Plan, as amended through lt@8, 1999 (10.11
Amendment to the 1991 Lo-Term Equity Incentive Plan, dated January 7, 20Q0000)
Amendment to the 1991 Lo-Term Equity Incentive Plan, dated June 2, 20001{IX

Amended and Restated 2000 Long-Term Equity IncerRian, as approved on October 29, 2004
(10.07)

Form of Stock Option Agreements for the Amended Radtated 2000 Long-Term Equity Incentive
Plan (10.08

Form of Stock Option Agreement for Oracle Corparathmended and Restated 1993 Directors’
Stock Plan (10.0¢

Form of Indemnification Agreement for Directors afixkecutive Officers (10.1(

Letter dated September 15, 2004 confirming severan@ngement contained in Offer Letter dated
May 14, 2003 to Charles E. Phillips, Jr. and Empient Agreement dated May 15, 2003 (10.
Amendment dated August 26, 2005, to the Offer tettded May 14, 2003, to Charles E. Phillips
(10.25)

Offer letter dated September 7, 2004 to JuergetidR@nd Employment Agreement dated Septer
3, 2004 (10.13

Description of the Fiscal Year 2007 Executive BoRlen (10.28

Form of Executive Bonus Plan Agreements for thecf@r&xecutive Bonus Plan, N-Sales (10.29
Form of Executive Bonus Plan Agreements for thec@r&xecutive Bonus Plan, Sales and
Consulting (10.30

Form of Commercial Paper Dealer Agreement relatndpe $5,000,000,000 Commercial Paper
Program (10.2

Issuing and Paying Agency Agreement between Of@otporation and JP Morgan Chase Bank,
National Association dated as of February 3, 20@63)

$3,000,000,000 5-Year Revolving Credit Agreemem¢das of March 15, 2006, among Oracle
Corporation and the lenders and agents named th@i@i4)

Offer letter dated January 31, 1997 to Sergio G&tmand Employment Agreement dated February
20, 1997 (10.27

Description of the Fiscal Year 2008 Executive BoRien (10.28

$2,000,000,000 364-Day Revolving Credit Agreemexted as of March 18, 2008, among Oracle
Corporation and the lenders and agents named th@i@i29)
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Exhibit

Number Exhibit Title
12.01 Consolidated Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Chai
21.01 Subsidiaries of the Registre
23.01 Consent of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Registétablic Accounting Firn
31.01 Certification Pursuant to Section 302 of the Saés-Oxley Aci—Lawrence J. Ellisol
31.02 Certification Pursuant to Section 302 of the Saeks-Oxley Aci—Safra A. Cat:
32.01 Certification Pursuant to Section 906 of the Saés-Oxley Act

@
@

(©)
4)
®)
(6)

@)
®)
)
(10)
(11)

(12

(13)
14

(15)

(16)

an
(18)

(19)

(20)

(21)
(22)
23)
(24
(25)

Indicates management contract or compensatoryqgslarrangemer
Incorporated by reference to Oracle Corporé s Current Report oForm ¢-K filed on March 6, 200

Incorporated by reference to BEA Systems,’s Current Report oForm &K (File No. 00(-22369)filed on January 17
2008

Incorporated by reference to Oracle Corporés Current Report oForm ¢-K12G3filed on February 6, 200
Incorporated by reference to Oracle Corporé s Current Report oForm ¢-K filed on July 14, 2001
Incorporated by reference to Oracle Corporé¢s Annual Report oForm 1(-K filed July 21, 200¢

Incorporated by reference to Oracle Systems Cofipn’'s Current Report (FilNo. 00(-14376)on Form ¢-K filed on
January 20, 200

Incorporated by reference to Oracle Corporé s Form $-4/A filed on April 14, 200¢

Incorporated by reference to Oracle Corporé s Form $-3ASRfiled on May 10, 200°
Incorporated by reference to Oracle Corporé s Current Report oForm ¢-K filed on May 15, 200°
Incorporated by reference to Oracle Corporé s Current Report oForm ¢-K filed on April 8, 200€

Incorporated by reference to Oracle Systems Cofipora Quarterly Report (File No. 000-14376) on fat0-Q filed
December 22, 20C

Incorporated by reference to Oracle Systems Cotipora Quarterly Report (File No. 000-14376) on fot0-Q filed
September 28, 20(

Incorporated by reference to Oracle Corporés Current Report oForm ¢-K filed on October 12, 20C

Incorporated by reference to Oracle Systems Cotipora Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 0D@376) filed
January 14, 200

Incorporated by reference to Oracle Systems Cofipn’'s Annual Report oForm 1(-K (File No. 00(-14376)filed
August 28, 200!

Incorporated by reference to Oracle Systems Cotipora Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 000-¥43 filed
November 4, 200

Incorporated by reference to Oracle Corporé s Quarterly Report oForm 1(-Q filed September 26, 20(

Incorporated by reference to Oracle Systems Cotipora Oracle Corporation’s Quarterly Report onifidt0-Q (File
No. 00(-14376)filed September 17, 20(

Incorporated by reference to Oracle Systems Cotipara Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 000-743 filed
August 30, 200!

Incorporated by reference to Oracle Systems Cotipora Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 0D8376) filed
January 5, 200

Incorporated by reference to Oracle Corporés Current Report oForm ¢-K filed on February 9, 20C
Incorporated by reference to Oracle Corporé s Current Report oForm ¢-K filed March 21, 200t
Incorporated by reference to Oracle Corporé s Quarterly Report oForm 1(-Q filed December 21, 20C
Incorporated by reference to Oracle Corporé s Quarterly Report oForm 1(-Q filed December 21, 20C
Incorporated by reference to Oracle Corporé s Current Report oForm &K filed on March 21, 200
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REPORT OF ERNST & YOUNG LLP, INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of OraabepGration

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsineets of Oracle Corporation as of May 31, 2082007,
and the related consolidated statements of opestatockholderstquity, and cash flows for each of the three y
in the period ended May 31, 2008. Our audits alstuded the financial statement schedule listatiénindex at
Item 15(a) 2. These financial statements and s¢beda the responsibility of the Company’s managsmeur
responsibility is to express an opinion on thesarftial statements and schedule based on our audits

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstats of the Public Company Accounting Oversighago
(United States). Those standards require that ame ghd perform the audit to obtain reasonable assarabout
whether the financial statements and scheduleraeeof material misstatement. An audit includesw@rang, on a
test basis, evidence supporting the amounts awctbdiges in the financial statements. An audit alstudes
assessing the accounting principles used and &ignifestimates made by management, as well asatirgj the
overall financial statement presentation. We belithat our audits provide a reasonable basis foopinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referedlbove present fairly, in all material respedts, ¢consolidated
financial position of Oracle Corporation at May 2008 and 2007, and the consolidated results ofpésations and
its cash flows for each of the three years in tgopl ended May 31, 2008, in conformity with U.8ngrally
accepted accounting principles. Also, in our opinithe related financial statement schedule, wioasidered in
relation to the basic financial statements takea a#$ole, presents fairly in all material respehtsinformation set
forth therein.

As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated findrst&ements, under the headings Stock-Based Casapen and
Income Taxes, the Company adopted Statement ohé&imlaAccounting Standards No. 123(Sjhare-Based
Paymen, effective June 1, 2006 and Financial Accountitan8ards Board (FASB) Interpretation No. 48,
Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes, anriptetation of FASB Statement No. ], effective June 1, 2007.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@snited
States), Oracle Corporation’s internal control dgancial reporting as of May 31, 2008, based aieiGa
established imnternal Control—Integrated Framewoigsued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidrike
Treadway Commission and our report dated July @82Xpressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

/s ERNST & YOUNG LLF
San Francisco, California

July 1, 2008
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REPORT OF ERNST & YOUNG LLP, INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of OraabepGration

We have audited Oracle Corporation’s internal adrdver financial reporting as of May 31, 2008 lthea criteria
established imnternal Control—Integrated Framewoigsued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidrike
Treadway Commission (the COSO criteria). OraclepGration’s management is responsible for maintginin
effective internal control over financial reportirand for its assessment of the effectivenesstefnal control over
financial reporting included in the accompanyingidgement’s Report on Internal Control Over Findncia
Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an mpiron the Company’s internal control over finahcéporting
based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the stadwdof the Public Company Accounting OversightriBoa
(United States). Those standards require that ame ghd perform the audit to obtain reasonable assarabout
whether effective internal control over financieporting was maintained in all material respects. &udit included
obtaining an understanding of internal control dugincial reporting, assessing the risk that aemaltweakness
exists, testing and evaluating the design and ¢ipgraffectiveness of internal control based onabsessed risk,
and performing such other procedures as we comsldercessary in the circumstances. We believethaudit
provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial repogiis a process designed to provide reasonablesassu
regarding the reliability of financial reportingdthe preparation of financial statements for exaepurposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting ipfeee A company’s internal control over finanaiaporting
includes those policies and procedures that (Ipjpeto the maintenance of records that, in reasiendetail,
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions disghositions of the assets of the company; (2) ideweasonable
assurance that transactions are recorded as ngctsparmit preparation of financial statementa@cordance wit
generally accepted accounting principles, andréwdipts and expenditures of the company are beadg only in
accordance with authorizations of management anedtdirs of the company; and (3) provide reasonasdeirance
regarding prevention or timely detection of unauitted acquisition, use, or disposition of the comps assets that
could have a material effect on the financial stegets.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or d@étaisstatements.
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectivesnés future periods are subject to the risk thatds may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions, btttbalegree of compliance with the policies orcpaures may
deteriorate.

In our opinion, Oracle Corporation maintained, limzaterial respects, effective internal controkofinancial
reporting as of May 31, 2008, based on the COS@rii

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@snited
States), the consolidated balance sheets of OCaeigoration as of May 31, 2008 and 2007, and tlztee
consolidated statements of operations, stockhdldgtsty, and cash flows for each of the three géarthe period
ended May 31, 2008 and our report dated July 18 20@ressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

/s ERNST & YOUNG LLF
San Francisco, California

July 1, 2008
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ORACLE CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
As of May 31, 2008 and 2007

May 31,
(in millions, except per share data 2008 2007
ASSETS
Current asset
Cash and cash equivalel $ 8,26. $ 6,21
Marketable securitie 2,781 80z
Trade receivables, net of allowances of $303 arb $3 of May 31, 2008 and 20 5,127 4,074
Other receivable 672 51E
Deferred tax asse 852 96¢€
Prepaid expenses and other current a: 40¢ 30€
Total current asse 18,10: 12,88:
Non-current asset:
Property, ne 1,68¢ 1,60
Intangible assets: software support agreementsedated relationships, n 3,791 3,00z
Intangible assets: other, r 4,59¢ 2,962
Goodwill 17,99 13,47¢
Other asset 1,091 642
Total nor-current asset 29,16t 21,68¢
Total asset $ 47,26¢ $ 34,57:
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS ' EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Notes payable, current and other current borrow $ 1,001 $ 1,35¢
Accounts payabl 382 31E
Income taxes payab 39C 1,237
Accrued compensation and related ben: 1,77C 1,34¢
Accrued restructurin 30¢€ 201
Deferred revenue 4,49 3,49z
Other current liabilitie: 1,68t 1,43¢
Total current liabilities 10,02¢ 9,381
Non-current liabilities:
Notes payable and other r-current borrowing: 10,23t 6,23t
Income taxes payab 1,56¢ —
Deferred tax liabilities 1,21¢ 1,121
Accrued restructurin 26C 25¢
Deferred revenue 262 93
Other lon¢-term liabilities 673 55¢
Total nor-current liabilities 14,21+« 8,26€
Commitments and contingenci
Stockholder' equity:
Preferred stock, $0.01 par va—authorized: 1.0 shares; outstanding: n — —
Common stock, $0.01 par value and additional paichpital—authorized:

11,000 shares; outstanding: 5,150 shares and SHd@és as of May 31, 2008 and 2( 12,44¢ 10,29:¢
Retained earninc 9,961 6,228
Accumulated other comprehensive inca 61€ 403

Total stockholder” equity 23,02¢ 16,91¢
Total liabilities and stockholde’ equity $ 47,26¢  $ 34,57:

See notes to consolidated financial statements.

67




Table of Contents

ORACLE CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
For the Years Ended May 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006

Year Ended May 31,

(in millions, except per share data 2008 2007 2006
Revenues
New software license $ 7,51! $ 5,88: $ 4,90!
Software license updates and product sug 10,32¢ 8,32¢ 6,63¢€
Software revenue 17,84 14,21 11,54:
Services 4,58 3,78¢ 2,83¢
Total revenue 22,43( 17,99¢ 14,38(
Operating expense
Sales and marketir 4,67¢ 3,901 3,17
Software license updates and product sug 997 842 71¢
Cost of service 3,98¢ 3,34¢ 2,51¢
Research and developm 2,741 2,19¢ 1,87
General and administrati 80¢ 692 55k
Amortization of intangible asse 1,212 87¢ 588
Acquisition related and oth 124 14C 137
Restructuring 41 19 85
Total operating expens 14,58¢ 12,02: 9,64
Operating incom: 7,84¢ 5,97¢ 4,73¢
Interest expens (399 (343 (169
Non-operating income, n¢ 384 35E 243
Income before provision for income ta 7,83¢ 5,98¢ 4,81(
Provision for income taxe 2,318 1,717 1,42¢
Net income $ 5,521 $ 4274 $ 3,381
Earnings per shar
Basic $ 1.0¢ $ 0.87 $ 0.6
Diluted $ 1.0€ $ 0.81 $ 0.64
Weighted average common shares outstani
Basic 5,13t 5,17(C 5,19¢
Diluted 5,22¢ 5,26¢ 5,28

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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ORACLE CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS'’ EQUITY
For the Years Ended May 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006

Common Stock
and Additional Paid

Accumulated

in Capital Other
Comprehensive  Number of Retained Deferred Comprehensive

(in millions) Income Shares Amount Earnings Compensatior Income Total
Balances as of May 31, 20! 514t $ 6,59 $ 404! $ 4y $ 24 $10,83
Common stock issued under stock award p $ — 87 57¢ — — — 572
Common stock issued under stock purchase — 6 59 — — — 59
Issuance of stock and assumption of stock awardsrinectior

with acquisitions — 141 2,04z — (39 — 2,00%
Amortization of deferred sto-based compensatic — — 5) — 54 — 49
Repurchase of common sto — (147) (181)  (1,88¢) — — (2,067)
Tax benefit from stock plar — — 162 — — — 162
Minimum benefit plan liability adjustmen ?3) — — — — ?3) ?3)
Foreign currency translatic — — — — 7 7
Equity hedge gain, net of t: 14 — — — — 14 14
Net unrealized losses on marketable securitiegfrtax 3) — — — — 3) 3)
Net income 3,381 — — 3,381 — — 3,381
Comprehensive incorr $ 3,39¢
Balances as of May 31, 20 5,232 9,24¢ 5,53¢ (30) 25¢€ 15,01:
Common stock issued under stock award p $ — 10€ 872 — — — 872
Common stock issued under stock purchase — 3 51 — — — 51
Assumption of stock awards in connection with asiiains — — 97 — — — 97
Reclassification of deferred compensation upon tidomwf

Statement 123(F — — (3C) — 30 — —
Stocl-based compensatic — — 207 — — — 207
Repurchase of common sto — (234) (395) (3,589 — — (3,984
Tax benefit from stock plar — — 244 — — — 244
Minimum benefit plan liability adjustmen 1C — — — — 1C 10
Adjustment to accumulated other comprehensive ircopon

adoption of Statement 1t — — — — — 28 29
Foreign currency translatic 82 — — — — 82 82
Equity hedge gain, net of t: 28 — — — — 28 28
Net unrealized losses on marketable securitiemfrteix (4) — — — — (4) (4)
Net income 4,274 — — 4,274 — — 4,27¢
Comprehensive inconr $ 4,39(
Balances as of May 31, 20 5,107 10,29:¢ 6,22: — 402 16,91¢
Common stock issued under stock award p $ — 137 1,22¢ — — — 1,22¢
Common stock issued under stock purchase | — 3 59 — — — 59
Assumption of stock awards in connection with asifioins — — 24C — — — 24C
Stoclk-based compensatic — — 367 — — — 367
Repurchase of common sto — (97) (2149 (1,786 — — (2,000)
Tax benefit from stock plar — — 472 — — — 47z
Adjustment to retained earnings upon adoption df #8 — — — 3 — — 3
Net unrealized loss on defined benefit plan assetsof tax 9) — — — — (9) 9)
Foreign currency translatic 30C — — — — 30C 30C
Net unrealized losses on derivative financial insients, net of ta 77 — — — — 77 77)
Net unrealized gain on marketable securities, g 1 — — — — 1 1
Net income 5,521 — — 5,521 — — 5,521
Comprehensive incorr $ 5,73!
Balances as of May 31, 20! 515( $ 12,44t $ 9961 $ — $ 61 $ 23,02¢

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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ORACLE CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
For the Years Ended May 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006

Year Ended May 31,

(in millions) 2008 2007 2006
Cash Flows From Operating Activitie
Net income $5,521 $4,27¢ $ 3,381
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cashigenl by operating activitie:
Depreciatior 26¢ 24¢ 22¢
Amortization of intangible asse 1,21z 87¢ 588
Provision for trade receivable allowant 164 244 241
Deferred income taxe (135 (56) (40
Minority interests in incom 60 71 41
Stocl-based compensatic 36¢ 207 49
Tax benefits on the exercise of stock aw: 58¢ 33¢ 162
Excess tax benefits from stc-based compensatic (4549) (259 —
In-process research and developn 24 151 78
Other gains, ne (66) (22 39
Changes in assets and liabilities, net of effectsifacquisitions
Increase in trade receivabl (825) (723 (35E
(Increase) decrease in prepaid expenses and cther (191 (153%) 14
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable and dbdities (159 (345 23
Increase (decrease) in income taxes pay 36¢ 27¢ (98)
Increase in deferred revent 652 387 27¢
Net cash provided by operating activit 7,40 5,52( 4,541
Cash Flows From Investing Activitie
Purchases of marketable securities and other imesgs (5,629 (5,405 (2,986
Proceeds from maturities and sales of marketallarisies and other investmer 4,281 5,75¢ 3,67¢
Acquisitions, net of cash acquir (7,647 (5,005 (3,959
Capital expenditure (243 (319 (236)
Proceeds from sale of prope 15z 2 14C
Net cash used for investing activiti (9,076  (4,97)) (3,359
Cash Flows From Financing Activitie
Payments for repurchases of common s (2,029 (3,939 (2,067
Proceeds from issuances of common s 1,28¢ 924 632
Proceeds from borrowings, net of issuance ¢ 6,171 4,07¢ 12,63¢
Repayments of borrowing (2,560 (2,419 (9,635
Excess tax benefits from stc-based compensatic 454 25¢ —
Distributions to minority interes: (49 (46) (39
Net cash provided by (used for) financing actiw 3,281 (1,139 1,527
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and caslaénts 437 14¢ 56
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equis 2,04¢ (441 2,76
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of pe 6,21¢ 6,65¢ 3,89¢
Cash and cash equivalents at end of pe $8,26: $6,21¢ $ 6,65¢
Non-cash investing and financing transactic
Fair value of stock awards assumed in connectidim adquisitions $ 24C $ 97 $ 2,04
Unsettled repurchases of common st $ 24 $ 47 $ —
Supplemental schedule of cash flow di
Cash paid for income tax $1687 $1,197 $ 1,41:
Cash paid for intere! $ 347 $ 354 $ 74

See notes to consolidated financial statements.

70




Table of Contents

ORACLE CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
May 31, 2008

1. ORGANIZATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Oracle Corporation develops, manufactures, markligjbutes and services database and middlevediease, as well as
applications software, that help organizations rgarend grow their businesses. Database and middlesgéware is used
for the secure storage, retrieval and manipulatioall forms of software-based data, and for depiglg and deploying
applications on the internet and on corporate in&tts Applications software is used to automaténiegs processes and to
provide business intelligence. We also offer sofenl@ense updates and product support (includimgsrt for the Linux
Operating System), and other services includinggtiimg, On Demand, and education.

Oracle Corporation is a holding corporation withn@nship of its direct and indirect subsidiariesjaltinclude Oracle
Systems Corporation (Old Oracle), Siebel Systents,(Siebel) and each of their domestic and forsigsidiaries around
the world. Oracle Corporation, or Oracle, was &iliyi formed as a direct wholly-owned subsidiaryadfl Oracle. Prior to
January 31, 2006, our name was Ozark Holding Im¢.@ld Oracle’s name was Oracle Corporation. Omidan31, 2006,

in connection with the acquisition of Siebel, whisldescribed in Note 2, a wholly-owned subsidiafrracle was merged
with and into Old Oracle, with Old Oracle surviviag a wholly-owned subsidiary of Oracle (the Repizztion). In
addition, another wholly-owned subsidiary of Oraekes merged with and into Siebel, with Siebel sting as a wholly-
owned subsidiary of Oracle. As a result, Oracleab®e the parent company of Old Oracle and Siebdlttachanges to the
names of Oracle and Old Oracle were effected.

Basis of Financial Statements

The consolidated financial statements include eapants and the accounts of our wholly- and majantned subsidiarie:
We consolidate all of our majority-owned subsidiarand reflect as minority interests the portidithese entities that we
do not own in other long-term liabilities on oumswolidated balance sheets. At May 31, 2008 and,28@mhalance of
minority interests was $369 million and $316 mifljoespectively. Intercompany transactions andrsala have been
eliminated. The presentation of certain prior ye@ances has been reclassified to conform to thremuyear presentation.
Such reclassifications did not affect total revenugperating income or net income.

Use of Estimates

Our consolidated financial statements are preparadcordance with U.S. generally accepted accogmtiinciples
(GAAP). These accounting principles require us tikencertain estimates, judgments and assumptioasélieve that the
estimates, judgments and assumptions upon whiatelw@re reasonable based upon information availetbus at the time
that these estimates, judgments and assumptiomsae. These estimates, judgments and assumpéareffect the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities asefitite of the financial statements as well aséperted amounts of
revenues and expenses during the periods presditede extent there are material differences betwhese estimates,
judgments or assumptions and actual results, msatwlated financial statements will be affectedmlany cases, tt
accounting treatment of a particular transactiogpiscifically dictated by GAAP and does not requir@nagement’s
judgment in its application. There are also araashich manageme’s judgment in selecting among available alterrestiv
would not produce a materially different result.

Revenue Recognition

We derive revenues from the following sources:s@fjware, which includes new software license afthare license
updates and product support revenues, and (2xssrwivhich include consulting, On Demand and edutagvenues.
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New software license revenues represent fees efnaradgranting customers licenses to use our datghbaiddleware an
applications software, and exclude revenues deffroed software license updates, which are includesbftware license
updates and product support revenues. While ths fmssoftware license revenue recognition is tatgally governed by
the provisions of Statement of Position No. 9B&ftware Revenue Recogniti@0OP 97-2), issued by the American
Institute of Certified Public Accountants, we exsecjudgment and use estimates in connection Wwétdetermination of tf
amount of software and services revenues to bgnéoed in each accounting period.

For software license arrangements that do not regignificant modification or customization of thederlying software,
we recoghize new software license revenues whémvelenter into a legally binding arrangement vaittustomer for the
license of software; (2) we deliver the produc®;dustomer payment is deemed fixed or determinatdefree of
contingencies or significant uncertainties; ando@l)ection is probable. Substantially all of o@wnsoftware license
revenues are recognized in this manner.

The vast majority of our software license arrangaiméclude software license updates and prodygiat contracts,
which are entered into at the customer’s optionanedrecognized ratably over the term of the amamant, typically one
year. Software license updates provide custometsnghts to unspecified software product upgradesntenance releas
and patches released during the term of the suppaidd. Product support includes internet acae$sdhnical content, as
well as internet and telephone access to techsiggort personnel. Software license updates artlipt@upport contracts
are generally priced as a percentage of the netsoéiware license fees. Substantially all of oustomers purchase both
software license updates and product support ottstvehen they acquire new software licenses. litiadd substantially a
of our customers renew their software license wgxlanhd product support contracts annually.

Many of our software arrangements include consyiimplementation services sold separately undesuting engageme
contracts. Consulting revenues from these arrangenage generally accounted for separately from safitware license
revenues because the arrangements qualify as egtvansactions as defined in SOP 97-2. The mgnéfisant factors
considered in determining whether the revenuesldhmiaccounted for separately include the natbsevices (i.e.,
consideration of whether the services are essdantthk functionality of the licensed product), degyof risk, availability of
services from other vendors, timing of paymentsiamghct of milestones or acceptance criteria orréladéizability of the
software license fee. Revenues for consulting sesvare generally recognized as the services di@ped. If there is a
significant uncertainty about the project completin receipt of payment for the consulting servjicesenues are deferred
until the uncertainty is sufficiently resolved. \Wstimate the proportional performance on contnaitsfixed or “not to
exceed” fees on a monthly basis utilizing hoursiined to date as a percentage of total estimateshio complete the
project. If we do not have a sufficient basis tcamee progress towards completion, revenues angmexed when we
receive final acceptance from the customer. Whtai tost estimates exceed revenues, we accrubda@stimated losses
immediately using cost estimates that are based apaverage fully burdened daily rate applicabléné consulting
organization delivering the services. The compleaftthe estimation process and factors relatintpéoassumptions, risks
and uncertainties inherent with the applicatiothef proportional performance method of accountifiecés the amounts of
revenues and related expenses reported in our lodateal financial statements. A number of interauad external factors
can affect our estimates, including labor rateitization and efficiency variances and specificatand testing requirement
changes.

If an arrangement does not qualify for separatewaating of the software license and consultinggeations, then new
software license revenues are generally recogriagpether with the consulting services based onraohaccounting using
either the percentage-of-completion or completaatre@t method. Contract accounting is applied pamangements:

(1) that include milestones or customer specifieatance criteria that may affect collection of sbéware license fees;
(2) where services include significant modificatmmcustomization of the software; (3) where sigaifit consulting servic
are provided for in the software license contraitheut
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additional charge or are substantially discounted4) where the software license payment is tiethé performance of
consulting services.

On Demand is comprised of Oracle On Demand, CRMD@&mand and Advanced Customer Services. Oracle @rabé
provides multi-featured software and hardware mament and maintenance services for our databadd|ewiare and
applications software. CRM On Demand is a servfteriog that provides our customers with our CRMt@&are
functionality delivered via a hosted solution tineg manage. Advanced Customer Services provide rogstoconfiguration
and performance analysis, personalized supporaandal on-site technical services.

Revenues from On Demand services are recognizedivzéerm of the service period, which is gengraiie year or less.

Education revenues include instructor-led, medsetand internet based training in the use of maotyxts. Education
revenues are recognized as the classes or otheatemuofferings are delivered.

For arrangements with multiple elements, we allcatvenues to each element of a transaction bamedits fair value as
determined by “vendor specific objective evidendéehdor specific objective evidence of fair valoe &ll elements of an
arrangement is based upon the normal pricing aswbdnting practices for those products and servites sold separately
and for software license updates and product stigpovices is also measured by the renewal ragzagffto the customer.
We may modify our pricing practices in the futundich could result in changes in our vendor spedfijective evidence
fair value for these undelivered elements. As altesur future revenue recognition for multiplemlent arrangements co
differ significantly from our historical results.

We defer revenues for any undelivered elementsregmhnize revenues when the product is delivereer the period in
which the service is performed, in accordance withrevenue recognition policy for such elementvéf cannot objectively
determine the fair value of any undelivered elenieeitided in bundled software and service arrangesyeve defer
revenue until all elements are delivered and sesvimve been performed, or until fair value caecatbjely be determined
for any remaining undelivered elements. When tirevidue of a delivered element has not been dstadal, we use the
residual method to record revenue if the fair valfiall undelivered elements is determinable. UriHerresidual method,
the fair value of the undelivered elements is deftand the remaining portion of the arrangememnidallocated to the
delivered elements and is recognized as revenues.

Substantially all of our software license arrangetsaelo not include acceptance provisions. Howefacceptance
provisions exist as part of public policy, for examin agreements with government entities whereptaace periods are
required by law, or within previously executed teramd conditions that are referenced in the cuagrédement and are
short-term in nature, we generally recognize reesrupon delivery provided the acceptance termpeanfanctory and all
other revenue recognition criteria have been metcdeptance provisions are not perfunctory (famsple, acceptance
provisions that are long-term in nature or areinciuded as standard terms of an arrangement)no@geare recognized
upon the earlier of receipt of written customeregtance or expiration of the acceptance period.

We also evaluate arrangements with governmentaiesntontaining “fiscal funding” or “terminatiorof convenience”
provisions, when such provisions are required Iy ta determine the probability of possible carat@hn. We consider
multiple factors, including the history with thestamer in similar transactions, the “essential ufdhe software licenses
and the planning, budgeting and approval procassasrtaken by the governmental entity. If we deteenupon execution
of these arrangements that the likelihood of cdatieh is remote, we then recognize revenues othoé the criteria
described above have been met. If such a deterigninzdnnot be made, revenues are recognized upaeettier of cash
receipt or approval of the applicable funding psis by the governmental entity.

We assess whether fees are fixed or determinalthe ditme of sale and recognize revenues if akkiotvenue recognition
requirements are met. Our standard payment terensedr30; however, terms may vary based on thetgoimwhich the
agreement is executed. Payments that are due wgithmonths are generally deemed to be
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fixed or determinable based on our successful cidie history on such arrangements, and thereligfgdihe required
criteria for revenue recognition.

While most of our arrangements include short-teaynpent terms, we have a standard practice of prayidng-term
financing to creditworthy customers through ougfining division. Since fiscal 1989, when our finagcdivision was
formed, we have established a history of colle¢timithout concessions, on these receivables wiyimgat terms that
generally extend up to five years from the contdete. Provided all other revenue recognition ddtbave been met, we
recognize new software license revenues for theaegements upon delivery, net of any payment distofrom financing
transactions. We have generally sold receivabiemfied through our financing division on a non-uese basis to third
party financing institutions and we classify thegeeds from these sales as cash flows from opgratitivities in our
consolidated statements of cash flows. In fisc@82@007 and 2006, $1.1 billion, $891 million ar&l8 million or
approximately 15%, 15% and 13% of our new softWi@ense revenues were financed through our finandivision. We
account for the sale of these receivables as Sales” as defined in FASB Statement No. 1&;ounting for Transfers and
Servicing of Financial Assets and Extinguishmehtsabilities.

Our customers include several of our suppliers@ndare occasion, we have purchased goods or esrfgc our operations
from these vendors at or about the same time thdtave licensed our software to these same congp@@amcurrent
Transactions). Software license agreements thairagithin a three-month time period from the date ave purchased
goods or services from that same customer arewedidor appropriate accounting treatment and dsscio. When we
acquire goods or services from a customer, we regdhe purchase separately from any softwaradie¢ransaction, at
terms we consider to be at arm’s length, and séttlgourchase in cash. We recognize new softwegadie revenues from
Concurrent Transactions if all of our revenue rexdtign criteria are met and the goods and senacggiired are necessary
for our current operations.

Business Combinations

We determine and allocate the purchase price atguoired company to the tangible and intangibletasacquired and
liabilities assumed as well as to in-process reteand development as of the business combinatimid accordance with
Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Statamio. 141 Business CombinationsThe purchase price allocation
process requires us to use significant estimatésaasumptions, including fair value estimates,fabebusiness
combination date including:

 estimated fair values of stock awards assumed fhenacquiree that are included in the purchasej

estimated fair values of intangible assets acqui@ud the acquiree

 estimated fair values of software license updatelsproduct support obligations assumed from theiaeey;
 estimated value of restructuring liabilities to iganize the acquir’s pre-acquisition operation:
 estimated income tax assets and liabilities assdroetthe acquiree; ar

 estimated fair value of p-acquisition contingencies assumed from the acqt

While we use our best estimates and assumptioagpag of the purchase price allocation processtarately value assets
acquired and liabilities assumed at the businesggwtion date, our estimates and assumptionsiaegently uncertain ar
subject to refinement. As a result, during the pase price allocation period, which is generallg gaar from the business
combination date, we record adjustments to theassguired and liabilities assumed, with the agpomding offset to
goodwill. With the exception of unresolved incorag matters or decreases to estimated restructliginitities, subsequent
to the purchase price allocation period any adjestrio assets acquired or liabilities assumedcisidled in our operating
results in the period in which the adjustment iedained.
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In fiscal 2010, we will adopt FASB Statement NolX#evised 2007)Business CombinationdRefer to Recent Accounting
Pronouncements (below) for additional information.

Marketable and Non-Marketable Securities

In accordance with FASB Statement No. 1A8¢ounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Bg8ecuritiesand based
on our intentions regarding these instruments, lagsdy our marketable debt and equity securiteaailable-for-sale.
Marketable debt and equity securities are repatddir value, with all unrealized gains (lossef)acted net of tax in
stockholders’ equity. If we determine that an irtment has an other than temporary decline in faue, we recognize the
investment loss in non-operating income, net inab@mpanying consolidated statements of operatiesperiodically
evaluate our investments to determine if impairnodratrges are required.

We hold investments in certain non-marketable ggeéturities which we do not have a controllingiast or significant
influence, which are recorded at cost and includezther assets in the accompanying consolidatithba sheets. Our non-
marketable securities are subject to periodic inmpaint reviews and we had nominal impairment losske¢ed to non-
marketable equity securities and other investmiarfiscal 2008, 2007 and 2006.

Allowances for Doubtful Accounts

We record allowances for doubtful accounts baseuh#pspecific review of all significant outstandingoices. For those
invoices not specifically reviewed, provisions previded at differing rates, based upon the ageefeceivable, the
collection history associated with the geograpbkgion that the receivable was recorded in and oigeonomic trends.

Concentrations of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that are potentially subjeatoncentrations of credit risk consist primadfycash and cash
equivalents, marketable securities and trade rabédg. Investment policies have been implementadithit investments t
investment grade securities. We do not requireatenthl to secure accounts receivable. The risk regpect to trade
receivables is mitigated by credit evaluations weggrm on our customers, the short duration ofgayment terms for the
significant majority of our customer contracts doydthe diversification of our customer base. Nagkrcustomer accounted
for 10% or more of revenues in fiscal 2008, 2002@06.

Other Receivables

Other receivables represent value-added tax ard &at receivables associated with the sale ofvaodtand services to
third parties.

Property

Property is stated at the lower of cost or realzahlue, net of accumulated depreciation. Deptiecias computed using
the straight-line method based on estimated ufigéd of the assets, which range from one to fiitars. Leasehold
improvements are amortized over the lesser of estichuseful lives or lease terms, as appropriatgdrty is periodically
reviewed for impairment whenever events or chamyegcumstances indicate that the carrying amafdi@in asset may not
be recoverable. We did not recognize any signifipmaperty impairment charges in fiscal 2008, 2602006.

Goodwill, Intangible Assets and Impairment Assessnmgs

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase pria business combination over the fair valueatftangible and
intangible assets acquired. Intangible assetsatigaot considered to have an indefinite usefaldife amortized over their
useful lives, which range from one to ten yearchbzeriod we evaluate the estimated
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remaining useful life of purchased intangible essetd whether events or changes in circumstanceanta
revision to the remaining period of amortization.

The carrying amounts of these assets are peribdiealiewed for impairment (at least annually faoglwill)
whenever events or changes in circumstances irdibat the carrying value of these assets mayaotdoverable.
Recoverability of these assets is measured by cosgmeof the carrying amount of each asset to taré
undiscounted cash flows the asset is expectednergte. If the asset is considered to be impaihedamount of an
impairment is measured as the difference betwezgalrying value and the fair value of the impamsdet. We did
not recognize any goodwill or intangible asset impant charges in fiscal 2008, 2007 or 2006.

Derivative Financial Instruments

We hold derivative financial instruments to manéweign currency and interest rate risks. We actturthese
instruments in accordance with FASB Statement 188, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging
Activities, as amended, which requires that every derivatisttument be recorded on the balance sheet a3 aith
asset or liability measured at its fair value athefreporting date. Statement 133 also requirgsctianges in our
derivatives’ fair values be recognized in earninggess specific hedge accounting and documentatitaria are
met (i.e. the instruments are accounted for asd®dyVe record the effective portions of our deneafinancial
instruments that are designated as cash flow heatgest investment hedges in accumulated other ceimepsive
income in the accompanying consolidated balancetshany ineffective or excluded portion of a desited cash
flow hedge or net investment hedge is recognizeshimings.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The carrying value of our cash, cash equivalendsséuort-term borrowings approximates fair value ttuthe short
period of time to maturity. We record changes inv¥alue for our marketable securities, foreignreacy forward
contracts, interest rate swaps and investment higalged on quoted market prices. Based on the gadices of ou
$11.25 bhillion and $6.25 billion senior notes oaitgting as of May 31, 2008 and 2007, respectiveig,the interest
rates we could obtain for other borrowings with isamterms at those dates, the estimated fair vafugir
borrowings at May 31, 2008 and 2007 was $11.26hihnd $6.16 billion, respectively.

Legal Contingencies

We are currently involved in various claims andalggroceedings. Quarterly, we review the statusach
significant matter and assess our potential fireresiposure. If the potential loss from any clainegal proceedin
is considered probable and the amount can be rebloestimated, we accrue a liability for the estied loss.

Foreign Currency

We transact business in various foreign currendgiiegeneral, the functional currency of a foreigretion is the
local country’s currency. Consequently, revenuasexpenses of operations outside the United Statesanslated
into U.S. Dollars using weighted average exchaagesrwhile assets and liabilities of operationsidetthe United
States are translated into U.S. Dollars using exgbaates at the balance sheet date. The effefiisadgn currency
translation adjustments are included in stockhaldeguity as a component of accumulated other cehgrsive
income in the accompanying consolidated balancetshEoreign currency transaction gains are incudeon-
operating income, net in our consolidated statemehbperations and were $40 million, $45 milliord&39 millior
in fiscal 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively.
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Stock-Based Compensation

We account for share-based payments, includingtg@fremployee stock awards and purchases unddogeep
stock purchase plans, in accordance with FASB Siaté¢ No. 123 (revised 2008hare-Based Paymenthich
requires that share-based payments (to the exteptare compensatory) be recognized in our coregelit
statements of operations based on their fair vadnésthe estimated number of shares we ultimatglea will vest
In addition, we have applied the provisions of 8#C’s Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 107 in our acoting for
Statement 123(R). We recognize stock-based compen&xpense on a straiglite basis over the service perioc
the award, which is generally four years. The ¥aiue of the unvested portion of share-based pajggranted
prior to June 1, 2006 (our adoption date of Stateéri@3(R)) is recognized using the accelerated ms@attribution
method, net of estimated forfeitures.

Prior to June 1, 2006 (our adoption date of Stateérh23(R)), we accounted for our stock-based cosgi#on plans
under the intrinsic value method of accounting efingéd by Accounting Principles Board Opinion N8, 2
Accounting for Stock Issued to Employand applied the disclosure provisions of FASB $tatet No. 123,
Accounting for Sto-Based Compensatigras amended. Under Opinion 25, we generally didemgnize any
compensation expense for stock options grantethfdi@/ees or outside directors as the exercise pficer option:
was equivalent to the market price of our commouksbn the date of grant. However, we recordedkshased
compensation for the intrinsic value associateth witvested options assumed in connection with oguiaitions.
For pro forma disclosures of stock-based compeamsgtiior to June 1, 2006, the estimated fair vafoesptions
granted and options assumed were amortized usingcitelerated expense attribution method. In axditive
reduced pro forma stock-based compensation exgenaetual forfeitures in the periods they occurred

Advertising

All advertising costs are expensed as incurred efliBing expenses, which are included within saled marketing
expenses, were $81 million, $91 million and $108iom in fiscal 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

Research and Development

All research and development costs are expensed@sed. Costs eligible for capitalization und&¥SB Statemen
No. 86,Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software t&Blel, Leased, or Otherwise Marketedere not
material to our consolidated financial statememtisical 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

Acquisition Related and Other Expenses

Acquisition related and other expenses consist-piocess research and development expenses, pelseiated
costs for transitional employees, stock-based cosgteon expenses, integration related professerraices,
certain business combination contingency adjustsnaftér the purchase price allocation period hageénand
certain other operating expenses (income), netkdtased compensation included in acquisition eelaind other
expenses resulted from unvested options assumedaftquisitions whose vesting was accelerated uponination
of the employees pursuant to the terms of thosemgt
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Year Ended May 31,

(in millions) 2008 2007 2006
In-process research and developn $ 24 $151 $ 78
Transitional employee related co 32 24 30
Stocl-based compensatic 112 9 18
Professional fee 7 8 11
Business combination contingency adjustm: 6 (52 —
Gain on sale of proper (57) — —

Total acquisition related and other exper $124 $14C $ 137

In December 2007, we sold certain of our land anittlimgs for $153 million in cash. Concurrent witle sale, we leased
the property back from the buyer for a period otaithree years. We have accounted for this tradiogain accordance with
FASB Statement No. 2&ccounting for Sales with Leaseba¢hksASB Statement No. 68ccounting for Sales of Real
Estate, and FASB Statement No. 98¢counting for Leases, et alle deferred $19 million of the gain on the sale
representing the present value of the operatirggeleammitment and recognized a gain of approxim&&¥ million for the
year ended May 31, 2008. The deferred portion @fgin will be recognized as a reduction of remiegse over th
operating lease term.

For fiscal 2007, acquisition related and other esps included a benefit related to the settlemeatawsuit filed against
PeopleSoft, Inc. on behalf of the U.S. governméhis lawsuit was filed in October 2003, prior tar @equisition of
PeopleSoft and represented a pre-acquisition aperticy that we identified and assumed in connegtiiim our acquisition
of PeopleSoft. We settled this lawsuit in Octob@d&, which was subsequent to the purchase priceadibn period, for
approximately $98 million. Accordingly, we includéte difference between the amount accrued asedéitid of the
purchase price allocation period and the settleragrunt as a benefit to our consolidated statenfesperations for fiscal
2007.

Non-Operating Income, net

Non-operating income, net consists primarily of insti@come, net foreign currency exchange gainsitinerity owners’
shares in the net profits of our majority-ownedssdiaries (i-flex solutions limited and Oracle Japand other income
including net realized gains related to our invesits.

Year Ended May 31,

(in millions) 2008 2007 2006
Interest incom $337 $29t $17C
Foreign currency gains, n 40 45 39
Minority interests (60) (72) (42)
Other, ne 67 86 75
Total nor-operating income, nt¢ $384 $358  $24:

Income Taxes

We account for income taxes in accordance with FAERement No. 10%ccounting for Income Taxe®eferred income
taxes are recorded for the expected tax consegsi@hitemporary differences between the tax basasgs#ts and liabilities
for financial reporting purposes and amounts retaghfor income tax purposes. We record a valualfmwance to reduc
our deferred tax assets to the amount of futurdémefit that is more likely than not to be realize
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On June 1, 2007, we adopted FASB Interpretationd8pAccounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes, anrnptetation of
FASB Statement No. 1(FIN 48), which contains a two-step approach t@g@izing and measuring uncertain tax positions
taken or expected to be taken in a tax return, ¥gedetermine if the weight of available evidermdicates that it is more
likely than not that the tax position will be suetad on audit, including resolution of any relatgrpeals or litigation
processes. The second step is that we measur@xtbernefit as the largest amount that is more 584 likely to be

realized upon ultimate settlement. FIN 48 also imeglus to reclassify the majority of our uncert&ir positions from

current to non-current in fiscal 2008 (FIN 48 does allow for retroactive treatment or presentatiée have recognized
interest and penalties related to uncertain taxXipas in our provision for income taxes line ofr@onsolidated statements
of operations. The impact of our adoption of FINigi&ore fully discussed in Note 12.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Determination of the Useful Life of Intangible Ass& In April 2008, the FASB issued FASB Staff Positi-SP)

FAS 142-3 Determination of the Useful Life of Intangible Alssd=SP FAS 142-3 amends the factors that should be
considered in developing renewal or extension apions used to determine the useful life of a rei@ed intangible asset
under FASB Statement No. 142podwill and Other Intangible AssetESP FAS 142-3 is effective for fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 2008 and early adoggigrohibited. We are currently evaluating the@att of the pending
adoption of FSP FAS 142-3 on our consolidated firerstatements.

Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities Disdures: In March 2008, the FASB issued Statement No. 161,
Disclosures about Derivative Instruments and Heddhativities, an amendment of FASB Statement N&).Statement 161
requires disclosure of how and why an entity usgss/dtive instruments, how derivative instrumemid aelated hedged
items are accounted for and how derivative instnisiand related hedged items affect an entityaniomal position,
financial performance, and cash flows. Statememtid &ffective for fiscal years beginning after Mawer 15, 2008, with
early adoption permitted. We are currently evahgthe impact of the pending adoption of Statemiédton our
consolidated financial statements.

Business Combinations In December 2007, the FASB issued Statement Kb (evised 2007 Business Combinations
The standard changes the accounting for businesbioations including the measurement of acquirareshissued in
consideration for a business combination, the reitiog of contingent consideration, the accounfimigpre-acquisition gair
and loss contingencies, the recognition of capialiin-process research and development, the aticgdior acquisition
related restructuring liabilities, the treatmentofjuisition related transaction costs and thegmition of changes in the
acquirer’s income tax valuation allowance. Statemdd (R) is effective for fiscal years beginningeafDecember 15, 2008,
with early adoption prohibited. We are currenthakesating the impact of the pending adoption of Stent 141(R) on our
consolidated financial statements. We currentlyelvel that the adoption of Statement 141(R) willtem the recognition ¢
certain types of expenses in our results of opmratthat are currently capitalized pursuant totexjsaccounting standards,
amongst other potential impacts.

Accounting and Reporting of Noncontrolling Interest In December 2007, the FASB issued Statement Bl@,. 1
Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financg&thtements, an amendment of ARB N¢. The standard changes the
accounting for noncontrolling (minority) interegtsconsolidated financial statements includingrémguirements to classify
noncontrolling interests as a component of conatdid stockholders’ equity, and the elimination mirfority interest”
accounting in results of operations with earnintysbaitable to noncontrolling interests reportedagsart of consolidated
earnings. Additionally, Statement 160 revises tteanting for both increases and decreases inempsicontrolling
ownership interest. Statement 160 is effectivefifmal years beginning after December 15, 200&) witrly adoption
prohibited. We are currently evaluating the impafdhe pending adoption of Statement 160 on ousclidated financial
statements.
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Fair Value Measurements: In September 2006, the FASB issued StatemeniBligFair Value Measurements.

Statement 157 defines fair value, establishearadwork for measuring fair value and expandsvalue measurement
disclosures. Statement 157 is effective for figealrs beginning after November 15, 2007. In Felraa0nsg, the FASB
issued FASB Staff Position No. FAS 157Application of FASB Statement No. 157 to FASB Siaté No. 13 and Other
Accounting Pronouncements That Address Fair Valeasdrements for Purposes of Lease Classificatidieasuremer
under Statement 1&nhd FASB Staff Position No. FAS 157 &fective Date of FASB Statement No. 1&bllectively, the
Staff Positions defer the effective date of Statetni®7 to fiscal years beginning after November2[#8, for nonfinancial
assets and nonfinancial liabilities except for isetimat are recognized or disclosed at fair valua ogcurring basis at least
annually, and amend the scope of Statement 157ré/eurrently evaluating the impact of the pendidgption of
Statement 157 on our consolidated financial statésne

Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financld.iabilities: In February 2007, the FASB issued Statement No, 159
The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Fingl Liabilities, including an amendment of FASBt&ment No. 115,
which allows an entity the irrevocable option teatlfair value for the initial and subsequent measent for certain

financial assets and liabilities on an instrumeyisstrument basis. Subsequent measurements fdintecial assets and
liabilities an entity elects to record at fair valwill be recognized in earnings. Statement 158 aeftablishes additional
disclosure requirements. Statement 159 is effeftivéiscal years beginning after November 15, 200ith early adoption
permitted provided that the entity also adoptsestaint 157. The adoption of Statement 159 will rasteha material impact
on our consolidated financial statements.

Accounting for Advanced Payments for Future Reselar@nd Development: In June 2007, the FASB ratified

EITF 07-3,Accounting for Nonrefundable Advance Payments fords or Services Received for Use in Future Rekearc
and Development Activitig&ITF 07-3). EITF 07-3 requires that nonrefundaddeance payments for goods or services that
will be used or rendered for future research angldpment activities be deferred and capitalizedl recognized as an
expense as the goods are delivered or the relatedss are performed. EITF 07-3 is effective, gn@spective basis, for
fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2007.8dwption of EITF 07-3 will not have a material iagp on our

consolidated financial statements.

2. ACQUISITIONS
Fiscal 2008 Acquisitions

BEA Systems, Inc

We acquired BEA Systems, Inc. on April 29, 200&tgans of a merger of one of our wholly owned suas&bs with and
into BEA such that BEA became a wholly owned subsydof Oracle. We acquired BEA to, among othengdisi expand o1
offering of middleware products. We have includee financial results of BEA in our consolidatedsfiitial statements as
of April 29, 2008.

The total purchase price for BEA was approxima%8y6 billion and was comprised of:

(in millions, except per share amounts

Acquisition of approximately 430 million sharesaftstanding common stock of BEA at $19.375 peresiacast $ 8,34
Fair value of vested BEA stock awards assu 22t
Acquisition related transaction co: 8

Total purchase pric $ 8,57

Fair Value of Stock Awards Assurr

As of April 29, 2008, BEA had approximately 39 ridh stock awards outstanding. In accordance wihAgreement and
Plan of Merger dated January 16, 2008 (Merger Ages#), the conversion ratio of the number of
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shares to be issued for each stock award assunsdasad upon a conversion ratio of 0.8904, which cgéculated as the
the consideration price of $19.375 paid by Oracteeiich BEA share of common stock outstanding dividy the average
Oracle stock price for the five trading days ptmthe closing date of April 29, 2008.

The fair values of stock awards assumed were detethusing a Black-Scholes valuation model withftilwing
assumptions: weighted average expected life of ge@8s, weighted average risk-free interest raR&#%, expected
volatility of 36% and no dividend yield. The faialie of unvested BEA stock awards will be recordgdperating expens
on a straight-line basis over the remaining serpigods, while the fair values of vested optioresiacluded in the total
purchase price.

Acquisition Related Transaction Co

Acquisition related transaction costs include eated legal and accounting fees and other exteosts$ clirectly related to
the acquisition.

Preliminary Purchase Price Allocatic

Pursuant to our business combinations accountiligypthe total purchase price for BEA was allochte the net tangible
assets, intangible assets, and in-process resaadctievelopment based upon their estimated failegads of April 29, 2008
as set forth below. The excess of the purchase prier the net tangible assets, intangible assetsinprocess research ¢
development acquired was recorded as goodwill.preEminary allocation of the purchase price wasdshupon a
preliminary valuation and our estimates and assiomptare subject to change within the purchase@liocation period
(generally one year from the acquisition date). ptimary areas of the purchase price allocatiohdhanot yet finalized
relate to restructuring costs, property valuesytilaation of intangible assets acquired, certajyal matters, income and
non-income based taxes and residual goodwill. @elirpinary purchase price allocation for BEA isfalows:

(in millions)
Cash and marketable securit $1,77¢
Trade receivable 167
Goodwill 4,35¢
Intangible asset 3,34:
Other asset 24¢
Accounts payable and other liabiliti (386€)
Restructuring (see Note (231)
Deferred tax liabilities, ne (557)
Deferred revenue (169
In-process research and development (IPR 17
Total purchase pric $ 8,57¢

Intangible Asset

In performing our preliminary purchase price allib@a, we considered, among other factors, our tmerfor future use of
acquired assets, analyses of historical finan@diopmance and estimates of future performanceEA’B products. The fa
values of intangible assets were calculated using@me approach and estimates and assumptiongledoby both BEA
and Oracle management. The rates utilized to digaoet cash flows to their present values weredaseour weighted
average cost of capital and ranged from 7% to IIMi& discount rate was determined after considaraif our rate of
return on debt capital and equity and the weightestage return
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on invested capital. The following table sets fdhe preliminary components of intangible assetsaated with the BEA

acquisition:

(Dollars in millions) Fair Value Useful Life
Software support agreements and related relatips $ 1,11¢ 8 year:
Developed technolog 1,11¢ 6 year:
Core technolog 51¢ 7 year
Customer relationshiy 53C 8 year:
Trademarks and othi 62 5 year

Total intangible asse $ 3,348

Customer relationships and software support agretnaad related relationships represent the undgrhglationships and
agreements with BEA'’s customers. Developed teclyyol® comprised of products that have reached tdolyical
feasibility and are a part of BEA's product lin€ore technology represents a combination of BEA@sees, patents and
trade secrets related to the design and developoh@&EA's software products. This proprietary knovw can be
leveraged to develop new technology and improveegisting software products. Trademarks representair value of
brand and name recognition associated with the etiackof BEA's products and services.

In-Process Research and Development

We expense in-process research and developmenr&{lP&®Roon acquisition as it represents incompletédBEsearch and
development projects that had not reached techivalofgasibility and had no alternative future aseof the date of our
acquisition. Technological feasibility is estabishwhen an enterprise has completed all planniegjgding, coding, and
testing activities that are necessary to estaliiaha product can be produced to meet its degigaifications including
functions, features, and technical performanceirements. The value assigned to IPR&D of $17 millwas determined |
considering the importance of each project to marall development plan, estimating costs to dqvéhe purchased
IPR&D into commercially viable products, estimatitg resulting net cash flows from the projects nvbempleted and
discounting the net cash flows to their presenieslbased on the percentage of completion of tR&[Pprojects.

Deferred Revenue

In connection with the preliminary purchase prittecation, we have estimated the fair value ofsbhpport obligations
assumed from BEA in connection with the acquisitibne estimated fair value of the support obligatizvas determined
using a cost build-up approach. The cost buildpgreach determines fair value by estimating théscadating to fulfilling
the obligations plus a normal profit margin. Thensof the costs and operating profit approximatesheory, the amount
that we would be required to pay a third partygswusme the support obligations. The estimated ¢odgtsfill the support
obligations were based on the historical directsoslated to providing the support services antbtoect any errors in BE
software products. We did not include any coste@ated with selling efforts or research and depedent or the related
fulfillment margins on these costs. Profit assadawith selling efforts was excluded because BEd ¢tencluded the sellir
efforts on the support contracts prior to the dditeur acquisition. The estimated research andldpwgent costs have not
been included in the fair value determination hesé costs were not deemed to represent a legghtth at the time of
acquisition. As a result, in allocating the pur@hasce, we recorded an adjustment to reduce tirgicg value of BEA's
April 29, 2008 deferred support revenue by $250iomilto reflect our estimate of the fair value dER&'s support
obligations assumed.
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Pre-Acquisition Contingencies

We have evaluated and continue to evaluate preisiiqn contingencies relating to BEA that existslof the acquisition
date. If these pre-acquisition contingencies becprobable in nature and estimable during the redeiof the purchase
price allocation period, amounts recorded for sueltters will be made in the purchase price allocagieriod and,
subsequent to the purchase price allocation penaaljr results of operations.

Agile Software Corporatior

We acquired Agile Software Corporation to expandaftering of product life cycle management solasmn July 16, 20C
by means of a merger of Agile with one of our whallvned subsidiaries such that Agile became a wlmiined subsidiar
of Oracle. We have included the financial resuftdgile in our consolidated financial results efiige July 16, 2007.

The total purchase price for Agile was $492 millishich consisted of $471 million in cash paid tguice the outstanding
common stock of Agile, $14 million for the fair ved of Agile options assumed and $7 million for saction costs. In
allocating the purchase price based on estimateddhues, we recorded approximately $105 millidrgoodwill,

$198 million of identifiable intangible assets, $1&illion of net tangible assets and $5 millionmprocess research and
development. The preliminary allocation of the fa®e price was based upon a preliminary valuationoar estimates and
assumptions are subject to change. The primary afethe purchase price allocation that are nofigatized relate to
certain legal matters, income and non-income b&saxs and residual goodwill.

Other Fiscal 2008 Acquisitions
Our other fiscal 2008 acquisitions were not sigaifit individually or in the aggregate.

In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008 and first geaiof fiscal 2009, we agreed to acquire a numbepmpanies for estimate
total cash consideration of $407 million. We expbese transactions to close in the first quartiéisoal 2009.

Fiscal 2007 Acquisitions
Hyperion Solutions Corporatior

On April 13, 2007, we acquired majority ownershfgHyperion Solutions Corporation by means of a dasler offer and,
subsequently, completed a merger of Hyperion with of our wholly owned subsidiaries such that Higgebecame a
wholly owned subsidiary of Oracle on April 19, 20@Ve acquired Hyperion to expand our offeringsrteeprise
performance management and business intelligeriteage solutions.

The total purchase price for Hyperion was $3.2dvillwhich consisted of $3,171 million in cash paidacquire the
outstanding common stock of Hyperion, $51 million the fair value of Hyperion options assumed astricted stock
awards exchanged and $27 million for acquisitidategl transaction costs. In allocating the purclpaie based on
estimated fair values, we recorded approximate|g38 million of goodwill, $1,460 million of identdble intangible asset
$95 million of net tangible assets and $56 milla¥rin-process research and development.

i-flex solutions limited

During fiscal 2007 and fiscal 2006, we acquire@iiasts in and increased our ownership of i-flextsmhs limited by means
of share purchase agreements, an open offer toracilares and open market purchases. We acquinajloaity ownership
in i-flex to expand our offerings of software saduts and services to the financial services ingustr
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Our cumulative investment infiex as of May 31, 2008 was approximately $2.1idml) which consisted of $2,039 million
cash paid for common stock and $31 million in teanti®n costs and other expenses. Our cumulativestment in i-flex has
been allocated to i-flex’s net tangible and ideakife intangible assets based on their estimaieddaies as of the
respective dates of acquisition of the interest® finority interest in the net assets of i-fles baen recorded at historical
book values. In allocating the purchase price, @o@rded approximately $1.6 billion of goodwill, &illion of
identifiable intangible assets, $187 million of temgible assets and $46 million of in-processaesseand development.

Other Fiscal 2007 Acquisitions

A summary of our fiscal 2007 acquisitions and apsiethases other than our acquisitions of Hypeaiwth our
i-flex majority owned subsidiary is as follows:

Cash Fair Value of Stock Total Net Tangible IPR&D Intangible
(in millions) Consideration _Awards Assumed Consideration Assets Expense Assets  Goodwill
Portal Software, Inc $ 21t $ 8% 228 $ 8¢ % 20% 92 $ 22
Stellent, Inc. 42°F 18 443 76 17 182 16¢€
MetaSolv, Inc. 21¢ 9 227 54 4 91 78
Other 40C 11 411 (122) 8 20€ 317
Total $ 1,25{ $ 4P 1,30: $ 9'% 4% 572 $ 58t

Our acquisitions of Portal Software in July 2008 &etaSolv in December 2006 were to expand ouriegin offerings
to the telecommunications industry. Our acquisitidistellent in December 2006 was to further extendenterprise
content management product offerings. We have detithe financial results of the related acquiruganies in our
consolidated financial statements as of each aitiguisiate.

Fiscal 2006 Acquisitions
Siebel Systems, Ini

On January 31, 2006, we completed our acquisitidiebel pursuant to our Merger Agreement datededeiper 12, 2005.
We acquired Siebel to expand our customer reldtipnmanagement (CRM) applications offerings.

The total purchase price for Siebel was $6.1 lillichich consisted of $4,073 million in cash paicbguire the outstanding
common stock of Siebel, $1,763 million for the vahf our common stock issued in exchange for Siebisitanding
common stock, $245 million for the fair value o&Bel stock awards assumed and $50 million for &etitn costs. In
allocating the purchase price based on estimateddtues, we recorded approximately $2,331 millioigoodwill,

$1,564 million of identifiable intangible asset&,%72 million of net tangible assets and $64 millaf IPR&D expense.

Other Fiscal 2006 Acquisitions

During fiscal 2006, we acquired several softwanmjganies and purchased certain technology and davelat
organizations for approximately $682 million, inding transaction costs, which included cash pai#6af8 million and the
fair value of options assumed of $34 million. Weaeled approximately $487 million of goodwill, $1@#8llion of
identifiable intangible assets, $14 million of IPR&xpense and $8 million of net tangible assetoimection with these
acquisitions during fiscal 2006. We have includeel ¢ffects of these transactions in our resultspefations prospectively
from the respective dates of the acquisitions.

Unaudited Pro Forma Financial Information

The unaudited financial information in the tabléovesummarizes the combined results of operatidridracle, BEA,
Agile, Hyperion and other collectively significactmpanies acquired during fiscal 2008 and 2004 pro
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forma basis, as though the companies had been nedhbs of the beginning of fiscal 2007. The pronfafinancial
information is presented for informational purposaly and is not indicative of the results of opienas that would
have been achieved if the acquisitions and anyolangs (see Note 6) had taken place at the begirofieach of
the periods presented. The pro forma financialrméttion for all periods presented also includeshihginess
combination accounting effects on historical BEAyil&, Hyperion and other collectively significardrapanies’
operating results including the amortization exgsrfsom acquired intangible assets, stock-basegensation
charges for unvested stock awards assumed, adjustioeinterest expense for borrowings and reltgaffects as
though the companies had been combined as of thieriieg of fiscal 2007.

The unaudited pro forma financial information fbetyear ended May 31, 2008 combines the histomsallts of
Oracle for the year ended May 31, 2008 and, dwkfferences in our reporting periods, the histdriesults of BEA
for the eleven months ended April 29, 2008, théohisal results of Agile for the period June 1, 2a6 July 15,
2007, and the pro forma adjustments listed aboke.unhaudited pro forma financial information foe tyear ended
May 31, 2007 combines the historical results ofa@rdor the year ended May 31, 2007 and, due ferdifices in
our reporting periods, the historical results offBfér the twelve months ended April 30, 2007, thetdrical results
of Agile for the year ended April 30, 2007, thethigal results of Hyperion for the 10.5 months eshdlarch 31,
2007, the historical results of other collectivsignificant companies acquired based upon thefrees/e previous
reporting periods and the dates that these compargee acquired by us, and the pro forma adjustsheffects

listed above.

Year Ended May 31,
(in millions, except per share data 2008 2007
Total revenue $ 23,86 $ 20,39:
Net income $ 520¢ $ 3,60
Basic net income per she $ 101 $ 0.7¢
Diluted net income per sha $ 09 $ 0.6¢

3. CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS AND MARKETABLE SECURITIES

Cash and cash equivalents primarily consist of digpbeld at major banks, money market funds, Tieommercia
paper, U.S. Treasury obligations, U.S. governmgahay and government sponsored enterprise obligatand
other securities with original maturities of 90 day less. Marketable securities primarily consfdime deposits
held at major banks, Tier-1 commercial paper, cafgonotes, U.S. Treasury obligations and U.S. gowent
agency and government sponsored enterprise dagatbhs.

The amortized principal amounts of our cash, caglivalents and marketable securities approximdteit fair
values at May 31, 2008 and 2007. We use the spedéntification method to determine any realizathg or losse
from the sale of our marketable securities clasgifis available-for-sale. Such realized gains asgtk were
insignificant for fiscal 2008, 2007 and 2006. Th#édwing table summarizes the components of out deburities
held, substantially all of which were classifiedaasilable-for-sale:

May 31,
(in millions) 2008 2007
U.S. Treasury, U.S. government and U.S. governmgency debt securiti¢ $ 1,15¢$ 10€
Corporate debt securities and ot 3,06¢ 2,18¢
Total debt security investmer $ 4,22t $ 2,29:
Debt security investments classified as cash etpnts $ 1,447 % 1,492
Debt security investments classified as marketadteirities $ 2,781% 802
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Substantially all of our debt security investmemitd as of May 31, 2008 mature within one year. i@uestment portfolio
is subject to market risk due to changes in intaes. We place our investments with high creddlity issuers as
described above and, by policy, limit the amountretlit exposure to any one issuer. As stated innmestment policy, we
are averse to principal loss and seek to presemwawvested funds by limiting default risk, markisk and reinvestment ris

4. PROPERTY

Property consisted of the following:

Estimated May 31,

(Dollars in millions) Useful Lives 2008 2007
Computer and network equipme 2-5year $ 1,27¢ $ 1,37¢
Buildings and improvemen 1-50 year 1,50¢ 1,35(C
Furniture and fixture 3-10 year 433 38t
Land — 21z 204
Automobiles 5 year: 5 5
Construction in progres — 20€ 13€
Total property 1-50 year 3,64( 3,45¢
Accumulated depreciatic (1,952 (1,856
Total property, ne $ 1,68¢ $ 1,60:

5. INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND GOODWILL

The changes in intangible assets for fiscal 20@Btha net book value of intangible assets at Mgy2808 and 2007 were

follows:
Intangible Assets,
Intangible Assets, Gross Accumulated Amortization net Weighted
May 31, May 31, May 31, May 31, May 31, May 31, Average
(Dollars in millions) 2007 Additions 2008 2007  Expense 2008 2007 2008 Useful Life
Software support agreements and related relatipa $ 3,65:% 1,197$ 4,84¢$ (650)$ (402) $ (1,052 $3,00:$ 3,791 9 year.
Developed technolog 2,34: 1,26 3,607 (68f)  (51F) (1,209 1,65¢  2,40¢ 5 year
Core technolog' 88: 544 1,427 (254  (17¢) (432) 62¢ 99t 6 year.
Customer relationshig 59¢ 584 1,182 (85) (85) (17¢) 514 1,01 9 year
Trademarks 20¢ 53 262 (44) (32 (76) 165 18€ 7 year.
Total $ 7,68:% 3,64i$ 11,32¢$(1,72) $(1,217) $(2,93) $5,96¢$  8,39¢

Total amortization expense related to our intargéssets was $1.2 billion, $878 million and $58@aniin fiscal 2008,
2007 and 2006, respectively. Estimated future amaiion expense related to our intangible asse$4.i8 billion in fiscal
2009, $1.5 billion in fiscal 2010, $1.3 billion fiscal 2011, $1.1 billion in fiscal 2012, $962 rigt in fiscal 2013 and
$1.8 bhillion thereafter.
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The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill,akhis generally not deductible for tax purposesppgrating segment f
fiscal 2008 and 2007, were as follows:

Software
License
New Updates anc
Software Product
(in millions) Licenses Support Services Other ®) Total

Balances as of May 31, 20 $ 2,214 $ 6,74: $ 854 $ = $ 9,80¢
Hyperion acquisition goodwi®) — — — 1,67 1,67¢
i-flex acquisition goodwil 687 27€ 60¢ — 1,572
Other acquisition goodwi 29t 19t 49 10 54¢
Goodwill adjustment(@) (27) (90) (7 — (124)
Balances as of May 31, 20 3,16¢ 7,122 1,50¢ 1,68 13,47¢
Allocation of goodwill®) 741 91z 30 (1,689 —
BEA acquisition goodwil(@) — — — 4,35t 4,35k
Agile acquisition goodwil 48 48 9 — 10&
Other acquisition goodwi 11€ 66 15 — 197
Goodwill adjustment(@ (16) (120 (9) — (145)
Balances as of May 31, 20 $ 4,05¢ $ 8,02t $ 1,55( $ 4,35¢ $ 17,99:

(1) Represents goodwill associated with certain actjis that was or will be allocated to our opemgtiegments upon the finalization of
our intangible asset valuatior

(2) Pursuant to our business combinations accountiligypave record goodwill adjustments for the effeatgoodwill of changes to net
assets acquired during the purchase price allotagood (generally, one year from date of acqoisjt Goodwill adjustments also
include the effects on goodwill resulting from @goption of FASB Interpretation No. 48 as of Jun2dD7 (see Note 12

6. NOTES PAYABLE AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Notes payable and other borrowings consisted ofalt@wving:

May 31 May 31

(Dollars in millions) 2008 2007
Commercial paper notes, net of discount of $6 ddayf 31, 2007 $ —$ 1,35¢
Floating rate senior notes due May 2( 1,00¢ 1,00¢
Floating rate senior notes due May 2( 1,00¢ 1,00¢
5.00% senior notes due January 2011, net of discdiu# and $6 as of May 31, 2008 and 2007, respgt 2,24¢ 2,241
4.95% senior notes due April 20 1,25( —
5.25% senior notes due January 2016, net of disaf$9 as of May 31, 2008 and 20 1,991 1,991
5.75% senior notes due April 2018, net of discafrl 2,49¢ —
6.50% senior notes due April 2038, net of discafr$i2 1,24¢ —
Capital lease 2 3
Total borrowings $ 11,23¢$ 7,59¢
Notes payable, current and other current borrow $ 1,001$ 1,35¢
Notes payable, ni-current and other ni-current borrowing: $ 10,23!'$ 6,23!
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Commercial Paper Program

In March 2008, we increased our commercial papegnam to $5.0 billion from $3.0 billion (the CP Bram). The original
dealer agreements entered into in February 2006eeith of Banc of America Securities LLC, JP Mor§aucurities Inc.,
Lehman Brothers Inc., Merrill Lynch Money Marketl and Merrill Lynch Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorated and the
Issuing and Paying Agency Agreement entered inteetoruary 2006 with JPMorgan Chase Bank, Natiorsal&iation,
remain in effect and were not changed. Under théf@igram, we may issue and sell unsecured shontgesmissory notes
(Commercial Paper Notes) pursuant to a privatespteent exemption from the registration requirementer federal and
state securities laws. In fiscal 2008 and 2007isseed approximately $1.2 billion and $2.1 bill@hCommercial Paper
Notes, respectively, of which none and $1.4 billiemained outstanding as of May 31, 2008 and 2@3pectively. As o
May 31, 2008, we had $5.0 billion of capacity renirag under our CP Program.

Senior Notes

In April 2008, we issued $5.0 billion of fixed regenior notes, of which $1.25 billion of 4.95% semotes is due April
2013 (2013 Notes), $2.5 billion of 5.75% seniorasas due April 2018 (2018 Notes), and $1.25 hillid 6.50% senior
notes is due April 2038 (2038 Notes). We issueddlsnior notes to finance the acquisition of BBA for general
corporate purposes. Some or all of the 2013 N@®&E3 Notes and 2038 Notes may be redeemed atraaygibject to
payment of a make-whole premium. The 2013 Note$8 2otes and 2038 Notes pay interest semi-annually.

In May 2007, we issued $2.0 billion of floatinge-atenior notes, of which $1.0 billion is due MaY2@New 2009 Notes)
and $1.0 billion is due May 2010 (2010 Notes). \8&ied the New 2009 Notes and 2010 Notes to funcetiemption of th
$1.5 billion of senior floating rate notes that iwsued in fiscal 2006 (see below) and for genesgdarate purposes. The
New 2009 Notes and 2010 Notes bear interest deafahre-month USD LIBOR plus 0.02% and 0.06%, respectivahd
interest is payable quarterly. The New 2009 Notes2010 Notes may not be redeemed prior to theiuritya

In January 2006, we issued $5.75 billion of senmtes consisting of $1.5 billion of floating ra&nsor notes due 2009
(Original 2009 Notes), $2.25 billion of 5.00% semmtes due 2011 (2011 Notes) and $2.0 billion.26% senior notes dt
2016 (2016 Notes and together with the Original2R@tes and the 2011 Notes, Original Senior Ndtefhance the
Siebel acquisition and for general corporate puepo®n June 16, 2006, we completed a registerdwhege offer of the
Original Senior Notes for registered senior notéh substantially identical terms to the Originanr Notes.

In May 2007, we redeemed the Original 2009 NotesHeir principal amount plus accrued and unpaiérgst. Our 2011
Notes and 2016 Notes may also be redeemed atramydibject to payment of a m-whole premium. Interest is payable
semi-annually for the 2011 notes and 2016 notes.

The effective interest yields of the New 2009 Npx10 Notes, 2011 Notes, 2013 Notes, 2016 Nots Rlotes and 2038
Notes (collectively, the Senior Notes) at May 3002 were 2.70%, 2.74%, 5.08%, 4.96%, 5.33%, 5.76806a52%.
respectively. In September 2007, we entered intibterest rate swap agreements that have the etomdfect of
modifying the variable interest obligations asstedavith the New 2009 Notes and 2010 Notes sothigainterest payable
on the senior notes effectively became fixed atta of 4.62% and 4.59%, respectively (see Note @dditional
information).

The Senior Notes rank pari passu with any CommielPeiper Notes that we issue and all existing ahatdéusenior
indebtedness of Oracle Corporation. All existing &uture liabilities of the subsidiaries of Ora€erporation will be
effectively senior to the Senior Notes and any Cemuoial Paper Notes that we issue.
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We were in compliance with all debt-related covdaan May 31, 2008. Future principal payments aftmrrowings at
May 31, 2008 are as follows: $1.0 billion in fis@8l09, $1.0 billion in fiscal 2010, $2.25 billion fiscal 2011, $1.25 billion
in fiscal 2013 and $5.75 billion thereafter.

Revolving Credit Agreements

In March 2008, we entered into a $2.0 billion, 334y Revolving Credit Agreement with Wachovia BaNlational
Association, Bank of America, N.A. and certain otleders (2008 Credit Agreement). The 2008 Cradieement
supplements our existing $3.0 billion, five-yeanvBleing Credit Agreement with substantially the saparties that we
entered into in March 2006 (the 2006 Credit Agreetmand together with the 2008 Credit Agreemerd,@hedit
Agreements). The Credit Agreements provide for onssd revolving credit facilities, which can alse iised to backstop
any Commercial Paper Notes (see above) that weisaag and for working capital and other genergbo@te purposes.
Subject to certain conditions stated in the CrAdittements, we may borrow, prepay and re-borrowusntsounder the
facilities at any time during the terms of the Grédyreements. Interest for the Credit Agreemestsased on either (a) a
LIBOR-based formula or (b) a formula based on Wa@is prime rate or on the federal funds effectiate. Any amounts
drawn pursuant to the 2008 Credit Agreement areodudarch 17, 2009 (we may, upon the agreemerteofenders,
extend the facility by up to two times in succes}idAny amounts drawn pursuant to the 2006 Credie@&ment are due on
March 14, 2011. No amounts were outstanding putdoahe Credit Agreements as of May 31, 2008 &b@i72 A total of
$5.0 billion remained available pursuant to thed@rAgreements at May 31, 2008.

The Credit Agreements contain certain customaryesgmtations and warranties, covenants and evedefault, including
the requirement that our total net debt to totaitedization ratio not exceed 45%. If any of theets of default occur and
are not cured within applicable grace periods dvedy any unpaid amounts under the Credit Agreesneraty be declared
immediately due and payable and the Credit Agre¢smeay be terminated. We were in compliance wigh@hnedit
Agreements’ covenants as of May 31, 2008.

7. RESTRUCTURING ACTIVITIES
Fiscal 2008 Oracle Restructuring Plan

During the second quarter of fiscal 2008, our manaant approved, committed to and initiated plangstructure and
improve efficiencies in our Oracle-based operatiams result of certain management and organiztavanges and our
recent acquisitions (the 2008 Plan). During thetfoquarter of fiscal 2008, the 2008 Plan was aradrid include the
expected effects resulting from our acquisitioB&fA. The total estimated restructuring costs (prilmaelated to employe
severance) associated with the 2008 Plan are $ilidmand will be recorded to the restructuringpexse line item within
our consolidated statements of operations as tfeeyeaognized. In fiscal 2008, we recorded $4liomlin restructuring
expenses and expect to incur the majority of thearring $70 million over the course of fiscal 208@y changes to the
estimates of executing the 2008 Plan will be réélddn our future results of operations.

Acquisition Related Restructuring Plans

During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008, fourthagier of fiscal 2007 and third quarter of fiscaDB8Dour management
approved, committed to and initiated plans to testire certain operations of pre-merger BEA (BEAtRecturing Plan),
Hyperion (Hyperion Restructuring Plan) and SielS#¢bel Restructuring Plan), respectively. Our manaent initiated
these plans as a result of our acquisitions ofetltesnpanies in order to improve the cost efficieadn our operations. The
total estimated restructuring costs associated exiting activities of BEA were $231 million, costing of estimated
severance, excess facilities obligations througteli2014 as well as other restructuring costs.tdtad restructuring costs
associated with exiting activities of Hyperion w&¥L8 million, consisting of severance, excesdifeed obligations
through fiscal 2017, as well as other restructudasts. The
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total restructuring costs associated with exitioivities of Siebel were $575 million, consistinfjseverance, excess
facilities obligations through fiscal 2022, as weml severance and other restructuring costs.

These costs were originally recognized as liabsitissumed in each of the respective business gatidns and included in
the allocation of the cost to acquire these congsaand, accordingly, have resulted in an increageadwill. Our
restructuring expenses may change as our managexesutes the approved plans. Future decreasks &stimates of
executing the restructuring plans will be recordsdin adjustment to goodwill indefinitely. Increagethe estimates of the
BEA Restructuring Plan will be recorded as an adjiest to goodwill during the purchase accountirgcaltion period and
as an adjustment to operating expenses thereliteeases to the estimates of the Hyperion andebiéstructuring Plans
will be recorded to operating expenses.

Summary of All Plans

Fiscal 2008 Activity

Total Total
Accrued Year Ended May 31, 200¢ Accrued  Costs  Expectec
May 31, Initial Adj. Cash May 31, Accrued Program
(in millions) 2007  Costs® to Cost® Payments Others® 2008@  to Date Costs
Fiscal 2008 Oracle Restructuring Plar
New software license $ — $ 17 $ — % @ $ — $ 1 $ 17 % 45
Software license updates and product sug — 6 — (D) — 5 6 6
Services — 1C — (4) — 6 10 28
Other@ — 8 — (4) 2) 2 8 32
Total Fiscal 2008 Oracle Restructuri $ — ¢ 418 —$ (16 3 2 $ 283 % 41 3 111
BEA Restructuring Plan
Severanct $ — $ 158 3 — $ (41 $ — $ 11z $ 158 $ 15t
Facilities — 63 — — — 63 63 63
Contracts and othe — 15 — (1) — 14 15 15
Total BEA Restructurin $ — $ 231 % — $ (42 — $ 18 $ 231 $ 231
Hyperion Restructuring Plan
Severanci $ 45 $ — % 2 $ (@5 $ 1 $ 33 $ 47 % 47
Facilities 46 — 3 (16) 1 34 50 50
Contracts and othg¢ 16 — 5 (7) — 14 21 21
Total Hyperion Restructurin $ 107 $ — 8 10 $ (38 $ 2 $ 81 $ 116 $ 11¢
Siebel Restructuring Plan
Severanci $ 6 $ — $ ?3) $ 3 $ 1% 1 $ 60 $ 60
Facilities 23C — 2 (56) 3 17¢ 474 474
Contracts and othe 10 — 2 — — 12 41 41
Total Siebel Restructurin $ 246 $ — $ 1 $ (59 $ 4 $ 192 $ 57t $ 57t
Total Other Restructuring Pla $ 106 $ — $ @O $ (29 3 7 $ 83
Total All Restructuring Plans $ 45¢ $ 27z $ 10 $ (189 $ 11 $ 56¢

90




Table of Contents

ORACLE CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continu ed)

May 31, 2008
Fiscal 2007 Activity
Accrued Year Ended May 31, 2007 Accrued
May 31, Initial Adj. to Cash May 31,
(in millions) 20061 Costs®  Cost®  Payments Others ® 2007@
Hyperion Restructuring Plan
Severanci $ — $ 45 — $ — $ — $ 45
Facilities — 47 — (@D} — 46
Contracts and othe — 16 — — — 16
Total Hyperion Restructurin $ — $ 10— 3% O3 — $ 107
Siebel Restructuring Plan —
Severanc! $ 37 $ —$ @B % (29 9 19 6
Facilities 44¢€ — (120 (209 4 23C
Contracts and othe 26 — 4 (20 — 10
Total Siebel Restructurir $ 50¢ $ — $(16) $ (252) $ 5 % 24¢€
Total Other Restructuring Pla $ 17€¢ $ 19 @ $ (B89 $ 13 10€
Total All Restructuring Plans $ 685 $ 127 $(18 $ (34) 3 € $ 45¢
Fiscal 2006 Activity
Accrued Year Ended May 31, 200¢ Accrued
May 31, Initial Adj. to Cash May 31,
(in millions) 2005 Costs®  Cost®  Payment: Others ® 2006@
Siebel Restructuring Plan
Severanc $ — $ 65% 6 $ (39 $ — $ 37
Facilities — 54z (58) (40 2 44¢
Contracts and othe — 36 (1) (9) — 26
Total Siebel Restructurir $ — $ 64280553 $ (83 ¢ 2 $ 50¢
Total Other Restructuring Pla $ 27€ 3 93$(@17) $ (180 $ 4% 17¢
Total All Restructuring Plans $ 27¢ $ T3€ $(70) $ (269 $ €$ 68

(1) Includes severance costs associated with reseadctiesrelopment, and general and administrativetiums, and certain other facility
related costs

(2) Accrued restructuring at May 31, 2008, May 31, 268@ May 31, 2006 was $568 million, $459 millionde$685 million,
respectively. The balances at May 31, 2008, May2807 and May 31, 2006 include $308 million, $20liom and $412 million
recorded in accrued restructuring, current, resgayt and $260 million, $258 million and $273 ok recorded in accrued
restructuring, na-current, respectively

() Costs associated with initial restructuring pl

(4) Hyperion plan adjustments in fiscal 2008 and Siglssh adjustments in fiscal 2007 and fiscal 200&teeto changes in estimates
within the purchase price allocation period (offietorded to goodwill). All other plan adjustmeats changes in estimates whereby
increases are recorded to operating expenses petiw of adjustment with decreases to Oracleptns recorded to operating
expenses and decreases to acquisition related iglemigled as an adjustment to goodwill indefinit

(®) Represents foreign currency translation adjustmemiscertain other n-cash settlement
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8. DEFERRED REVENUES
Deferred revenues consisted of the following:
May 31,

(in millions) 2008 2007
Software license updates and product suf. $ 3,93¢ $3,07¢
Services 332 27¢
New software license 22C 134

Deferred revenues, curre 4,49; 3,49:

Deferred revenues, n-current 262 93

Total deferred revenus $4,75¢ $ 3,58¢

Deferred software license updates and product supgpgenues represent customer payments made ane€evor annual
support contracts. Software license updates amilptsupport contracts are typically billed on a@@num basis in
advance and revenue is recognized ratably ovesupport period. Deferred service revenues includpayments for
consulting, On Demand and education services. Revoar these services is recognized as the seraieggerformed.
Deferred new software license revenues typicakyltefrom undelivered products or specified enhareas, customer
specific acceptance provisions or software licaragsactions that cannot be segmented from conglgdérvices or certain
extended payment term arrangements.

In connection with the purchase price allocatiariated to our acquisitions, we have estimateddhevélues of the support
obligations assumed. The estimated fair valueb@&tipport obligations assumed were determined @ésaost-build up
approach. The codtuild up approach determines fair value by estingathe costs relating to fulfilling the obligatiophis &
normal profit margin. The sum of the costs and afeg profit approximates, in theory, the amouiat tive would be
required to pay a third party to assume the supgdigations. These fair value adjustments redhead¢venues recognized
over the support contract term of our acquired reats and, as a result, we did not recognize soétligense updates and
product support revenues related to support castessumed from our acquisitions in the amountl@®$million,

$212 million and $391 million that would have bexherwise recorded by our acquired businessedapémdent entities
fiscal 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively.
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9. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Lease Commitments

We lease certain facilities and furniture and emépt under operating leases. As of May 31, 20G8réuminimum
annual operating lease payments and future minipayments to be received from non-cancelable suldeasre

as follows:
(in millions)
Fiscal 200¢ $ 43z
Fiscal 201( 37C
Fiscal 2011 25¢
Fiscal 201z 187
Fiscal 201 124
Thereafte 341
Future minimum operating lease payme 1,71:
Less: minimum payments to be received from-cancelable subleas (210
Total future minimum operating lease payments, $ 1,508

Lease commitments include future minimum rent payméor facilities that we have vacated pursuartuo
restructuring and merger integration activitiesgssussed in Note 7. We have approximately $33komin
facility obligations, net of estimated subleaseome and other costs, in accrued restructuringhiesd locations in
our consolidated balance sheet at May 31, 2008.

Rent expense was $276 million, $224 million andSsdifllion for fiscal 2008, 2007 and 2006, respeelyy net of
sublease income of approximately $57 million, $3Rion and $23 million, respectively. Certain lessgreements
contain renewal options providing for an extensibthe lease term.

Unconditional Purchase Obligations

In the ordinary course of business, we enter iettain unconditional purchase obligations with suppliers, whict
are agreements that are enforceable, legally kgnalidl specify certain minimum quantity and priciegns. As of
May 31, 2008, our unconditional purchase obligatitatal $395 million for fiscal 2009, $17 millioorffiscal 2010,
$4 million for fiscal 2011, $3 million for fiscal®2, $3 million for fiscal 2013 and $10 million teafter.

We also have commitments for approximately $40Tionilof cash consideration that we expect to pahefirst
quarter of fiscal 2009 in connection with certaimmpanies that we agreed to acquire.

Guarantees

Our software license agreements generally incled&in provisions for indemnifying customers agtliabilities if
our software products infringe a third party’s Ifgetual property rights. To date, we have not ined any material
costs as a result of such indemnifications and hat@ccrued any liabilities related to such olilyss in our
consolidated financial statements. Certain of odtsare license agreements also include provisiogemnifying
customers against liabilities in the event we bineaanfidentiality or service level requirementssihot possible to
determine the maximum potential amount under tiveemnification agreements due to our limited arfdeiquent
history of prior indemnification claims and the gué facts and circumstances involved in each pdati@greemen
Historically, payments made by us under these aggats have not had a material effect on our resiiltgerations
financial position, or cash flows.
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Our software license agreements also generallydiech warranty that our software products will sambi$ally operate as
described in the applicable program documentatiorafperiod of one year after delivery. We alsorasatrthat services we
perform will be provided in a manner consistentwmiitdustry standards for a period of 90 days frarfggmance of the
service. Warranty expense was not significantdgodi 2008, fiscal 2007 or fiscal 2006.

We occasionally are required, for various reastmenter into agreements with financial instituidhat provide letters of
credit on our behalf to parties we conduct busingdsin ordinary course. Such agreements havénadta material effect
on our results of operations, financial positiorcash flows.

Derivative Financial Instruments

We use derivative financial instruments to managyéam foreign currency and interest rate risks.

Foreign Currency Forward Contracts

We transact business in various foreign curreraigshave established a program that primarilyzaliforeign currency
forward contracts to offset the risks associatetth tie effects of certain foreign currency exposuténder this program,
increases or decreases in our foreign currencysexpe are offset by gains or losses on the foraigrency forward
contracts, to mitigate the possibility of foreiguri@ncy transaction gains or losses. These forigrency exposures
typically arise from intercompany sublicense ferd ather intercompany transactions. Our forwardremts generally have
terms of 90 days or less. We do not use forwardraots for trading purposes. All outstanding foreggirrency forward
contracts used in this program are marked to martkete end of the period with unrealized gainslasdes included in non-
operating income, net. Our ultimate realized gaitoss with respect to currency fluctuations degemgon the currency
exchange rates and other factors in effect asahracts mature. Net foreign exchange transactamsgncluded in non-
operating income, net in the accompanying constagdlatatements of operations were $17 million, ®ilfon and

$15 million in fiscal 2008, 2007 and 2006, respestii. The net unrealized gains of our outstandorgifyn currency forwal
contracts were $3 million and $5 million at May 2008 and 2007, respectively.

Interest Rate Swap Agreemer

In September 2007, we entered into two interestsatap agreements that have the economic effesbdifying the
variable interest obligations associated with oamN2009 Notes and 2010 Notes (described in Noteo6ej so that the
interest payable on the senior notes effectivetabee fixed at a rate of 4.62% and 4.59%, respdygtivée critical terms of
the interest rate swap agreements and the New20@% and 2010 Notes match, including the notianabunts, interest
rate reset dates, maturity dates and underlyingg@handices. The periodic interest obligations tedfiato the swap
agreements, which occur at the same interval all¢lne2009 Notes and 2010 Notes, are recorded a®sitexpense. The
fair values of the interest rate swaps totaledraealized loss of $24 million, net of tax effec@sMay 31, 2008. We are
accounting for these swaps as hedges pursuardtiengint 133. The unrealized losses on these ihtatesswaps are
included in accumulated other comprehensive incantethe corresponding fair value payables are dexun other
accrued liabilities and other long-term liabilitis the current and non-current portions, respebti in our consolidated
balance sheet.

Net Investment Hedge

Periodically, we hedge the net assets of certa@rational subsidiaries (net investment hedgespusreign currency
forward contracts to offset the translation andnetoic exposures related to our investments in thabsidiaries. We
measure the effectiveness of net investment hdugasing the changes in spot exchange rates beti@issaethod reflects
our risk management strategies, the economicsogktktrategies in our financial statements an@betanages interest rate
differentials between different countries. Undes thnethod, the change
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in fair value of the forward contract attributalbbethe changes in spot exchange rates (the eféeptivtion) is reported in
stockholdersequity to offset the translation results on theine¢stments. The remaining change in fair valuthefforwarc
contract (the excluded portion and the ineffecpeetion, if any) is recognized in non-operatingdnte, net.

Net gains (losses) on investment hedges reportetbakholder equity, net of tax effects were $(53) million,&illion
and $14 million in fiscal 2008, 2007 and 2006, exdwely. Net gains on investment hedges reportetn-operating
income, net were $23 million, $28 million and $2#lion in fiscal 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

At May 31, 2008, we had one net investment hedgiajpanese Yen. The Yen investment hedge minimizmesrcy risk
arising from net assets held in Yen as a resudoity capital raised during the initial public efing and secondary offeri
of our majority owned subsidiary, Oracle Japan. fitirevalue of our Yen investment hedge was noméasabf May 31,
2008 and 2007. As of May 31, 2008, the Yen investrhedge had a notional amount of $633 million anéxchange rate
of 104.32 Yen for each U.S. Dollar.

Peoplesoft Customer Assurance Program

In June 2003, in response to our tender offer, lB&agft, Inc. implemented what it referred to as‘thestomer assurance
program” (CAP). The CAP incorporated a provisiorPiopleSoft's standard licensing arrangement thgdqots to
contractually burden Oracle, as a result of ouugsition of PeopleSoft, with a contingent obligatim make payments to
PeopleSoft customers should we fail to take cetiaginess actions for a fixed period. PeopleSafted using the CAP on
December 29, 2004, the date on which we acquihgaolling interest in PeopleSoft. The paymenigation, which
typically expires four years from the date of tlhatract, is fixed at an amount generally betweemawd five times the
license and first year support fees paid to Peajfté’s the applicable license transaction. Peoplie@Gestomers retain rights
to the licensed products whether or not the CARv@ts are triggered.

The maximum potential penalty under the CAP, bsiagr, as of May 31, 2008 was as follows:

Maximum Potential

Dates Offered to Customers®) Penalty
CAP Version Start Date End Date (in millions)

Version 1 June 1, 200: September 12, 201$ 3
Version 2 September 12, 201 September 30, 20! —
Version 3 September 30, 200 November 7, 200 —
Version 4 November 18, 20( June 30, 200 152
Version 5 June 16, 200 December 28, 20( 72¢
Version 6 October 12, 2000  December 28, 20( 1,05(

$ 1,93

(1) Some contracts originally submitted to customeiwsrto these end dates were executed following slatbs. The substantial major
of the CAP provisions will expire no later than fgears after the contract da

We have concluded that, as of the date of the aitiui, the penalty provisions under the CAP repnésd a contingent
liability of Oracle. The aggregate potential CARigdtion as of May 31, 2008 was $1.9 billion. Soafieche CAP provision
have expired or have been removed from these litg@srangements. We expect the significant majarfitthe remaining
CAP provisions to expire by the end of calendar®®e have not recorded a liability related to @#A&P, as we do not
believe it is probable that our post-acquisitiotivdties related to the PeopleSoft and JD Edwardslpct lines will trigger
an obligation to make any payment pursuant to thB.GVhile no assurance can be given as to the alérautcome of any
litigation, we believe we would also have
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substantial defenses with respect to the legatityenforceability of the CAP contract provisiong@sponse to any claims
seeking payment from us under the CAP terms.

10. STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Stock Repurchases

Our Board of Directors has approved a program f@c® to repurchase shares of our common stockdiace the dilutive
effect of our stock option and stock purchase plam#épril 2007, our Board of Directors expanded oepurchase program
by $4.0 billion and as of May 31, 2008, $2.2 billiwas available for share repurchases pursuanirtetock repurchase
program. We repurchased 97.3 million shares fdd $flion (including 1.1 million shares for $24 iin that were
repurchased but not settled), 233.5 million sh&re$4.0 billion and 146.9 million shares for $aillion in fiscal 2008,
2007 and 2006, respectively.

Our stock repurchase authorization does not hawxpination date and the pace of our repurchaseitsaill depend on
factors such as our working capital needs, our caghirements for acquisitions, our debt repaynodfigations (as
described above), our stock price, and economimaenttet conditions. Our stock repurchases may feetefd from time to
time through open market purchases or pursuanfRuol@ 10b5-1 plan. Our stock repurchase programmeagccelerated,
suspended, delayed or discontinued at any time.

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income

The following table summarizes, as of each balahest date, the components of our accumulated otimeprehensive
income, net of income taxes (income tax effectevisignificant for all periods presented):

May 31,
(in millions) 2008 2007
Foreign currency translation gain, 1 $69C $39C
Unrealized losses on derivativ (86) 9
Unrealized gains on marketable securities, 3 2
Unrealized gains on defined benefit plan assets 1 20
Total accumulated other comprehensive inci $61€  $40¢

Rights Agreement
On March 31, 2008, our stockholder rights plan egby its terms.

11. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS
Stock-based Compensation Plans
Stock Option Plan:

In fiscal 2001, we adopted the 2000 Long-Term Bglritentive Plan (the 2000 Plan), which replaced1B91 Long-Term
Equity Incentive Plan (the 1991 Plan) and provideshe issuance of non-qualified stock options areentive stock
options, as well as stock purchase rights, stopkemiation rights and long-term performance awaodsur eligible
employees, officers, directors who are also emm@sy# consultants, independent consultants angexrdviln fiscal 2005,
the 2000 Plan was amended and restated to, ambegtbings, eliminate the ability to reprice opsamithout stockholder
approval, to provide our Board of Directors (Boandth the ability to grant restricted stock awardspermit us to grant
performance-based equity awards for eligible tadkudébility, to provide our Board with the abilitp issue transferable
equity awards and to eliminate the ability to buyemployees’ options with cash or common stock. é#ride terms of the
2000 Plan, options to purchase
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common stock generally are granted at not lessfédiamarket value, become exercisable as estaulibly the Board
(generally over four years under our current pcagtiand generally expire no more than ten years the date of grant.
Options granted under the 1991 Plan were grantesinoitar terms. If options outstanding under th&1L®lan are forfeited,
repurchased, or otherwise terminate without theaisse of stock, the shares underlying such optigihglso become
available for future awards under the 2000 Planof¥glay 31, 2008, options to purchase 298 millibares of common
stock were outstanding under both plans, of whigh rhillion were vested. Approximately 299 milliohases of common
stock were available for future awards under the02Rlan. To date, we have not issued any stockpsecrights, stock
appreciation rights, restricted stock awards ogmrm performance awards under the 2000 Plan.

In fiscal 1993, the Board adopted the 1993 DirextBtock Option Plan (the Original Directors’ Plawhich provided for
the issuance of non-qualified stock options to rorployee directors. In fiscal 2004, the Originald@tors’ Plan was
amended and restated to eliminate a term limiterptan, eliminate the ability to reprice optionshaut stockholder
approval, decrease the number of shares of comtook eserved for issuance under the Original Direst Plan, provide
the Board with the ability to make grants of rest&d stock, restricted stock units or other stoaked awards instead of the
automatic option grants and rename the Origina¢®ars’ Plan, the 1993 Directors’ Stock Plan. stél 2007, the Original
Directors’ Plan was further amended to, among dtfiegs, increase the amounts of the annual stptikrogrants to
directors, permit pro rata option grants to chafrBoard of Directorstommittees and to provide that the Board of Dinex
or the Compensation Committee may, in the futunange the option grant policy for non-employeedoes (the Directors’
Plan). Under the terms of the Directors’ Plan, ammito purchase 8 million shares of common stodle weserved for
issuance, options are granted at not less thamfaiket value, become exercisable over four yeas expire no more than
ten years from the date of grant. The DirectorahRirovides for automatic grants of options to eami-employee director
upon first becoming a director and thereafter oaramual basis, as well as automatic nondiscretyogiants for chairing
certain Board committees. The Board has the discréd replace any automatic option grant undeiectors’ Plan with
awards of restricted stock, restricted stock umitsther stock-based awards. The number of shakgsa to any such stock
award will be no more than the equivalent valuéhefoptions, as determined on any reasonable basie Board, which
would otherwise have been granted under the afgdiGaitomatic option grant. The Board will deterenthe particular
terms of any such stock awards at the time of glantthe terms will be consistent with those dii@ps, as described
below, granted under the DirectoPdan with respect to vesting or forfeiture schedwaerd treatment on termination of st:
as a director. At May 31, 2008, options to purcheggeroximately 4 million shares of common stockewveutstanding under
the 1993 Directors’ Plan, of which approximatelgnlion were vested. Approximately 2 million shar® available for
future option awards under this plan of which aégortion than the total may be used for gratitsrahan options.

In connection with certain of our acquisitions,liding PeopleSoft, BEA, Siebel and Hyperion, weuassd all of the
outstanding stock options and other stock awar@sol acquiree’s respective stock plans. Thes& smions and other
stock awards generally retain all of the rightsm®and conditions of the respective plans undéchtiney were originally
granted. As of May 31, 2008, options to purchasenilifon shares of common stock and 1 million slsasérestricted stock
were outstanding under these plans.
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The following table summarizes stock option acyidr our last three fiscal years ended May 31,800

Options Outstanding

Weighted

Shares Unde Average
(in millions, except exercise price) Option Exercise Price
Balance, May 31, 200 46¢ 3 11.92
Granted 68 $ 12.3i
Assumed in connection with acquisitic 82 % 17.2
Exercisec 87 % 6.5¢€
Cancelec 59 $ 16.6¢
Balance, May 31, 200 47 % 13.2¢
Granted 61 $ 14.81
Assumed in connection with acquisitic 25 3% 11.2%
Exercisec (106) $ 8.22
Cancelec 19 s 34.5i
Balance, May 31, 200 434  $ 13.6¢
Granted 61 $ 20.4¢
Assumed in connection with acquisitic € % 17.2¢
Exercisec (135) % 9.12
Cancelec (18 $ 20.8:
Balance, May 31, 200 37¢ % 16.3

The range of stock option exercise prices is dubedluctuating price of our stock over the peraddhe grants and
from the conversion of options assumed from ouusiitipns. The following table summarizes our ran§stock
option exercise prices and related informationfdday 31, 2008:

Weighted Average

Options Outstanding Remaining Options Exercisable ~ Weighted Average
Range of Exercise as of May 31, 200¢ Contractual Life ~ Weighted Average as of May 31, 200¢ Exercise Price of
Prices (in millions) (in years) Exercise Price (in millions) Exercisable Options
$0.0—$6.88 41 1.06 $ 6.2¢ 41% 6.3C
$6.8—$9.90 46 4.82 $ 8.9¢ 39% 8.8¢
$9.97—%$11.85 21 3.85 $ 10.7¢ 17% 10.8(C
$11.8—%$12.34 39 6.89 $ 12.32 16$ 12.31]
$12.3—%$14.55 4C 5.27 $ 13.1¢ 33% 13.1¢4
$14.5¢—$14.58 45 8.08 $ 14.5% 9% 14.5%
$14.5<—%$20.07 41 4.61 $ 16.8¢ 31% 16.4¢
$20.0—$20.49 53 8.89 $ 20.4¢ 2% 20.2¢
$20.5(—$126.59 52 2.57 $ 35.4: 49% 36.2¢
$0.01—$126.59 37¢ 5.24 $ 16.3 237% 16.3
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Options outstanding that have vested and thatqrected to vest as of May 31, 2008 are as follows:

Weighted In-the-Money
Average Options as of Aggregate
Outstanding Weighted Remaining May 31, Intrinsic
Options Average Contract Term 2008 Value @
(in millions) Exercise Price (in years) (in millions) (in millions)
Vested 237 % 16.3¢ 3.55 19¢ $ 1,81
Expected to ves? 11€ $ 16.31] 8.06 11€ 1,07t
Total =35€ $ 16.3¢ 5.03 31z $ 2,89z

(1) The aggregate intrinsic value was calculated basetie difference between our closing stock pricéay 31, 2008 of
$22.84 and the exercise prices for a-the-money options outstandin

(2) The unrecognized compensation expense calculathet time fair value method for shares expected $b (imvested shares
net of expected forfeitures) as of May 31, 2008 aroximately $534 million and is expected to éeognized over a
weighted average period of 2.26 years. Approxinge28l million shares outstanding as of May 31, 28@8not expected to
vest.

Stock-Based Compensation Expense and Valuatiotock Bwards Granted

Stockbased compensation is included in the followingrapieg expense line items in our consolidated statds o
operations:

Year Ended May 31,
(in millions) 2008 2007 2006

Sales and marketir $ 51 $ 38 ¢ 8
Software license updates and product sug 10 11 3
Cost of service 13 15 7
Research and developmt 114 85 13
General and administratiy 69 49 —
Acquisition related and oth 112 9 18

Total stocl-based compensatic 36¢ 207 49
Estimated income tax benefit included in provisionincome taxe: (128) (70) (10)

Total stocl-based compensation, net of estimated income taefib $ 241 $ 137 $ 3¢

Quarterly, we assess whether there have been gmificint changes in facts and circumstances tloaiadvaffect
our estimated forfeiture rate. The net effect afditure adjustments based upon actual resultsamascrease to our
stock-based compensation expense of approximaetgifion for fiscal 2008 (nominal for fiscal 20Q7)
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The following table presents the effect on reportetincome and earnings per share if we had ateddar our
stock options under the fair value method of actiagrfor fiscal 2006:

Year Ended

(in millions, except for per share data’ May 31, 200¢
Net income, as reporte $ 3,381
Add: Stocl-based employee compensation expense included inagehe, net of related tax effec 39
Deduct: Stoc-based employee compensation expense determined thedair value method, net of related tax effe (158
Pro forma net incom $ 3,262
Earnings per shar

Basi—as reportet $ 0.6t

Basic—pro forma $ 0.6:

Diluted—as reportet $ 0.64

Diluted—pro forma $ 0.6:

We estimate the fair value of our share-based patsnesing the Black-Scholes-Merton optipreing model, whic
was developed for use in estimating the fair valiigaded options that have no vesting restrictamd are fully
transferable. Option valuation models, including Biack-Scholes-Merton optigoricing model, require the input
assumptions, including stock price volatility. Chan in the input assumptions can materially atteetfair value
estimates. The fair value of employee and direstiock options granted and options assumed fromisitiqas,
were estimated at the date of grant or date ofiaitigun for acquired options assumed. The weiglatesrage input
assumptions used and resulting fair values wefellasvs for fiscal 2008, 2007, and 2006:

Year Ended May 31,
2008 2007 2006

Expected life (in years 5.C 4.¢ 4.5
Risk-free interest rat 4€% 5% 4%
Volatility 29% 26% 26%
Dividend yield — — —
Weightec-average fair value of gran $75: $6.17 $3.8¢

The expected life input is based on historical eiserpatterns and post-vesting termination behatherrisk-free
interest rate input is based on United States Trgasstruments and the volatility input is caldeld based on the
implied volatility of our longest-term, traded aogtis. We do not currently pay cash dividends oncoummon stock
and do not anticipate doing so for the foreseeblee. Accordingly, our expected dividend yielgin is zero.

Tax Benefits from Option Exercises

We settle employee stock option exercises primavitil newly issued common shares and may, on czeasettle
employee stock option exercises with our treashayes. Total cash received as a result of optiencéses was
approximately $1.2 billion, $873 million and $573lian for fiscal 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectivéljie
aggregate intrinsic value of options exercised $&8 billion, $986 million and $594 million for fial 2008, 2007
and 2006, respectively. In connection with theser@szes, the tax benefits realized by us were $5i8in,

$338 million and $169 million for fiscal 2008, 20ard 2006, respectively. The adoption of Staterh28{R)
required us to change our cash flow classificatiboertain tax benefits received from stock optxercises
beginning in fiscal 2007. Of the total tax beneféseived, we classified excess tax benefits frtmoksbased
compensation of $454 million and $259 million askcéows from financing activities rather than cdishvs from
operating activities for fiscal 2008 and 2007, exdjvely. To calculate the excess tax benefitslalibg for use in
offsetting future tax shortfalls as of our StatemE28(R) adoption date, which also affects the sx¢ax benefits
from stock-based compensation that we reclassifaah flows from financing activities, we adopthd t
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alternative transition method as prescribed undsB- Staff Position FAS 123R-3Jransition Election to
Accounting for the Tax Effects of Sr-Based Payment Awards

Employee Stock Purchase Ple

We have an Employee Stock Purchase Plan (Purclese 8tarting with the April 1, 2005 semi-annuption
period, we amended the Purchase Plan such thabgegs can purchase shares of common stock ateapmicshar
that is 95% of the fair value of Oracle stock ashafend of the semi-annual option period. As ofy/Nd4&, 2008,

81 million shares were reserved for future issuanceler the Purchase Plan. During fiscal 2008, 20@72006, we
issued 3 million, 3 million and 6 million sharesspectively, under the Purchase Plan.

Defined Contribution and Other Postretirement Plans

We offer various defined contribution plans for @us. and non-U.S. employees. Total defined coutidin plan
expense was $234 million, $198 million and $17dianilfor fiscal years 2008, 2007 and 2006, respebti The
number of plan participants in our defined conttidau plans has increased primarily as a resuldaditeonal eligible
employees from our acquisitions.

In the United States, regular employees can ppdieiin the Oracle Corporation 401(k) Savings awved$tment
Plan (Oracle 401(k) Plan). Participants can gefyecahtribute up to 40% of their eligible compensaton a per-
pay-period basis as defined by the plan documehy ¢he section 402(g) limit as defined by the EdiStates
Internal Revenue Service. We match a portion ofleyse contributions, currently 50% up to 6% of cemgation
each pay period, subject to maximum aggregate nmate@mounts. Our contributions to the plan, ndbdfeitures,
were $80 million, $67 million and $58 million irsfial 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

We also offer non-qualified deferred compensatiampto certain key employees whereby they mayrdefortion
of their annual base and/or variable compensatntih netirement or a date specified by the emploiyeaccordance
with the plans. Deferred compensation plan assetdiabilities were approximately $210 million ai@i95 million
as of May 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively, angpersented in other assets and other long-ternitiabiin the
accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

12. INCOME TAXES
The following is a geographical breakdown of incdpegore the provision for income taxes:

Year Ended May 31,

(in millions) 2008 2007 2006

Domestic $3,93C $3,302 $2,72i

Foreign 3,90/ 2,684 2,08:
Total income before provision for income ta: $7,83¢ $598t $4,81
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The provision for income taxes consisted of thiofeing:

Year Ended May 31,

(Dollars in millions) 2008 2007 2006
Current provision
Federa $1328 $ 864 $ 93¢
State 231 147 97
Foreign 892 757 434
Total current provisiol 2,44¢ 1,76¢ 1,46¢
Deferred provision (benefit
Federa (96) 45 (35)
State (24) 4 8
Foreign (15) (10%) (13)
Total deferred benef (13%) (56) (40)
Total provision for income taxe $231: $1,712 $1,42¢
Effective income tax rat 29.5% 28.6% 29.7%

The provision for income taxes differed from thecamt computed by applying the federal statutorg tatour
income before provision for income taxes as follows

Year Ended May 31,

(in millions) 2008 2007 2006
Tax provision at statutory ra $2,74. $2,098: $1,68¢
Foreign earnings at other than United States (569) (580) (42€)
State tax expense, net of federal ber 13t 98 68
Settlement of audits and expiration of statutes (20) (29 —
Other 25 12€ 108
Total provision for income taxe $2,317  $1,712  $1,42¢
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The components of the deferred tax assets anditiedbiconsist of the following:

May 31,
(in millions) 2008 2007
Deferred tax liabilities
Unrealized gain on stoc $ (130) $ (130
Unremitted earnings of foreign subsidiar (110 (39)
Acquired intangible asse (2,149 (1,756
Other (49) —
Total deferred tax liabilitie (2,432 (1,929
Deferred tax asset
Accruals and allowance 43€ 417
Employee compensation and bene 43t 27C
Differences in timing of revenue recogniti 17¢€ 16€
Depreciation and amortizatic 20¢€ 85
Tax credit and net operating loss carryforwe 1,31¢ 93t
Other — 91
Total deferred tax asse 2,56¢ 1,964
Valuation allowanct (190 (16€)
Net deferred tax liabilit $ (B4 $ (126
Recorded as
Current deferred tax asst $ 858 $ 96¢
Non-current deferred tax assets (in other as: 36C 47
Current deferred tax liabilities (in other currdiabilities) (49 (20
Non-current deferred tax liabilitie (1,219 (1,127)
Net deferred tax liabilit $ 59 $ (120

We provide for United States income taxes on thiistnbuted earnings and the other outside basipteary
differences of foreign subsidiaries unless theycaresidered indefinitely reinvested outside thetebhiStates. At
May 31, 2008, the amount of temporary differenedated to undistributed earnings and other outsadis
temporary differences of investments in foreignssdiaries upon which United States income taxe® ¢ been
provided was approximately $7.2 billion and $4.fidn, respectively. If these undistributed earrdnvgere
repatriated to the United States, or if the othéside basis differences were recognized in a textadnsaction, the
would generate foreign tax credits that would redilne federal tax liability associated with theeign dividend or
the otherwise taxable transaction. Assuming auiilization of the foreign tax credits, the potehtileferred tax
liability associated with these temporary differesof undistributed earnings and other outsidestiasiporary
differences would be approximately $1.7 billion &1d5 billion, respectively.

The valuation allowance was $190 million at May 2008 and $166 million at May 31, 2007. The netease is
primarily attributable to deferred taxes of acqdiemtities, principally state attributes. Substhtiall of the
valuation allowance relates to tax assets estadighpurchase accounting. Any subsequent reducfitimat portior
of the valuation allowance and the recognitionhaf &ssociated tax benefits will be applied to redymodwill and
then to intangible assets established pursuahetoeiated acquisition through fiscal 2009, and bélrecorded to
our provision for income taxes upon our adoptiostatement 141(R) in fiscal 2010.

At May 31, 2008, we had federal net operating tsyforwards of approximately $1.5 billion. Thdssses expire
in various years between fiscal 2014 and fiscalr2@2d are subject to limitations on their utiliaat We have state
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net operating loss carryforwards of approximatéyldbillion, which expire between fiscal 2009 arst#l 2027,
and are subject to limitations on their utilizatife have tax credit carryforwards of approximatk240 million,
which are subject to limitations on their utilizati Approximately $117 million of these tax crechtrryforwards are
not currently subject to expiration dates. The riecher, approximately $123 million, expires in varsoyears
between fiscal 2010 and fiscal 2026.

On June 1, 2007, we adopted FASB Interpretationd8pAccounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes, an
Interpretation of FASB Statement No. (FIN 48). FIN 48 contains a two-step approach tmgmizing and
measuring uncertain tax positions accounted factordance with FASB Statement No. 188¢counting for
Income Taxe. The first step is to evaluate the tax positideetaor expected to be taken in a tax return by
determining if the weight of available evidenceigades that it is more likely than not that, onleation of the
technical merits, the tax position will be sustaia audit, including resolution of any related eqlp or litigation
processes. The second step is to measure thertafittas the largest amount that is more than Skétylto be
realized upon ultimate settlement.

The adoption of FIN 48 resulted in an increaseuoretained earnings of $3 million and also resliteus changin
the classification of our unrecognized tax bendfiien current to non-current during fiscal 2008.

The aggregate changes in the balance of our grossagnized tax benefits were as follows:

Year Ended

(in millions) May 31, 200¢
Gross unrecognized tax benefits as of June 1, geIOV48 adoption date $ 1,251
Increases related to tax positions from prior figesars, including acquisitior 25€
Decreases related to tax positions from prior figears (5)
Increases related to tax positions taken durirgafi2008 18C
Settlements with tax authoriti (20
Lapses of statutes of limitatic (29
Other 55

Total gross unrecognized tax benefits as of May2808 $ 1,69:

As of May 31, 2008, $799 million of unrecognizedbfts would affect our effective tax rate if reald. We believ
the amount of unrecognized tax benefits as of My2B08 that would affect our effective tax rateciéilized after
the adoption of Statement 141(R) in fiscal 2010¢@pproximately $1.2 billion. We recognized inst@nd
penalties related to uncertain tax positions inrovision for income taxes line of our consolidhgtatements of
operations of $30 million during fiscal 2008. Thegs amount of interest and penalties accrued Eapf31, 2008
was $366 million.

Domestically, U.S. federal and state taxing autlesriare currently examining income tax return®uodcle and
various acquired entities for years through fi’@06. Many issues are at an advanced stage irxémairation
process, the most significant of which include dieductibility of certain royalty payments, issuekated to certain
capital gains and losses, Foreign Sales Corporatkbraterritorial Income exemptions, stewardshigugions and
foreign tax credits taken. Other issues are relatgears with expiring statutes of limitation. Will of these
domestic audit issues considered in the aggregatbelieve it was reasonably possible that, asay B, 2008, th
unrecognized tax benefits related to these auditkieither increase as much as $68 million or ek (whether |
payment, release, or a combination of both) imigset 12 months by as much as $293 million ($246ioninet of
offsetting tax benefits). Our U.S. federal andhwdbme exceptions, our state income tax returns haen examine
for all years prior to fiscal 2000, and we are oder subject to audit for those periods.

Internationally, tax authorities for numerous norslurisdictionsare also examining returns affecting unrecogr
tax benefits. We believe it was reasonably possitdg as of May 31, 2008, the gross unrecogniard t
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benefits, could decrease (whether by payment,gelea a combination of both) by as much as $1%omi

($74 million net of offsetting tax benefits) in thext 12 months, related primarily to transfer imgcand a technical
matter of corporate restructuring, which would Keated by the possible passage of favorable latjisi. With
some exceptions, we are generally no longer sutigeix examinations in non-U.S. jurisdictions years prior to
fiscal 1998.

We believe that we have adequately provided forraagonably foreseeable outcomes related to owrudits and
that any settlement will not have a material adeeféect on our consolidated financial positiomresults of
operations. However, there can be no assurandesfas possible outcomes.

We previously negotiated three unilateral Advandei®y Agreements with the IRS that cover many wf o
intercompany transfer pricing issues and preclbddRS from making a transfer pricing adjustmerthimithe
scope of these agreements. These agreementseatveffor fiscal years through May 31, 2006. Weehaubmitte:
to the IRS a request for renewal of this AdvandeilRy Agreement for the years ending May 31, 200@ugh

May 31, 2011. However, these agreements do notr @velements of our transfer pricing and do niatiitax
authorities outside the United States. We havdified one bilateral Advance Pricing Agreement, Whicas
effective for the years ending May 31, 2002 throgy 31, 2006 and we have submitted a renewahi®ytars
ending May 31, 2007 through May 31, 2011. We culyeare negotiating an additional bilateral agreatite cover
the period from June 1, 2001 through May 31, 200re can be no guarantee that such negotiatidheesiilt in
an agreement.

13. SEGMENT INFORMATION

FASB Statement No. 13Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise andt&klnformation establishes
standards for reporting information about operaiagments. Operating segments are defined as cemisoof an
enterprise about which separate financial inforarais available that is evaluated regularly bydhief operating
decision maker, or decision making group, in dexjdiow to allocate resources and in assessingrpeaface. Our
chief operating decision maker is our Chief Exaautfficer. We are organized geographically andirsy of
business. While our Chief Executive Officer evaisatesults in a number of different ways, the éhbusiness
management structure is the primary basis for witiehallocation of resources and financial resalésassessed. \
have two businesses, software and services, whicfugther divided into five operating segmentsr Goftware
business is comprised of two operating segmentsidd software licenses and (2) software licensiatgs and
product support. Our services business is compo$éduree operating segments: (1) consulting, (2)B@mand and
(3) education.

The new software license line of business is endjagéhe licensing of database and middleware sofivas well as
applications software. Database and middlewarevsoft includes database management software, ajphicerve
software, business intelligence software, iderdtfin and access management software, analytitgasef content
management software, development tools and datgration software. Applications software provideteeprise
information that enables companies to manage busiiness cycles and provide intelligence in fumalareas such
as customer relationship management, financialmamuresources, maintenance management, manufggcturin
marketing, order fulfillment, product lifecycle megement, procurement, projects, sales, servicespeise
resource planning and supply chain planning. THigvaoe license updates and product support lineusfness
provides customers with rights to unspecified safenwproduct upgrades and maintenance releasemdhtecess to
technical content, as well as internet and teleptamtess to technical support personnel duringupport period.
In addition, the software license updates and prbsupport line of business offers customers Ordclereakable
Linux Support, which provides enterprise level sapfor the Linux operating system, and also offarpport for
Oracle VM server virtualization software.

The consulting line of business provides servioasustomers in business strategy and analysisyéssprocess
optimization, and the implementation, deploymerd apgrade of our database, middleware and appitsti
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software. On Demand includes Oracle On Demand, @®MDemand and Advanced Customer Services. Oracle On
Demand provides multi-featured software and hardwaanagement and maintenance services for custdnatrs
deploy our database, middleware and applicatiofisziare either at our data center facilities, aesepartner data
centers or at customer facilities. CRM On Demaral service offering that provides our customers wiitr CRM
Software functionality delivered via a hosted soluthat we manage. Advanced Customer Servicedsterg

solution support centers, business critical assigtatechnical account management, expert sendoefiguration

and performance analysis, personalized supporaandal on-site technical services. The educatimndi business
provides instructor led, media based and interaséd training in the use of our database, middiewad

applications software.

We do not track our assets by operating segmentssegjuently, it is not practical to show assetsigrating
segments.

The following table presents a summary of our besses and operating segments:

Year Ended May 31,

(in millions) 2008 2007 2006
New software license:
Revenue:® $ 7501% 5,87¢/% 4,897
Sales and distribution expens 4,04( 3,32¢ 2,63¢
Margin ) $ 3,461% 2,54¢$ 2,25¢
Software license updates and product supj
Revenue:® $ 10,50°$ 8,541% 7,027
Cost of service 933 78€ 672
Margin @) $ 957/% 7,75:$ 6,35¢
Total software busines
Revenue:®) $ 18,00($ 14,41f$ 11,92
Expense: 4,978 4,114 3,311
Margin ) $ 13,03t$ 10,3018 8,61:
Consulting:
Revenue:®) $ 3,45.% 2,851% 2,11z
Cost of service 2,914 2,38¢ 1,78i
Margin ) $ 54C $ 467% 32€
On Demand
Revenue:®) $ 69t $ 55E$ 39¢
Cost of service 56¢ 52¢ 372
Margin ) $ 12€$ 26% 26
Education:
Revenue:®) $ 452 % 387% 33¢€
Cost of service 314 272 23t
Margin ) $ 13€$ 11£$ 101
Total services busines
Revenue:® $ 4,601% 3,79:$ 2,847
Cost of service 3,797 3,18% 2,39/
Margin ) $ 804% 60€$ 452
Totals:
Revenue®) $ 22,60¢$ 18,20¢$ 14,77
Expense: 8,77( 7,29¢ 5,70t
Margin @ $ 13,83¢$ 10,90¢$ 9,06¢

(1) Operating segment revenues differ from the extaem@obrting classifications due to certain softwlarense products that are classified as
service revenues for management reporting purpdsibtionally, software license updates and prodwgiport revenues for management
reporting include $179 million, $212 million and33million of revenues that we did not recognizé¢hie accompanying consolidated
statements of operations for fiscal 2008, 2007 20@b, respectively. See Note 8 for an explanatfchese adjustments and the following
table for a reconciliation of operating segmenerases to total revenue

(2 The margins reported reflect only the direct cdfdlde costs of each line of business and do meient the actual margins for each
operating segment because they do not contairi@atibn of product development, information teclogy, marketing and partner prograi
and corporat

106




Table of Contents

ORACLE CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continu ed)

May 31, 2008

and general and administrative expenses incurredpport of the lines of business. Additionallye thargins do not reflect the amortizatiol
intangible assets, restructuring costs, acquisitibaited and other expenses or s-based compensatio

The following table reconciles operating segmeneneies to total revenues as well as operating sggmargin to

income before provision for income taxes:

Year Ended May 31,

(in millions) 2008 2007 2006
Total revenues for reportable segme $22,60¢ $18,20¢ $14,77:
Software license updates and product support res® (179 (212) (397

Total revenue

Total margin for reportable segme
Software license updates and product support res@®
Product development and information technology espe
Marketing and partner program expen
Corporate and general and administrative expe
Amortization of intangible asse
Acquisition related and oth
Restructuring
Stocl-based compensatic
Interest expens
Non-operating income, ne
Income before provision for income ta»

$22,43( $17,99¢ $14,38(
$13,83¢ $10,90¢ $ 9,06¢

(179 (212) (391)
(3,019 (2,460 (2,160
(460) (424) (447)
(677) (575) (472
(1,217) (87¢) (58%)
(124) (140) (137)
(41) (19 (89)
(257) (19€) (31)
(394) (349) (16¢)
351 32¢ 22(

$ 783¢ $ 598 $ 481

(1) Software license updates and product support reasefar management reporting include $179 millictl, Zmillion and
$391 million of revenues that we did not recognizeur accompanying consolidated statements ofadipers for fiscal 200t
2007 and 2006, respectively. See Note 8 for ana@gpion of these adjustments and this table fecanciliation of operatin

segment revenues to total revent
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Geographic Information

Disclosed in the table below is geographic infoiorafor each country that comprised greater thaeetipercent of
our total revenues for fiscal 2008, fiscal 200Fiscal 2006.

Year Ended May 31,

2008 2007 2006
Long Lived Long Lived Long Lived

(in millions) Revenues Assets®) Revenues Assets®) Revenues Assets)
United State: $ 9,65($ 146t 7,82¢% 1,40¢$ 6,44<% 1,351
United Kingdom 1,65¢ 11C 1,29: 111 1,152 10¢
Japar 1,06¢ 207 90¢ 164 841 10t
Germany 98: 9 72C 11 57¢ 8
France 85¢ 21 63E 16 50¢ 16
Canade 737 15 54¢ 10 472 12
Other foreign countrie 7,47¢ 532 6,06¢ 41¢ 4,37 17¢

Total $ 22,43($% 2,35¢$ 17,99¢$ 2,13:$ 14,38(% 1,78(

(1) Long-lived assets exclude goodwill, intangible éssequity investments and deferred taxes, whiemat allocated to
specific geographic locations as it is impractieaiol do so

14. EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings per share is computed by dividirtgnumme for the period by the weighted average remof
common shares outstanding during the period. Qiletrnings per share is computed by dividing negrime for the
period by the weighted average number of commoreshautstanding during the period, plus the dirig¥fect of
outstanding stock awards and shares issuable tiielemployee stock purchase plan using the treasock
method. The following table sets forth the compatabf basic and diluted earnings per share:

Year Ended May 31,

(in millions, except per share data) 2008 2007 2006

Net income $ 5521 427+$ 3,38
Weighted average common shares outstan 5,13: 5,17( 5,19¢
Dilutive effect of employee stock pla 96 99 91
Dilutive weighted average common shares outstar 5,22¢ 5,26¢ 5,287
Basic earnings per she $ 1.0¢ $ 0.8 $ 0.6
Diluted earnings per sha $ 1.0€ $ 0.81 % 0.64
Shares subject to a-dilutive stock options excluded from calculati® 98 76 12:

(1) These weighted shares relate to aliltitive stock options as calculated using theswey stock method (described above)
could be dilutive in the future. See Note 11 fdoimation regarding the prices of our outstandimexercised option:

15. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
Securities Class Action

Stockholder class actions were filed in the UniBeates District Court for the Northern District@alifornia against
us and our Chief Executive Officer on and after éfa®, 2001. Between March 2002 and March 2003¢ et
dismissed plaintiffs’ consolidated complaint, fishended complaint and a revised second amended
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complaint. The last dismissal was with prejudica. $&ptember 1, 2004, the United States Court okAlgpfor the
Ninth Circuit reversed the dismissal order and nedeal the case for further proceedings. The re\dsednc
amended complaint named our Chief Executive Offioar then Chief Financial Officer (who currenttyChairmar
of our Board of Directors) and a former Executivied/President as defendants. This complaint wasghbroon
behalf of purchasers of our stock during the pefioth December 14, 2000 through March 1, 2001 nffés
alleged that the defendants made false and misigatiitements about our actual and expected fiaanci
performance and the performance of certain of pptieations products, while certain individual dedants were
selling Oracle stock in violation of federal seties laws. Plaintiffs further alleged that certaidividual defendant
sold Oracle stock while in possession of materal-public information. Plaintiffs also allege thhe defendants
engaged in accounting violations. On July 26, 2@@fendants filed a motion for summary judgment] plaintiffs
filed a motion for partial summary judgment agaim$tlefendants and a motion for summary judgmeatrest our
Chief Executive Officer. On August 7, 2007, pldistifiled amended versions of these motions. Thégs
summary judgment motions are fully briefed. On ®@eto5, 2007, plaintiffs filed a motion seeking dicast
judgment against defendants or various other samgetiecause of defende’ alleged destruction of evidence. This
motion is fully briefed. A hearing on all these oo was held on December 20, 2007. The court bbaget ruled
on any of these motions. On April 7, 2008, the a@as reassigned to a new judge, who has schedsiedus
conference for July 18, 2008. On June 27, 2008¢dhet ordered supplemental briefing on plaintianctions
motion. Currently, no date has been set for tRidintiffs seek unspecified damages plus intesggirneysfees ant
costs, and equitable and injunctive relief. Wedadithat we have meritorious defenses againsadttiisn, and we
will continue to vigorously defend it.

Mangosoft Intellectual Property Litigation

Mangosoft, Inc. and Mangosoft Corporation filedadgmt infringement action against us in the Uniéates Distric
Court for the District of New Hampshire on NovemB&r 2002. Plaintiffs alleged that we are willfulhyfringing
U.S. Patent Nos. 6,148,377 (the ‘377 patent) a@ii&229 (the ‘229 patent), which they claim to oRlaintiffs
seek damages based on our license sales of thé\Reladation Clusters database option, the 9i abgl databases,
and the Application Server, and seek injunctiveefeWe denied infringement and asserted affirneatefenses and
counterclaimed against plaintiffs for declaratargigment that the ‘377 and ‘229 patents are inval@nforceable
and not infringed by us. On May 19, 2004, the cbettl a claims construction (Markman) hearing, and
September 21, 2004, it issued a Markman order.uda 21, 2005, plaintiffs withdrew their allegatiarfs
infringement of the ‘229 patent. Discovery closedJaly 1, 2005. Summary judgment motions were fied
August 25, 2005, and the court held a hearing esgmotions on October 17, 2005. On March 14, 208@ourt
ruled that Oracle’s Real Application Clusters dasboption did not infringe the ‘377 patent.

Oracle’s counterclaims against Mangosoft, allegirag the ‘377 patent is invalid and unenforcealviere the only
claims that the Court left open for trial. On Af2il, 2006 Mangosoft filed a motion asking that Masajt be
allowed to appeal the noninfringement ruling imnageliy to the Federal Circuit Court of Appeals amat trial on
Oracle’s counterclaims be stayed until that appaalbeen resolved. Oracle filed a brief opposiagjrtiotion on
May 8, 2006. On March 28, 2007, the Court issuedrder largely granting the relief sought by MargfasThe
Court dismissed Oracle'counterclaims of invalidity and inequitable coadwithout prejudice and ordered the el
of judgment of noninfringement consistent withMarch 14, 2006 order on summary judgment. On M2&h
2007, the Court entered Judgment in Oractator on the issue of noninfringement and, orstirae day, Mangosi
filed its notice of appeal to the Federal Circtidtting that it was appealing (1) the Court’'s Mateh 2006 order on
summary judgment, (2) the Court’s order of March2®07, (3) the Court’s claim construction order of
September 21, 2004, and (4) the entry of judgmeritlarch 29, 2007. Oracle has filed its statemermiosts in
connection with the entry of judgment. On May 20072, the parties were notified that the matter sedscted for
inclusion in the Federal Circuit's mandatory App&dl Mediation Program. A mediation was held on 2he&007,
but the matter was not resolved. Mangosoft filscjtening appeal brief in the Federal Circuit oryést 6, 2007.
Oracle filed its responsive brief on November 1@)2, and Mangosoft filed its reply brief on Janu@r2008. The

109




Table of Contents

ORACLE CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continu ed)
May 31, 2008

Federal Circuit heard oral argument in the appeadWlarch 3, 2008. On May 14, 2008, the Federal @iisgued an
opinion and order affirming the District Court'sagt of Oracles motion for summary judgment of noninfringeme
Plaintiffs’ time to seek reconsideration of the €ead Circuit’s decision has expired. We believe tha have
meritorious defenses against this action, and vlecamtinue to vigorously defend it.

EpicRealm Intellectual Property Litigation

On June 30, 2006, we filed a declaratory judgmetiba against EpicRealm Licensing, LP (“EpicRealrnmi’the
United States District Court, District of Delawasegking a judicial declaration of noninfringemant invalidity of
U.S. Patent Nos. 5,894,554 (the ‘554 Patent) ahti56335B1 (the ‘335 Patent). We filed the lawsaitdwing the
resolution of an indemnification claim by one of @austomers related to EpicRealm’s assertion of36é Patent
and ‘335 Patent against the customer in a patéimdgement case in the United States District Cémrthe Eastern
District of Texas.

On April 13, 2007, EpicRealm filed an Answer andu@trclaim in which it: (1) denies our noninfringent and
invalidity allegations; (2) alleges that we havdfuily infringed, and are willfully infringing, te ‘554 Patent and
‘335 Patent; and (3) requests a permanent injumcéio award of unspecified money damages, inteatistneys’
fees, and costs. On May 7, 2007, we filed an Angwé&picRealm’s infringement counterclaim, denying
EpicRealm’s infringement allegations and asserffigmative defenses.

The parties currently are conducting discoveryefing on claims construction and summary judgmeations is
scheduled for the summer of 2008. A Markman heaaimdjoral argument on summary judgment motiondate
set for September 26, 2008. Trial is schedulecetyirbon January 12, 2009. We believe that we haafétanious
defenses against EpicRealm’s counterclaims, andilveontinue to vigorously defend against thosermerclaims.

SAP Intellectual Property Litigation

On March 22, 2007, Oracle Corporation, Oracle UB&, and Oracle International Corporation (colleely,
Oracle) filed a complaint in the United States Bi$tCourt for the Northern District of Californegainst SAP AG,
its wholly owned subsidiary, SAP America, Inc., arsdwholly owned subsidiary, TomorrowNow, Inc.,
(collectively, the SAP Defendants) alleging viodeus of the Federal Computer Fraud and Abuse Actlaand
California Computer Data Access and Fraud ActJ cionspiracy, trespass, conversion, violation ef @alifornia
Unfair Business Practices Act, and intentional aegligent interference with prospective economicaatiage.
Oracle alleged that SAP unlawfully accessed Oradlristomer Connection support website and imprppeok
and used Oracle’s intellectual property, includsodtware code and knowledge management solutidres. T
complaint seeks unspecified damages and prelimiaagdypermanent injunctive relief. On April 10, 20Qfacle
filed a stipulation extending the time for the SBEfendants to respond to the complaint. On Ju20@7, Oracle
filed its First Amended Complaint, adding claims iiafringement of the federal Copyright Act and &ch of
contract, and dropping the conversion and sepgrplteti conspiracy claims. On July 2, 2007 the SAdfedants’
filed their Answer and Affirmative Defenses, ackredging that TomorrowNow had made some “inappraeria
downloads” and otherwise denying the claims alldgetie First Amended Complaint. The parties agaged in
discovery and continue to negotiate a Preserv@iater. At case management conferences held on &wghbtia,
2008 and April 24, 2008, Oracle advised the Ccat Oracle intends to file a Second Amended Complbased
on new facts learned during the course of discavery

Other Litigation

We are party to various legal proceedings and daéither asserted or unasserted, which arisesioriinary cours
of business, including proceedings and claimsrédate to acquisitions we have completed or to cmmgs we have
acquired or are attempting to acquire. While thie@me of these matters cannot be predicted wittaicgy, we do
not believe that the outcome of any of these claimany of the above mentioned legal matters valtdha
materially adverse effect on our consolidated faiaposition, results of operations or cash flows.

110




Table of Contents

SCHEDULE I
ORACLE CORPORATION
VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS
Additions
Charged
Beginning to Operations or Translation Ending
(in millions) Balance Other Accounts Write -offs  Adjustments  Balance
Trade Receivable Allowanci
Year Ended
May 31, 200¢ $ 26¢ 241  (18Y) —$ 32
May 31, 2007 $ 32¢ 244  (26%) 5$  30¢
May 31, 200¢ $ 30¢€ 164 (182) 153% 30:s
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Regigthas duly
caused this report to be signed on its behalf byutidersigned, thereunto duly authorized, on JUR0OR8.

ORACLE CORPORATION

By: /s/ LAWRENCEJ. ELLISON

Lawrence J. Ellison, Chief Executive Officer

and Director

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, this report has been signed éydhowing
persons on behalf of the Registrant and in theatipaand on the date indicated.

Name Title Date
/s/ LAWRENCEJ. ELLISON Chief Executive Officer and Director (Princig July 2, 200¢
Lawrence J. Ellisol Executive Officer)
/sl SAFRA A. CATZ President, Chief Financial Officer and Direc July 2, 200¢
Safra A. Cat (Principal Financial Officer)
/s WILLIAM COREY WEST Senior Vice President, Corporate Controller ande€ July 2, 200¢
William Corey Wes Accounting Officer (Principal Accounting Officer)
/sl EFFREYO. HENLEY Chairman of the Board of Directors July 2, 2008
Jeffrey O. Henle
/sl EFFREYS. BERG Director July 2, 2008
Jeffrey S. Ber
/sl H. RRYMOND BINGHAM Director July 2, 2008
H. Raymond Binghar
/sl MICHAEL J. BOSKIN Director July 2, 2008
Michael J. Boskir
/sl EORGEH. CONRADES Director July 2, 2008
George H. Conrade
/s/ HECTORGARCIA-MOLINA Director July 2, 2008
Hector Garci-Molina
/sl ACK F. KEMP Director July 2, 2008
Jack F. Kemp
/s/ DONALD L. LUCAS Director July 2, 2008
Donald L. Lucas
/sl QHARLES E. PHILLIPS, R. President and Director July 2, 2008
Charles E. Phillips, J
/sl NaomI O. SELIGMAN Director July 2, 2008

Naomi O. Seligmai
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Exhibit

Number
12.01
21.01
23.01
31.01
31.02
32.01

ORACLE CORPORATION
INDEX OF EXHIBITS

Exhibit Title

Consolidated Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Chai

Subsidiaries of the Registre

Consent of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Registétablic Accounting Firn
Certification Pursuant to Section 302 of the Saés-Oxley Aci—Lawrence J. Ellisol
Certification Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sagks-Oxley Aci—Safra A. Cat:
Certification Pursuant to Section 906 of the Saés-Oxley Act
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Exhibit 12.01

ORACLE CORPORATION
Consolidated Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges

Year Ended May 31,

(Unaudited)
(Dollars in millions) 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004
Earnings @
Income before provision for income tay $7,83¢ $ 5,98¢ $4,81( $ 4,05 $ 3,94¢
Add: Minority interests 60 71 41 42 37
Add: Fixed charge 454 38C 20t 17z 59
Less: Equity in earning — — (14) — —
Total earning: $ 8,34¢ $6,43i $ 5,042 $4,26¢ $ 4,041
Fixed Charges(®
Interest expens $ 394 $ 34z $ 16¢ $ 13¢ $ 21
Estimate of interest in rent exper 60 37 36 34 38
Total fixed charge $ 454 $ 38C $ 20t $ 17:Z $ 58
Ratio of earnings to fixed charg 18x 17x 25X 25X 68x

@) The term “earnings” means the amounts resultiog fthe following: (a) our income before provisiimn income taxes, plus (b) the
minority interests in the income before provisionihcome taxes of our majority owned subsidian#ss (c) our fixed charges, less (d)
our share of our equity inves’s income before provision for income tax

@  The term “fixed chargesheans the amounts resulting from the following:o@) interest expensed, plus (b) our interest akipéitd, plus
(c) our estimate of the interest component of expense

We do not report any shares of preferred stocktanidiéng in our consolidated financial statementsabbse our outstanding preferred stock is
owned by one or more of our wholly-owned subsidisriConsequently, our ratio of earnings to combfid charges and preferred
dividends for any given period is equivalent to mtio of earnings to fixed charges.



Domestic Subsidiaries

ORACLE CORPORATION
Subsidiaries of the Registrant

Place of Incorporation

Exhibit 21.01

CrossLogix, Inc

Enosys Software, In

Oracle Credit Corporatic
Oracle International Corporatic

Oracle International Technology Corporat

Upshot Corporatiol

Oracle USA, Inc

MOHR Development, Inc
Alyson Acquisition Corporatio
Agile Software Corporatio
Appeal Virtual Machines, Inc
Appleone Acquisition Corporatic
BEA Crossgain, Inc

BEA Government Systems, Ir
BEA Systems Holding B, Inc
BEA Systems, Inc

BEA WebXpress, LLC

Business OnLine, In

ECTone, Inc

EntitleNet, Inc.

Ether Acquisition Corporatio
Flashline, Inc

Fuego, Inc

Healthcare Acquisition | Corporatic
Hyperion Solutions Corporatic
Hyperion Solutions Holdings LL¢
InterActive WorkPlace, Inc
Istante Softwar

Jade Acquisition Corporatic

M7 Corporatior

Mantas, Inc

MetaSolv, Inc

Numetrix, Inc.

OIC Acquisition | Corporatiot
OIC Acquisition Il Corporatior
OIC Acquisition VI Corporatior
OIC Acquisition VIII Corporatior
Oracle Acquisition | Corporatio
Oracle Acquisition Il Corporatio
Oracle Americas Investment 2 LL

California
California
California
California
California
California
Colorado
Connecticu
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware




Domestic Subsidiaries

Place of Incorporation

Oracle Americas Investment 3 LL

Oracle Americas Investment LL
Oracle Global Holdings, Int
Oracle Holdings, Inc

Oracle Japan Holding, In

Oracle Mauritius Holding Compar
Oracle OTC Holdings General Partners

Oracle OTC Holdings LL(
Oracle Systems Corporati
Oracle Taiwan, Inc
Orchestream, Inc

Plumtree Software, In

RSIB, Inc.

SealedMedia, Inc

Siebel Helpline.com, Inc
Siebel Systems Holdings, LL
Siebel Systems International LL
Siebel Systems International |
Siebel Systems, In

Silicongo, Inc.

Solarmetric, Inc

SPL WorldGroup Holdings, LL(
SPL WorldGroup, Inc

Stellent Colorado Springs, In
Strategic Processing Corporati
The Theory Center, In
Westside.com, Inc

XQRL, Inc.

Monaco Acquisition Corporatia
LODESTAR Corporatiot
RogersGrant Acquisition Cor
nquire Software, Inc

Stellent, Inc.

Delphi Asset Management Corporati

Reliaty, Inc.

Nomadic Systems, In

Phaos Technology Corporati
The 2(-20 Group, Ltd

Acom Acquisition Corporatio
Compoze Software, In

Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Maryland
Massachuseti
Massachuseti
Minnesota
Minnesota
Nevadas

New Hampshire
New Jerse
New York
Ohio
Pennsylvani:
Pennsylvani:




Domestic Subsidiaries Place of Incorporation

Prodika, Inc. Texas
Xeno Development, Inc Texas
Wisconsin

Trillium Research, Inc




International Subsidiaries

Place of Incorporation

BEA Argentina S.A
Oracle Argentina, S.A

A.C.N.# 07:-333596 (fka Brio Software Pty. Ltd

BEA Systems Pty Ltc

edocs Asi-Pacific Pty Limitec

Eontec Australia Pty Limite

G-Log Pty Ltd

Hyperion Solutions Australia Pty LI
J.D. Edwards Australia Pty L

J.D. Edwards World Solutions Company Pty
LODESTAR Solutions Australia Pty Lt
MetaSolv Australia Pty Limite

Oracle Australia Holdings Pty Lt
Oracle Consolidation Australia Pty L
Oracle Corporation Australia Pty Limitt
Oracle Superannuation Pty Limit
PeopleSoft Australia Pty Li

Portal Software International Pty L
Retek Information Systems Pty L
Sidewinder Asia Pacific Pty Lt

Siebel Systems Australia Pty Limit
SPL (Australia) Pty Lt

SPL WorldGroup (Australia) Pty Lt
SPL WorldGroup Holdings (Australia) Pty L
Stellent Asia Pty Ltc

Vantive Australia Pty Ltc

Oracle Austria Gmbt

BEA Systems (FSC) In

Hyperion Foreign Sales Corporati

J.D. Edwards & Company Foreign Sales,
BEA Systems Europe N.\

Oracle Belgium BVBA/SPRI

Hyperion Solutions Technologies, |
Oracle BH d.o.0. Saraje\

BEA Systems Limitad

Oracle do Brasil Sistemas Limita
PeopleSoft China Holding Corporati
BEA Systems, Ltd

Argentina
Argentina
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Austria
Barbados
Barbados
Barbados
Belgium
Belgium
Bermuda
Bosnia & Herzegovin
Brazil
Brazil
British Virgin Islands
Canads




International Subsidiaries

Place of Incorporation

Oracle Canada Holdings In

Oracle Corporation Canada It

Oracle Numetrix Compan

Star Acquisition ULC

Steltor Corporatiol

Steltor General Partnerst

Steltor Inc.

WebGain (Nova Scotia) Compa
WebGain Canada In

BEA CrossGain Internation

BEA Internationa

Oracle International Holding Compa
PeopleSoft C.I. Holdings Lt

SPL WorldGroup International Lt
Sistemas Oracle de Chile, S.

Agile Software (Suzhou) Co., Lt

BEA Systems (China) Co., Lt

BEA Technology (Beijing) Co., Ltc
Hyperion Solutions (China) Lt

J.D. Edwards Software (Beijing) Co., LI
Oracle (China) Software Systems Co., |
Oracle Research & Development Center, Shenzhen
Oracle Research & Development Center, Beijing,
PeopleSoft (Beijing) Software Co. Lt
Siebel Systems Software (Shanghai) Co.,
Oracle Colombia Limitad

Oracle de Centroamérica, S.

Oracle Croatia d.o.(

Oracle Systems Limite

Oracle Czech s.r.(

Oracle Danmark Ap:

Oracle Ecuador, S./

Oracle Egypt Ltd

BEA Systems O\

Innobase OY

Oracle Finland OY

Siebel Systems Suomi C

BEA Systems Customer Support (France) S..

Canade
Canads
Canade
Canads
Canade
Canade
Canade
Canade
Canads
Cayman Island
Cayman Island
Cayman Island
Cayman Island
Cayman Island
Chile

China

China

China

China

China

China

China

China

China

China
Colombia
Costa Rice
Croatia
Cyprus

Czech Republi
Denmark
Ecuadot

Egypt

Finland
Finland
Finland
Finland

France
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Place of Incorporation

BEA Systems S.A.S

Oracle France, S.A.

Retek Information Systems S.

BEA Systems Customer Support (Germany) Gn
BEA Systems Gmbt

Brio Software Gmbt

G-Log GmbH

Oracle Deutschland Gmb

Oracle Hellas, S.A

BEA Systems Hong Kong Lt

Hyperion Solutions (Hong Kong) Lti

J.D. Edwards (Hong Kong) Limite

MetaSolv Hong Kong Ltd

Oracle Consulting Asia Limite

Oracle Hong Kong Holdings Limite

Oracle Systems Hong Kong Limit
PeopleSoft Hong Kong Lt

Portal Software (Asia Pacific) Limite

Siebel Systems Asia Limite

Siebel Systems Hong Kong Limit

SPL WorldGroup Hong Kong Limite

Oracle Hungary Kft

Siebel Systems Hungary Computer Technol
Agile Software Enterprise Private Limit

BEA Systems India Private Lt

BEA Systems India Technology Center Private |
ECTone (India) Private Limite

Hyperion Solutions India Private Limite

i-flex solutions Ltd.

J.D. Edwards India Software Pvt. L

Oracle India Private, Ltc

Oracle Solution Services (India) Private L
PeopleSoft India Private Lt

Portal Information Technology India Private Limit
ProfitLogic Software Private Limite

Siebel Systems Software (India) Private Limi
PT Oracle Indonesi

France
France
France
Germany
Germany
Germany
Germany
Germany
Greece
Hong Kong
Hong Kong
Hong Kong
Hong Kong
Hong Kong
Hong Kong
Hong Kong
Hong Kong
Hong Kong
Hong Kong
Hong Kong
Hong Kong
Hungary
Hungary
India

India

India

India

India

India

India

India

India

India

India

India

India
Indonesie




International Subsidiaries

Place of Incorporation

BEA Systems (Ireland) Limite
BEA Systems Ireland Holding Limite

BEA Systems Ireland Sales Support & Services

Eontec Limitec

Eontec R&D Limited

Eontec Sales Limite

J.D. Edwards Europe Lt

Netsure Telecom Limite

Oracle CAPAC Distributor Partni
Oracle CAPAC Elimination Compar
Oracle CAPAC Holding Compar
Oracle CAPAC Research Compe
Oracle CAPAC Research Partr
Oracle CAPAC Services Limite
Oracle East Central Europe Limit
Oracle EMEA Holdings

Oracle EMEA Limitec

Oracle Technology Compai

PSFT International Limite

Siebel Systems EMEA Limite

Siebel Systems Ireland Holdings Limit
SPL WorldGroup (Ireland) Limite
Siebel Systems Isle of Man Limit
BEA Systems (Israel) Ltc

BEA Systems Middle East Lt

Oracle Demantra R&D Center Israel L
Oracle Software Systems Israel Limit
Siebel Systems Israel Software Limit
SPL WorldGroup 2000 Ltc

BEA Systems ltalia S.p./

Oracle Italia S.R.L

Agile Software K.K.

BEA Systems Japan Lt

Hyperion K.K.

Miracle Linux Corporatior

Oracle Corporation Jap:

Oracle Information Systems (Japan) K
Siebel Systems (Jersey) Limit

Ireland
Ireland
Ireland
Ireland
Ireland
Ireland
Ireland
Ireland
Ireland
Ireland
Ireland
Ireland
Ireland
Ireland
Ireland
Ireland
Ireland
Ireland
Ireland
Ireland
Ireland
Ireland
Isle of Man
Israel
Israel
Israel
Israel
Israel
Israel
Italy
Italy
Japar
Japar
Japar
Japar
Japar
Japar
Jersey Isle




International Subsidiaries Place of Incorporation

BEA Systems Korea, In Korea

J.D. Edwards (Korea), In Korea
Oracle Korea, Ltd Korea
Portal Software Korea Limited Compa Korea
Siebel Systems Korea, Lt Korea
Oracle CAPAC Finance S.a.t Luxembourg
Oracle Finance S.a.r Luxembourg
PeopleSoft Luxembourg S.a.l Luxembourg
SPL Acquisition S.a.r.| Luxembourg
SPL WorldGroup (Luxembourg) | S.a.1 Luxembourg
SPL WorldGroup (Luxembourg) Il S.a.t Luxembourg
G-Log Sdn. Bhd Malaysia
Oracle Corporation Malaysia Holdings Sdn. B Malaysia
Oracle Corporation Malaysia Sdn. Bl Malaysia
Oracle MSC Sdn. Bhc Malaysia
PeopleSoft Worldwide (M ) Sdn. Bh Malaysia
Siebel Systems Malaysia Sdn. Bl Malaysia
Oracle Global (Mauritius) Ltc Mauritius
BEA Systems S.A. de C.\ Mexico
Oracle de Mexico, S.A. de C. Mexico
BEA Systems Distribution B.\ Netherland
BEA Systems Holland B.\ Netherland
BEA Systems Netherlands B. Netherland:
edocs Europe Netherlands B Netherland:
Eontec B.V. Netherland:
G-Log B.V. Netherland
Oracle Corporation UK Finance B. Netherland
Oracle Distribution B.V Netherland
Oracle East Central Europe Services E Netherland
Oracle Licensing B.V Netherland
Oracle Nederland B.\ Netherland:
Oracle Scheduler B.\ Netherland:
PeopleSoft International B.\ Netherland:
Plumtree Software B.\ Netherland
Plumtree Software Holding Company B. Netherland
SPL WorldGroup B.V Netherland
Stellent Holding B.V Netherland:

Tinoway Nederland B.V Netherland:




International Subsidiaries

Place of Incorporation

Oracle Holding Antilles N.V

Oracle New Zealand Holdings, Lt

Oracle New Zealand, Lt

SPL WorldGroup (NZ) Ltd

Oracle Software (Nigeria) Limite

Oracle Norge A

Siebel Systems Norge A

Star Acquisition ULC

Oracle Systems Pakistan (Private) Limi
Sistemas Oracle del Peru, S

Oracle (Philippines) Corporatic

SPL WorldGroup (Philippines), In

BEA Systems Poland Sp.z.o

Oracle Polska, Sp.z.o.

PeopleSoft Poland Sp.z.o

Oracle Portuge— Sistemas de Informacao Lc¢
Siebel Systems Portugal Solu¢cées de Informacaa,
Oracle Caribbean, In

Oracle EMEA Support Renewals S.a.
Oracle Romania SR

Saudi Oracle Limite:

Oracle Serbia & Montenegro Ltd., Belgre
BEA Systems Singapore Pte. L

Eontec Singapore Pte. Li

G-Log Pte. Ltd.

Hyperion Software Pty. Ltc

Hyperion Solutions Asia Pty. Lt

i-flex solutions Pty. Ltd

J.D. Edwards (Asia Pacific) Pte. Lt
Oracle Corporation (Singapore) Holdings Pte. |
Oracle Corporation Singapore Pte. L
Oracle Singapore Holdings Pte. L
PeopleSoft Asia Pte. Lt

Plumtree Software Singapore Pte. L
Siebel Systems Singapore Pte. |

SPL Pte. Ltd

Stellent Singapore Ptd. Lt

Vantive Singapore Pte. Lt

Netherlands Antille:
New Zealanc
New Zealanc
New Zealanc
Nigeria
Norway
Norway
Nova Scotie
Pakistar
Peru
Philippines
Philippines
Poland
Poland
Poland
Portugal
Portugal
Puerto Ricc
Romania
Romania
Saudi Arabie
Serbia
Singapore
Singapore
Singapore
Singapore
Singapore
Singapore
Singapore
Singapore
Singapore
Singapore
Singapore
Singapore
Singapore
Singapore
Singapore
Singapore




International Subsidiaries

Place of Incorporation

Oracle Slovensko spol. s.r.

Oracle Software d.o.o. Ljubljar
Cordaptix Services (Pty) Limite
Hyperion Solutions SA Pty. Lt

Slovakia
Slovenia
South Africa
South Africa

Oracle Corporation (South Africa)(Pty) Limits South Africa
Oracle Empowerment (South Africa) (Pty) L South Africa
PeopleSoft Africa (Pty.) Limite South Africa
PeopleSoft South Africa (Pty.) Limite South Africa
Siebel Systems South Africa (Proprietary) Limi South Africa
BEA Systems Spain S./ Spain
Oracle Iberica, S.R.1 Spain
Stellent Iberica S.L Spain

BEA Systems AE Sweder
BEA Systems Stockholm Engineering / Sweder
BEA Systems Sweden Telecom / Sweder
Hotsip AB Sweder
INCOMIT Option AB Sweder
Oracle Svenska Al Sweder
Portal Software Sweden A Sweder
Saida AB Sweder
BEA Systems (Switzerland) Lt Switzerland
Oracle AG Switzerland
Oracle Software (Switzerland) LL Switzerland
Plumtree Software Gmb Switzerlanc
PSFT Schweiz Gmbl Switzerlanc
Agile Software Limited (Taiwan Taiwan

J.D. Edwards (Taiwan) Pte. Lt Taiwan
PeopleSoft Taiwan Ltd. Ci Taiwan
BEA Systems (Thailand) Limite Thailand
Oracle Corporation (Thailand) Company Limi Thailand
Oracle Bilgisayar Sistemleri Limited Sirke Turkey
Siebel Systems Yazilim Hizmetleri Limited Sirk Turkey
PeopleSoft Middle East I-LLC United Arab Emirate
Siebel Systems Middle East -LLC United Arab Emirate

Agile Software Limitec United Kingdom




International Subsidiaries

Place of Incorporation

Arbor Software Limitec

BEA Systems Customer Support (United Kingdom) Léad

BEA Systems Europe, Lt

BEA Systems Ltd

Brio Software Ltd.

Decisioneering (UK) Ltd

edocs Europe UK Limite

Eon Financial Solutions Limite
G-Log (UK) Limited

Hyperion Solutions (UK) Limitet
J.D. Edwards (U.K.) Ltc
LODESTAR Solutions Limitet
MetaSolv Software (UK) Limite:
Oblix, Limited

Oracle APSS Trustee Limite

Oracle Corporation Nominees Limit:
Oracle Corporation UK Holdings Limite
Oracle Corporation UK Limite:

Oracle Corporation UK Trustee Company Limi

Oracle EMEA Managemel
Peoplesoft UK Limitec

Plumtree Portal Software Limite
Portal Software (Europe) Limite
ProfitLogic Europe Limitec

Retek Information Systems Limite
Sapling Corporation Europe Limite
Siebel Systems UK Limite
SleepyCat UK Limitec

SPL WorldGroup (UK) Limitec
Stellent Limited

Stellent SealedMedia Lt
TimesTen Performance Limite
WebTrak Limited

Oracle de Venezuela, C..

Oracle Vietham Pty. Ltc

United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
Venezuele
Vietham



Exhibit 23.01

CONSENT OF ERNST & YOUNG LLP,
INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference inRbgistration Statements (Form S-8 Nos. 333-142338,142225, 333-139901, 333-
139875, 333-138694, 333-136275, 333-131988, 3334AB1333-145162, 333-147400, and 333-151045 anah S8 No. 333-142796) of
Oracle Corporation of our reports dated July 1,80@th respect to the consolidated financial steets and schedule of Oracle Corporation,

and the effectiveness of internal control overiiicial reporting of Oracle Corporation, includedhis Annual Report (Form 10-K) for the
year ended May 31, 200

/sl ERNST & YOUNG LLF

San Francisco, California
July 1, 2008



Exhibit 31.01

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBAN ES-OXLEY ACT
I, Lawrence J. Ellison, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of Oracle Corporatior

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not comtaynuntrue statement of a material fact or omgitsde a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntsts.under which such statements were made, nieadisg with respect to the periods
covered by this repor

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements$ adimer financial information included in this repdairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdtfe periods presented in this rep

4. The registrans other certifying officer and | are responsibledetablishing and maintaining disclosure contasld procedures (as defin
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e))imtednal control over financial reporting (as definin Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f)
and 15«~15(f)) for the registrant and we hay

a) designed such disclosure controls and proesdr caused such disclosure controls and proegd be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtibsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly dgrite period in which this report is being prepa

b) designed such internal control over finahaporting, or caused such internal control owearicial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assuramgzgdang the reliability of financial reporting attie preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitlerally accepted accounting princip

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the regissalisclosure controls and procedures and predéntthis report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and proees] as of the end of the period covered by #psnt based on such evaluation;

d) disclosed in this report any change in #gagtrant’s internal control over financial repogithat occurred during the registrantost
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth dilsguarter in the case of the annual report) thatrhaterially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registré's internal control over financial reporting; a

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and | leadisclosed, based on our most recent evaluatiorterhal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theaRoe and Audit Committee of the registrant’s bazrdirectors (or persons performing the
equivalent functions;

a) all significant deficiencies and materialakeesses in the design or operation of internairobaver financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regid’s ability to record, process, summarize and refpahcial information; an

b) any fraud, whether or not material, thabiwes management or other employees who have Hisén role in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reportin

Date: July 2, 2008 By: /s/LAWRENCEJ. ELLISON
Lawrence J. Ellisor
Chief Executive Officer and Directc




Exhibit 31.02

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBAN ES-OXLEY ACT
I, Safra A. Catz, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of Oracle Corporatior

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not comtaynuntrue statement of a material fact or omgitsdte a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nieadisg with respect to the period
covered by this repor

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statement$ adimer financial information included in this repdairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdtfe periods presented in this rep

4. The registrans other certifying officer and | are responsibledstablishing and maintaining disclosure contasld procedures (as defin
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e))imtednal control over financial reporting (as definin Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f)
and 15«15(f)) for the registrant and we hay

a) designed such disclosure controls and proesdr caused such disclosure controls and proegd be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtibsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly dgrite period in which this report is being prepa

b) designed such internal control over finahaporting, or caused such internal control owearicial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assuramzgdeng the reliability of financial reporting attie preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitlerally accepted accounting princip

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the regissalisclosure controls and procedures and predéntthis report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and pros] as of the end of the period covered by #psnt based on such evaluation;

d) disclosed in this report any change in #hgagtrant’s internal control over financial repogithat occurred during the registrantost
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth dilsguarter in the case of the annual report) thatrhaterially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registré's internal control over financial reporting; a

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and | leadisclosed, based on our most recent evaluatiorterhal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theaRoe and Audit Committee of the registrant’s bazrdirectors (or persons performing the
equivalent functions;

a) all significant deficiencies and materialakeesses in the design or operation of internairobaver financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regidf’s ability to record, process, summarize and refpanhcial information; an

b) any fraud, whether or not material, thabiwes management or other employees who have Hiségn role in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reportin

Date: July 2, 2008 By: /s/SaFrA A. CaTz
Safra A. Catz
President, Chief Financial Officer and Direci




Exhibit 32.01

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBAN ES-OXLEY ACT

The certification set forth below is being submitte connection with the report on Form 10-K of @eaCorporation for the purpose of

complying with Rule 13a-14(b) or Rule 15d-14(b}lné Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and Sectio®d % hapter 63 of Title 18 of the
United States Code.

Lawrence J. Ellison, the Chief Executive Officer@racle Corporation, and Safra A. Catz, the Chie&fcial Officer of Oracle Corporation,
each certifies that, to the best of his or her Kedge:

1. the Report fully complies with the requirementsSefction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeoh 1934; anc

2. the information contained in the Report fairly mets, in all material respects, the financial ctadiand results of operations of Oracle
Corporation.

Date: July 2, 2008 By: /s/LAWRENCE J. ELLISON
Lawrence J. Ellisor
Chief Executive Officer and Directc

By: /s/ SAFRA A. CaTz
Safra A. Catz
President, Chief Financial Officer and Direci




